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AWarning About Forward-Looking Statements

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forward-looking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange Act”). For this purpose, any statements contained herein that are
not statements of historical fact, including without limitation certain statements under Part I, Item 1, “Business,” Part I, Item
1A, “Risk Factors,” and Part II, Item 7, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations” and located elsewhere herein regarding industry prospects and our results of operations or financial position, may
be deemed to be forward-looking statements. Without limiting the foregoing, the words “may,” “will,” “should,” “might,”
“expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “plan,” “intend,” “goal,” “project,” “strategy,” “future,”t and similar words are intended to
identify forward-looking statements. Our business is subject to a number of risks, including those discussed under Part I, Item
1A, “Risk Factors,” that could cause actual results to differ materially from those indicated by forward-looking statements made
herein and presented elsewhere by management from time to time. Such forward-looking statements represent management’s
current expectations and are inherently uncertain. Investors are warned that actual results may differ from management’s
expectations.

Summary of Risk Factors

Investing in our common stock involves a high degree of risk because our business is subject to numerous risks and
uncertainties, which include, among others:

Operationaltt and Strategitt c Risksii
• the impact of the COVID-19 global pandemic;
• competition;
• our development of new technologies, products and markets;
• our reliance on sales of our COVID-19 and influenza diagnostic tests;
• our reliance on a limited number of key distributors;
• the financial soundness of our customers and suppliers;
• acceptance of our products among physicians, healthcare providers or other customers;
• the reimbursement system currently in place and future changes to that system;
• our ability to meet demand for our products and services;
• interruptions or shortages in the supply of raw materials and other components;
• costs and disruptions from failures in our information technology (“IT”) and storage systems and our exposure to data

corruption, cyber-based attacks, security breaches and privacy violations;
• interruptions to our third-party IT service providers and/or the inability of our digital solutions to interoperate with

certain operating systems;
• international risks, including, but not limited to, compliance with product registration requirements, complim ance with

legal requirements, tariffs, exposure to currency exchange fluctuations, longer payment cycles, lower selling prices,
greater difficulty in collecting accounts receivable, reduced protection of intellectual property rights, social, political
and economic instabila ity, increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complem xities, potentially adverse
tax consequences, and diversion of lower priced international products into markets in the United States (“US”);

• worldwide political and social uncertainty, including tariffs, trade wars or social tensions;
• natural disasters, public health crises, political crises and other catastrophic events;

Risksii Relatedtt to Our Pendingn Businessii Combinationii
• completion of the Combinations (as defined herein) is uncertain and subject to certain conditions;
• failuff re to complete the Combinations could negatively impact our stock price and future business and financial results;
• the agreement governing the Combinations contains provisions that restrict our ability to pursue alternatives to the

Combinations and could require us to pay a termination fee;
• we will incur significant costs in connection with the Combinations;
• we may have difficulty attracting, motivating and retaining executives and other key employees due to uncertainty

associated with the Combinations;
• our business relationships may be subject to disruption due to uncertainty associated with the Combinations;
• completion of the Combinations may trigger change-in-control or other provisions in certain agreements that we are

party to;
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Inteltt lell ctual Property Risksii
• our development, acquisition and protection of proprietary technology rights;
• intellectual property risks, including, but not limited to, infringement and misappropriation claims;

Government and Regulate orytt Risksii
• loss of our Emergency Use Authorization (“EUA”) from the US Food and Drug Administration (the “FDA”) for our

COVID-19 products;
• failuff res or delays in the receipt of regulatory approvals, clearances or authorizations, the loss of previously received

regulatory approvals, clearances or authorizations or other adverse actions by regulatory authorities;
• funding and compliance risks relating to government contracts, including the ability to meet key deliverables and

milestones under our National Institute of Health (“NIH”) RADx-ATP contract;
• product defects;
• compliance with government regulations relating to the handling, storage and disposal of hazardous substances;
• compliance with US federal, state and foreign privacy and data security laws and privacy requirements from our

customers;
• changes in tax law relating to multinational corporations;

Risksii Relatedtt to Our Acquisitionstt
• our ability to identify and successfully acquire and integrate potential acquisition targets;
• transitioning the BNP Business (as defined herein) to Beckman Coulter, Inc. (“Beckman”) presents certain risks to our

business and operations;

Corporate Financii e Risksii
• our need for additional funds to finance our capita al or operating needs;
• our debt, deferred and contingent payment obligations could materially adversely affect our financial condition and

results of operations;

General Riskii Factorstt
• competition for and loss of management and key personnel;
• our exposure to claims and litigation that could result in significant expenses and could ultimately result in an

unfavorablea outcome for us;
• business risks not covered by insurance;
• changes in tax rates and exposure to additional tax liabilities or assessments;
• certain provisions of our charter documents and Delaware law that may delay or impede stockholder actions with

respect to business combinations or similar transactions; and
• failuff re to meet the expectations of investors and other stakeholders with respect to environmental, social and

governance (“ESG”) matters.

For a more complete discussion of these risk and uncertainties, see “Risk Factors” in Part I, Item 1A of this Annual
Report.

4



Part I

Item 1. Business

All references to “we,” “our,” and “us” in this Annual Report refer to Quidel Corporation and its subsidiaries.

Overview

Our primary mission is to advance diagnostics to improve human health. We have a leadership position in the
development, manufacturing and marketing of rapid diagnostic testing solutions. We currently sell our products directly to end
users and distributors, in each case, for professional use in physician offices, hospitals, clinical laborata ories, reference
laborata ories, urgent care clinics, leading universities, retail clinics, pharmacies and wellness screening centers, as well as for
individual, non-professional, over-the-counter (“OTC”) use. More recently, we have begun to reach significant new markets as
we introduced our QuickVue® At-Home OTC COVID-19 test for reopening schools, and for health departments, employem rs,
entertainment centers and many other locations. We market our products through a network of distributors and a direct sales
force. We operate in one business segment that develops, manufactures and markets our products globally.

When we commenced our operations in 1979, we were originally incorporated as Monoclonal Antibodies, Inc. in the State
of California. In 1987, we re-incorporated as Quidel Corporation in the State of Delaware. We launched our first products,
dipstick-based pregnancy tests, in 1983. Since such time, our product base and technology platforms have expanded through
internal research and development and acquisitions of other products, technologies and companies. Our diagnostic solutions aid
in the detection and diagnosis of many critical diseases and other medical conditions, including infectious diseases,
cardiovascular diseases and conditions, women’s health, gastrointestinal diseases, autoimmune diseases, bone health and
thyroid diseases.

In 2017, we acquired the Triage® MeterPro® cardiovascular and toxicology business (“Triage Business”), and B-type
Natriuretic Peptide (“BNP”) assay business run on Beckman analyzers (“BNP Business” and, together with the Triage
Business, the “Triage and BNP Businesses”) from Alere Inc. (“Alere”), which added an extensive cardiovascular and
toxicology menu to our innovative medical diagnostics portfolio.

On December 22, 2021, we entered into a Business Combination Agreement (the “BCA”) with Ortho, Coronado Topco,
Inc. (“Topco”), Orca Holdco, Inc. (“US Holdco Sub”) and Laguna Merger Sub, Inc. (“US Merger Sub”), each a wholly owned
subsidiary of Topco, and Orca Holdco 2, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of US Holdco Sub (“US Holdco Sub 2”). Under the
terms of the BCA, we are entering into a business combination with Ortho under Topco, a new holding company (the
“Combinations”). Ortho will be acquired for total consideration of approximately $4.3 billion (which is based on the
February 9, 2022 closing price of our common stock of $97.64 per share), including $1.75 billion of cash, funded through cash
on our balance sheet and expected incremental borrowings. The Combinations are subject to approval by both our stockholders
and Ortho’s shareholders, as well as customary closing conditions and regulatory approvals. It is anticipated that the
Combinations will close in the first half of 2022. For additional information about the Combinations, see “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Recent Developments” in Part II, Item 7 of this
Annual Report.

Our executive offices are located at 9975 Summers Ridge Road, San Diego, California 92121, and our telephone number
is (858) 552-1100.

Product Categories

We provide diagnostic testing solutions under various brand names, including, among others, the following: Quidel®,
QuickVue, QuickVue+®, QVue™, Sofia®, Triage, Solana®, Virena®, MicroVue™, Lyra®, FreshCells™, D3®, FastPoint®,
ReadyCells®, InflammaDry®, AdenoPlus™, ELVIRARR ®, ELVIS®, Thyretain® and Savanna®.
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Our diagnostic testing solutions are separated into our four product categories: rapida immunoassay, cardiometabolic
immunoassay, molecular diagnostic solutions and specialized diagnostic solutions. The products and platforms under each
product category are described below.

Rapid Immunoassay

Sofia and Sofia 2 Analyzerll s.rr Sofia is the brand name for our fluorescent immunoassay (“FIA”) systems. The easy-to-use
Sofia and Sofia 2 analyzers combine unique software and Sofia FIA tests to yield an automatic, objective result that is readily
available on the instrument’s screen, in a hard-copy printout, and in a transmissible electronic form that can network via a laba
information system to hospital and medical center databasesa . We launched the Sofia analyzer in 2011 and Sofia 2 in 2017.
These systems provide for different operational modes to accommodate both small and large laboraa tories, as well as other
features designed to facilitate use in a variety of healthcare settings, including hospitals, medical centers, and small clinics.
Sofia 2 systems include additional benefits and featurest at a cost point that allows us to better address the lower-volume
segment of the diagnostic testing market. Sofia 2 analyzers also incorporate enhanced optics, which provide added performance
benefits and enablea positive test results to be read in as few as three minutes. In 2021, we also received an EUA to market our
Sofia Q platform that offers similar features and benefits to the Sofia analyzers in a smaller and less expensive format.

QuickVue. QuickVue is the brand name for our rapid,a visually-read, lateral flow immunoassay products. We have been a
leader in the development and production of high-quality lateral flow diagnostics since the early 1990s and offer a broad
portfolio of products to diagnose a wide variety of infectious diseases and medical conditions. The QuickVue At-Home OTC
COVID-19 test has also recently become a leading at-home COVID-19 product for home use and is available through many
retail and online outlets.

InflammaDry and AdenoPlus. The InflammaDry and AdenoPlus products are rapid, lateral-flow based, point-of-care
(“POC”) products for the detection of infectious and inflammatory diseases and conditions of the eye. InflammaDry is a test
that detects elevated levels of MMP-9, a key inflammatory marker for dry eye. AdenoPlus is a test that differentiates between a
viral and bacterial infection of acute conjunctivitis (pink eye).

Cardiodd metabolicll Immunoassay

Triage MeterPro. Triage MeterPro is our portablea testing platform that runs a comprehem nsive menu of tests that enable
physicians to promote improved health outcomes through the rapida diagnosis of critical diseases and health conditions, as well
as the detection of certain drugs of abuse. This system aids in the diagnosis, assessment and risk stratification of patients having
critical care issues, including congestive heart failure, acute coronary syndromes (“ACS”), and acute myocardial infarction
(“AMI”), and can reduce hospital admissions and improvem clinical and economic outcomes. Triage cardiovascular rapid tests
include immunoassays for BNP, creatine kinase-MB (“CK-MB”), d-dimer, myoglobin, troponin I and N-terminal pro-Brain
Natriuretic Peptide (“NT-proBNP”). Triage tests for troponin I, high sensitivity troponin I, PlGF and NT-proBNP, as well as
certain test panels which include a combination of immunoassays, are not available for sale in the US.

We have also offered a version of the Triage BNP test for use on Beckman laba analyzers historically, but have nearly
completed the transition of this business to Beckman following entry into agreements with Beckman to resolve litigation
between us and Beckman and provide for the transition of the BNP Business to Beckman. We will continue to supply Beckman
products related to this business and will receive payments of between $70.0 and $75.0 million per year through 2029 under
these arrangements.

In addition to the cardiovascular menu, we offer urine-specific screening tests for the detection of drug and/or the urinary
metabolia tes for multiple drug classes, including our new Triage TOX Drug Screen and a PlGF test for diagnosis of preterm pre-
eclampsia in pregnant women.
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Molecularll Diagnostictt Solutions

Lyra. Our open system molecular assays run on several thermocyclers currently on the market. Lyra Molecular Real-Time
Polymerase Chain Reaction (“PCR”) assays provide important benefits to the customer, including, among others, room
temperaturet storage, reduced process time, and ready-to-use reagent configurations.

lSolana. hThe lSolana ysystem was ddevellopedd usingusing our pr ioprieta yry i hisothermall liHelicase Dep dendent Am lipli ificatiion ((“HDA”))
te h lchnol gyogy. lSolana iis an ea ysy to run am lplifiifica ition dand ddetectiion ysystem hthat hhas hthe biabilili yty to concurrentlyly run up to 12 assayys
at a itime.

Savanna. In llate 2021, we lla hunchedd iin Europe our CE-M karkedd Savanna mullti liplex molle lcular an lalyyzer ysystem dand Savanna
RVP4 assayy. hThe Savanna ysystem iis a llow-cost, f lfullyly iinteggrat ded, samplle-to-re lsult automatedd iin ivitro molle lcular didiagnostiagnostic
plaplatform hthat en blables analysilysis of up to 12 pathogethogens or ta grgets, lplus cont lrols, from a singlsingle assayy run iin lless hthan 25 iminutes.
hThe Savanna RVP4 ass yay iis a irapidd, lmul iti lple dxed nuclleiic acidid test iint dendedd for use iwithh hthe Savanna iinstrument for hthe
isim lultaneous liqualita itive ddetectiion andd diffdifferentiia ition of i flinfluenza A, ii flnfluenza B, res ipira ytory ysyn ycytiiall ivirus ((“RSV”)), dand
SARS-CoV-2 RNA iisoll dated from hhuman nasall or na hsopha y gryngeall sw babs. We lplan to llaunchh hthe Savanna ysystem iin hthe US iin
2022.

Specialii zeii d Diagnostic Solutionstt

Virology.We provide a wide variety of traditional cell lines, specimen collection devices, media and controls for use in
laborata ories that culture and test for many human viruses, including, among others, respiratory and herpes family viruses. We
provide cell-based products under the FreshCells brand in multiple formats, including tubes, shell vials and multi-well plates.
Our virology product category includes the FDA-cleared bioassay, Thyretain, which is used for the differential diagnosis of an
autoimmune disease called Graves’ Disease.

Specialty Products.tt We provide a variety of biomarkers for bone health and produce both clinical and research products
for the assessment of osteoporosis and the evaluation of bone resorption/formation, which, including our metabolia c bone
markers, are used to monitor the effectiveness of therapya in pharmaceutical and related research. In the area of autoimmune
disease, we have developed enzyme linked immunosorbent assays (“ELISA”) and reagents for the detection of activation
products from the three main complement pathways. Assays are developed on a microwell platform and are currently marketed
to clinicians and researchers under the Quidel and MicroVue brands.

Medical and Wellness Categories

Our products address the following medical and wellness categories, among others:

Infectioustt Diseaseii s

COVID-19.II We offer a variety of products designed to detect the novel coronavirus (COVID-19) on various platforms.

Sofia and Sofia 2 Analyzerll s.rr The Sofia SARS Antigen FIA uses advanced immunofluorescence-based lateral
flow technology in a sandwich design for qualitative detection of nucleocapsid protein from SARS-CoV-2. The Sofia
2 Flu + SARS Antigen FIA is a rapid POC test to be used with the Sofia 2 FIA analyzer for the rapid, simultaneous
qualitative detection and differentiation of the nucleocapsida protein antigens from SARS-CoV-2, influenza A and
influenza B in direct nasopharyngeal and nasal swaba specimens.

QuickVue. Our QuickVue SARS Antigen test is a POC assay for the rapid, qualitative detection of the
nucleocapsid protein antigen from SARS-CoV-2 in anterior nares swaba specimens.

Lyra. Our Lyra SARS-CoV-2 assay and Lyra Direct SARS-CoV-2 assay are real-time Reverse Transcriptase-
PCR tests intended for the qualitative detection of nucleic acid from SARS-CoV-2 for various sample types, with and
without extraction.

Solana. Our Solana SARS-CoV-2 assay, an isothermal Reverse Transcriptase-HDA assay is intended for the
qualitative detection of nucleic acid from SARS-CoV-2 in nasopharyngeal and nasal swab specimens. The Solana
system can generate results for 12 tests at a time in less than 25 minutes.
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Savanna. Our Savanna RVP4 ass yay iis a irapidd, lmul iti lple dxed nuclleiic acidid test iinte d dnded for use i hwith hthe Savanna
iinstrument for hthe isimulltaneous liqualita itive ddetectiion andd diffdifferentiia ition of influenza A, influenza B, RSV, and SARS-
CoV-2 RNA isolated from human nasal or nasopharyngeal swabs.

Influenza. We offer a variety of products designed to detect the viral antigens of influenza type A and B utilizing FIA,
lateral flow and molecular technologies. Our Sofia influenza A+B test, used in conjunction with our Sofia and Sofia 2
analyzers, and our QuickVue influenza tests are rapid, qualitative tests for the detection of viral antigens of influenza type A
and B, the two most common types of the influenza virus. In addition, we offer molecular testing options with Solana influenza
A+B assay and our Lyra influenza A+B real-time PCR assay.

Streptococci. We offer a number of products designed to detect Streptococcal infections utilizing FIA, lateral flow and
molecular technologies. Our Sofia Strep A and Strep A+ FIAs, used in conjunction with our Sofiaff and Sofiaff 2 analyzers, and
our QuickVue Strep A tests are intended for the rapid, qualitative detection of Group A Streptococcal antigen from throat swabsa
or confirmation of presumptive Group A Streptococcal colonies recovered from culture.t In addition, we offer molecular options
with our Solana Group A Strep and Solana Strep Complete assays, which allow for the rapid,a qualitative detection of Group A
Streptococcal and for Strep Complete, also the detection of pyogenic Group C or G Streptococcal, utilizing our molecular HDA
technology. Our Lyra Direct Strep assay is a multiplex real-time PCR assay that detects and differentiates between Group A and
pyogenic Group C or G Streptococcal throat infections.

RSV (and hMPV).VV Our SofiaRSV test and QuickVue RSV test are rapida immunoassay tests for RSV. In addition, we
offer molecular testing options with our Solana RSV + human metapneuma ovirus (“hMPV”) test and our combo Quidel Lyra
RSV + hMPV test. The majoa rity of upper respiratory tract infections in children are caused by viruses, and RSV is generally
recognized as a frequent agent responsible for these infections and shares overlappinga symptoms with hMPV.

Herpes and Herpes Family. We offer several products designed to detect various herpes simplex virus (“HSV”) and
herpes family viruses utilizing molecular and cell culture technologies. We offer our Solana HSV-1+2/VZV assay, used in
conjunction with our Solana instrument, for the detection of HSV type 1, HSV type 2, and varicella-zoster virus (“VZV”). We
also offer our Lyra Direct HSV 1+2/VZV assay. In addition, our proprietary engineered cell culturet system, ELVIS HSV, is an
FDA-cleared and highly sensitive system for the isolation and detection of HSV types 1 and 2. We also provide a multiplex cell
culture solution using a propriety cell platform called H&V-MixTM that is used to isolate HSV, VZV and Cytomegalovirus, all
in the herpes family of viruses. Antibody detection and identification of each of these viruses can be performed with FDA-
cleared antibody products provided under the D3 direct fluorescent assays (“DFA”) brand. HSV is a widespread sexually
transmitted infection. VZV is a DNA virus of the family Herpesviridae; infection results in chickenpox (varicella) and may lead
to complications such as pneumonia and may reactivate later in life to produce shingles.

Multiplex Respiratory. Our cell culturet and DFA detection solutions, including D3 FastPoint technology, are used by
reference laboratoria es, public health laboraa tories and acute care hospitals to detect eight majora viral respiratoryrr pathogens. Our
proprietary cell culturet platform R-Mix™, combined with our D3 Ultra DFA antibody kit, detects influenza A and B, RSV,
adenovirus and parainfluenza types 1, 2 and 3, with turn-around times between 16 and 48 hours. The same D3 Ultra DFA
antibody kit can also be used for direct specimen testing for those viruses with turn-around times in under 90 minutes. Our D3
FastPoint antibody kit detects eight viruses, with hMPV added to the testing menu, and provides laboratora ies, in a direct
specimen testing format, the ability to produce virus identification in under 25 minutes from specimen receipt.

Lyme. Our Sofia Lyme FIA, used in conjunction with our Sofia analyzers, is used to aid in the rapid differential detection
of human IgM and IgG antibodies to Borrelia burgdorferi from serum and plasma specimens from patients suspected of B.
burgdorferi infection and is intended for use to aid in the diagnosis of Lyme disease, a tickborne disease. In 2018, we received
FDA clearance through a premarket notification or premarket approval (“510(k)”) process and a waiver under the Clinical
Laborata ory Improvement Amendments of 1988 (“CLIA”) from the FDA to market Sofia 2 Lyme FIA, which is used with the
Sofia 2 FIA analyzer for the rapid differential detection of human IgM and IgG antibodies to Borrelia burgdorferi from finger-
stick whole blood specimens from patients suspected of B. burgdorferi infection. In addition, our Sofia 2 Lyme+ assay is CE
Marked for use in the rapida differential detection of human IgM and IgG antibodies to Borrelia burgdorferi, Borrelia
garinii, and Borrelia afzeff lii from serum and plasma specimens. These Sofia 2 Lyme tests are intended for use with the Sofia 2
analyzer to aid in the diagnosis of Lyme disease in the US and European markets.

S. pneumoniae. Our Sofia S. Pneumoniae FIA, used in conjunction with our Sofia analyzer, is CE Marked for sale in the
European market. The assay is used to aid in the detection of both pneumococcal pneumonia and pneumococcal meningitis.
Streptococcus pneumoniae is a leading cause of community-acquired pneumonia and bacterial meningitis.
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Legionee lla. Our Sofia Legionella FIA, used in conjunction with our Sofia analyzer, is CE Marked for sale in the
European market. The assay is used to aid in the detection of Legionella pneumophila serogroup 1 antigen, which is the majora
causative agent of Legionnaires’ disease.

Bordetella Pertussis. Pertussis, or whooping cough, is a very contagious disease caused by the Bordetella pertussit s
bacteria. Our Solana Bordetella Complete assay is used for the qualitative detection and differentiation of Bordetella
pertussit s and Bordetella paraperta ussit s nucleic acids isolated from nasopharyngeal swaba specimens obtained from patients
suspected of having a respiratory tract infection attributablea to Bordetella pertussit s and Bordetella paraperta ussit s.

Adenovirus and Parainfluenza. Our Lyra Adenovirus assay is a real-time PCR test for the qualitative detection of human
adenovirus (“HAdV”) viral DNA, and our Lyra Parainfluenza assay is a real-time PCR test for the qualitative detection and
identification of parainfluenza virus infections for types 1, 2 or 3 viral RNA.

Cardiodd logyo

The cardiology diagnostic market includes the markets for heart failure diagnostics, coronary artery disease risk
assessment, coagulation testing and acute coronary syndrome. Our 2017 acquisition of the Triage and BNP Businesses has
positioned us as a leader in this market for POC settings. The Triage system consists of a portable fluorometer that interprets
consumablea test devices for cardiovascular conditions. The Triage cardiovascular tests include the following:

Triage BNPNN Test. An immunoassay to be used with the Triage MeterPro that measures BNP in whole blood or plasma that
aids in the diagnosis and assessment of severity of heart failure. The test is also used for the risk stratification of patients with
ACS and heart failure.

Triage Cardiac Panel. An immunoassay for the quantitative determination of CK-MB, myoglobin and troponin I in whole
blood or plasma, as an aid in the diagnosis of AMI.

Triage Profiler S.O.B. An immunoassay that aids in the diagnosis of myocardial infarction (“MI”), the diagnosis and
assessment of severity of congestive heart failure, the assessment and evaluation of patients suspected of having disseminated
intravascular coagulation and thromboembolic events, including pulmonary embolism and deep vein thrombosis, and the risk
stratification of patients with ACS.

Triage D-Dimer Test. An immunoassay that aids in the assessment and evaluation of patients suspected of having
disseminated intravascular coagulation or thromboembolic events, including pulmonary embolism and deep vein thrombosis.

Triage NT-proBTT NPBB Test. An immunoassay for the quantitative determination of NT-proBNP in
Ethylenediaminetetraacetic Acid (“EDTA”) anticoagulated whole blood and plasma specimens. The test aids in the diagnosis of
individuals suspected of having congestive heart failure. The test also aids in the risk stratification of patients with heart failure
and ACS.

Triage Troponin. Troponin I, T and C are protein subunits that make up the troponin complex, which is integral to the
regulation of myofibril contraction in skeletal and cardiac muscle cells. Cardiac troponin I assays are commonly used to aid in
the diagnosis of MI, which is injury to cardiac muscle cells caused by ischemia.

TriageTrue Highi Sensitivitytt Troponin. The TriageTrue High Sensitivity Troponin I test is our latest generation of the
troponin assay used for the quantitative determination of troponin I in whole blood and plasma specimens, anticoagulated with
EDTA. It features a redesigned cartridge that greatly improves assay sensitivity and precision that are critical to the
performance of high sensitivity troponin testing. The test aids in the diagnosis of MI.

Triage PLGF Test. An immunoassay that aids in the early and accurate diagnosis of preterm pre-eclampsia in pregnant
women.

Triage BNPNN Test for Beckmankk Analyzers.yy We have also offered a version of our Triage BNP test for use on Beckman laba
analyzers historically, but have nearly completed the transition of this business to Beckman.
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Thyroh id

Graves’ Diseii ase. Our FDA-cleared bioassay called Thyretain is used for the differential diagnosis of an autoimmune
disease called Graves’ Disease. Graves’ Disease is caused by antibodies that stimulate the thyroid hormone receptors to create a
hyperthyroid condition causing symptoms that include heart palpitations, unexplained weight loss, anxiety, depression and
fatigue. Graves’ Disease is considered the most common autoimmune disorder in the US according to an article published in the
New England Journal of Medicine and it predominantly affects women. Thyretain is sold to reference laborata ories and select
acute care hospitals.

Autoimmune Thyroiditis. In 2017, we received the CE Mark for our Thyretain TBI Reporter Bioassay for the qualitative
detection of blocking autoantibodies to the thyroid-stimulating hormone receptors in serum. The assay enablea s highly complex
laborata ories to diagnose autoimmune thyroiditis in just a few days, compared to traditional detection methods that could take
months or even years.

Women’s and General Healthtt

Pregnancy.c Our Sofia hCG FIA and our QuickVue pregnancy tests are used for the qualitative detection of hCG in serum
or urine for the early detection of pregnancy. The early detection of pregnancy enablea s the physician and patient to institutet
proper care, helping to promote the health of both the mother and the developing embryo.

Chlamydim a. Our QuickVue Chlamydia test is a lateral flow immunoassay for the rapid, qualitative detection of chlamydia
trachomatis from endocervical swaba and cytology brush specimens. The test is intended to aid in the presumptive diagnosis of
chlamydia. Chlamydia trachomatis is responsible for the most widespread sexually transmitted disease in the US. Over one-half
of infected women do not have symptoms and, if left untreated, chlamydia trachomatis can cause sterility.

Group B Streptococcus (“GBS”). Our Solana GBS assay is used in conjunction with our Solana instrument, for the
direct, qualitative detection of GBS from enriched broth culturest of specimens from antepartum women. GBS is commonly
carried by pregnant women and can be transmitted to newborns at delivery, resulting in potential life-threatening illness.

Trichomonas. Our Solana Trichomonas assay is used in conjunction with our Solana instrument, to aid in the diagnosis of
trichomoniasis, a sexually transmitted disease attributable to infection from the trichomonas vaginalis parasite. Trichomoniasis
affects millions of people in the US and is more common in women.

Bone Health.tt Osteoporosis is a systemic skeletal disease characterized by low bone mass and deterioration of the
microarchitecturet of bone tissue, with a consequent increase in bone fragility and susceptibility to fractures.t A key set of
parameters in the monitoring of osteoporosis, both before and afteff r therapy, are biochemical markers of bone metabolia sm. As a
leader in the research space with our biomarkers for bone health, we produce both clinical and research products for the
assessment of osteoporosis and the evaluation of bone resorption/formation, which are used by physicians to monitor the
effectiveness of therapy in pharmaceutical and related research.

Eye Health

Our InflammaDry and AdenoPlus products are rapid, lateral-flow based, POC products for the detection of infectious and
inflammatoryrr diseases and conditions of the eye. InflammaDry is a test that detects elevated levels of MMP-9, a key
inflammatoryrr marker for dry eye. AdenoPlus is a test that differentiates between a viral and bacterial infection of acute
conjunctivitis (pink eye).

Gastrointtt esttt inaltt Diseii ases

Clostridium difficff ile. Our Solana C. difficff ile assay is used in conjunction with our Solana instrument, for the direct,
qualitative detection of the clostridium difficile DNA in unformed stool specimens of patients suspected of having clostridium
difficile infection. In addition, our Lyra Direct C. difficile assay, a qualitative, multiplexed real-time PCR test for the detection
of clostridium difficile toxin A or toxin B genes, is approved for use on a variety of real-time PCR instruments. Clostridium
difficile can be a life-threatening bacterial infection, especially for the elderly and patients on a prolonged antibiotic regimen.
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Enterovirus. Enteroviruses reproduce initially in the gastrointestinal tract before spreading to other organs such as the
nervous system, heart and skin. Enteroviruses can also infect the respiratory tract. Enteroviruses such as coxsackievirus A16 are
referred to as Hand, Foot and Mouth Disease and commonly affect infants and children. Our indirect fluorescent antibody
(“IFA”) products sold under the name Super E-Mix and D3 IFA Enterovirus kit are used by reference laboraa tories and acute
care hospitals.

Immunoassay fecal occult blood. Our QuickVue fecal immunochemical test is a rapid test intended to detect the presence
of blood in stool specimens. Blood in the stool is an indication of a number of gastrointestinal disorders, including colorectal
cancer.

Helicobacter pylori (“H. pylori”).” H. pylori is the bacterium associated with patients diagnosed with peptic ulcers.
H. pylori is implicated in chronic gastritis and is recognized by the World Health Organization as a Class 1 carcinogen that may
increase a person’s risk of developing stomach cancer. Our QuickVue H. pylori test is a serological test that measures
antibodies circulating in the blood caused by the immune response to the H. pylori bacterium.

Toxicologyll

The toxicology testing market includes testing for substancu e use, misuse and abuse, including testing in connection with
pain management and opioid cessation therapy. The ability to rapidla y identify the impact of drug use on a patient’s clinical
presentation, as well as securely monitor a patient’s therapya compliance is critical to the substance abuse testing market. Our
Triage TOX Drug Screen provides qualitative results for determining the presence of drug and/or majoa r metabolia tes in urine,
including assays for acetaminophen/para/ cetamol, amphetamines, methamphetamines, barbituratt es, benzodiazepines, cocaine,
methadone, opiates, phencyclidine, THC and tricyclic antidepressants. In addition, in 2019, we launched our new Triage TOX
Drug Screen, which uses distinct immunoassays for the simultaneous detection of drug and/or urinary metabola ites for multiple
drug classes.

Digital and Telehealth Solutions

In 2022, Quidel introduced QVue Business, a mobile application that supports employee at-home testing using QuickVue
At-Home OTC COVID-19 tests and a reporting system for employers to help track COVID-19 test results and trends within the
workplace. The QVue Business application enablea s employees, contractors and other visitors to provide COVID-19 test results
in near real time to employers. The application offers an at-home testing alternative to reduce the cost and effortff of on-site
testing and provides detailed videos to guide the user through the testing and reporting process. QVue Business is a flexible
application that can be configured to an employer’s desired testing frequency to track employees’ symptoms or exposure risk
and provide employees with a digital health passport for safe access into the workplace. Quidel plans to further expand its
digital and telehealth solutions from the at-home testing, identity verification and reporting functions to the telehealth setting
where patients can use Quidel’s digital testing and reporting functions to further interact with healthcare professionals for
diagnosis, treatment and care.

Connectivity and Data Management

Virena is a wireless cellular data management and surveillance system that operates as a cloud-based solution connecting
Sofia and Solana instruments across a healthcare system and automatically transmitting de-identified test results to a secure
database. With Virena, a health system, physician office laboraa tory (“POL”), urgent care center or retail clinic has the ability to
compile, analyze, mapa and generate reports of de-identified test results, improving operational efficff iencies, quality and patient
outcome initiatives.

Business Strategy

Our strategy is to target market segments that represent significant total market opportunitt ies, and in which we can be
successful by applying our expertise and know-how to develop differentiated technologies and products. Our diagnostic testing
solutions are designed to provide specialized results that serve a broad range of customers by addressing the market
requirements of ease of use, reduced cost, increased test accuracy and reduced time to result. In order to achieve our mission of
advancing diagnostics to improvem human health, our strategy is to do the following:

• focusff on innovative products and markets and leverage our core competency in new medical and wellness product
development for our QuickVue, Sofia and Triage immunoassay brands and next-generation products;

• leverage our manufacturing expertise to address increasing demand for our products, including through expanded
manufacturing capaca ity;

11



• utilize our molecular assay development competencies to further develop our molecular diagnostics franchise that
includes distinct testing platforms, such as Lyra, Solana and Savanna; and

• strengthen our position with distribution partners and end-user customers to gain more emphasis on our products
and enter new markets.

Our current initiatives to execute this strategy include the following:
• provide products that can compete effectively in the healthcare market where cost and quality are important;
• focusff our research and development efforts on three areas:

◦ new proprietary product platform development;
◦ creation of new and improved products for use on our establia shed platforms to address unmet clinical

needs, and
◦ pursuit of collaborations with, or acquisitions of, other companies for new and existing products and

markets that advance our differentiated strategy;
• leverage our international infrastructuret and enhance our global footprintt to support our international operations

and futuret growth;
• strengthen our market and brand leadership in current markets by acquiring and/or developing and introducing

clinically superior diagnostic solutions;
• strengthen our direct sales force to enhance relationships with integrated delivery networks, laboraa tories and

hospitals, with a goal of driving growth through improved physician and laborata orian satisfaction;
• leverage our digital and telehealth solutions, including our mobile applications, to expand into healthcare markets;
• leverage our wireless connectivity and data management systems and capabia lities, including cloud-based

computing tools;
• support payer evaluation of diagnostic tests and establishment of favorable reimbursement rates;
• provide clinicians with validated studies that encompass the clinical efficacy and economic efficff iency of our

diagnostic tests for the professional market;
• pursue alternative markets for POC diagnostics;
• create strong global alliances to support our efforts to achieve leadership in key markets and expand our presence

in emerging markets;
• furtheff r refine our manufacturingt efficff iencies and productivity improvements to increase profit; and
• pursue potential acquisitions to supportu our strategic initiatives.

Research and Development

We continue to focus our research and development effortsff on three areas:
• new proprietary product platform development,
• creation of new and improved products for use on our establia shed platforms to address unmet clinical needs, and
• pursuit of collaborations with, or acquisitions of, other companies for new and existing products and markets that

advance our differentiated strategy.

Research and development expenses were approximately $95.7 million, $84.3 million, and $52.6 million for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. We anticipate that we will continue to devote a significant amount of
financial resources to product and technology research and development in the foreseeable future.t

Marketing and Distribution

Our current business strategy is designed to serve the continuum of healthcare delivery needs globally, starting with POC
clinicians located in doctor’s office practices, to moderately complex POLs, and to highly complex hospital and clinical
reference laborata ories in North America and a variety of settings internationally. We are also increasingly prioritizing retail and
online outlets, such as large pharmacies, to market and distribute our QuickVue At-Home OTC COVID-19 tests. Within the
inherent operational diversity of these various segments, we focus on differentiating ourselves and enhancing our market
leadership by specializing in the diagnosis and monitoring of select disease states, conditions and wellness categories.
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Our marketing strategy includes ensuring that our key product portfolios are supported by clinical validation and health
economic and outcomes research that demonstrate that our tests deliver fast, high quality results, are cost-effective to use, and
improve patient outcomes.

Our North America distribution strategy takes into account the highly fragmented POC market, with many small or
medium-sized customers. To reach customers using POC diagnostic tests, a network of national and regional distributors is
employed, as well as our own sales force. We have expanded the size of our North America sales force in the past few years. As
of December 31, 2021, we employed approximatelyy 125 sales representatives in North America. This sales force works closely
with our key distributors to drive market penetration of our products in the POC market.

The sales, distribution and service of our cell culturet tests are controlled primarily by us. We reach laboraa tory end-users in
hospitals and clinical reference laboraa tories using these diagnostic tests through our own direct sales force and technical support
services that have specialized training and understanding of this product portfolio.

We sell products globally and market and distribute products worldwide in a variety of ways, including a mix of direct
and indirect distribution strategies. In Europe, we currently employ approximately 95 employees to supportu sales and marketing
activities in key countries, such as Germany and Italy. In addition, we have created a shared service center in Galway, Ireland to
support general and administrative, technical support and customer service functions in Europe. In Asia, we currently employ
approximately 60 employees in China and approximately 25 employees in India, primarily to support sales and marketing
efforts for the Triage and BNP Businesses and to grow our core immunoassay and cell culturet businesses. In addition, we have
created a shared service center in Shanghai, China to support general and administrative, technical support and customer service
functions in China.

We derive a significant portion of our total revenue from a few distributors. Four of our distributors, which are considered
to be among the market leaders, collectively accounted for approximately 49%, 68% and 51% of our total revenue for the years
ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. See Note 9 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this
Annual Report.

Manufacturing

We have five manufacturing sites. Two are in San Diego, California, one in Carlsbad, California, one in Athens, Ohio and
one in Europe.

Our McKellar Court, San Diego, California, and our Carlsbad, California lateral flow manufacturingt facilities consist of
laborata ories devoted to tissue culture, cell culture, protein purification and immunochemistry. Production areas are dedicated to
manufacturing and assembly. In the manufacturing process, biological and chemical supplies and equipment are used. We have
invested in a high degree of automated equipment for the assembly and inspection processes. These facilities operate under a
Quality Management System (“QMS”) per International Organization for Standardization (“ISO”) standard and regulatory
regulations. These facilities are certified to ISO 13485:2016 and Medical Device Single Audit Program (“MDSAP”) medical
device standards. Many of the immunoassay products manufacturedt at these facilities are packaged and shipped by a local third
party.

Our Athens, Ohio facility consists of a variety of clean room and chemistry laboraa tories, customized reagent filling and
packaging areas to supportu manufacturingt of all products under good manufacturing practice (“GMP”) conditions. These areas
support the manufacturing of our molecular nucleic acid amplification products, our living tissue cell culture and antibody-
based products, as well as our enzyme linked immunosorbent assays. We use a wide variety of biological and chemical supplies
in our manufacturingt processes. We also utilize specialized equipment for the lyophilization of reagents, cell culturet growth,
protein purification and a variety of automation for dispensing of antibodies, reagents and solutions. This facility is certified to
ISO 13485:2016 and MDSAP medical device standards. Packaging, warehousing and shipping logistics with cold chain storage
capabia lity are handled at this facility.

Our Summers Ridge, San Diego, California facility consists of laboratories that are involved in mammalian cell culture,t
bacterial fermentation, protein purification and modification, as well as other techniques involved in immunoassay reagent
manufacturing. These reagents are used in the manufacture of devices made at this facility and are also supplied to a third party
as key active ingredients for BNP products that run on Beckman analyzers. In addition, this facility has production areas
dedicated to creating and processing plastic components that are subsequently transformed into finished devices (cardiac and
drugs of abuse products) using customized manufacturingt equipment, including specialized automation. This facility is certified
to the ISO 13485:2016 and MDSAP medical device standards. Most of the products are packaged and subsequently distributed
by our San Diego distribution center.
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Our facility in Europe conducts packaging, warehousing and shipping logistics with cold chain storage capabia lity for
Europe and the Middle East.

We seek to conduct our manufacturingt in compliance with QMS regulatory requirements of the US, Australia, Brazil,
Canada, Japan,a Europe, South Korea and certain other countries. Our manufacturingt facilities have passed routine regulatory
inspections confirming compliance with the QMS regulatory requirements. Our facilities are registered with various regulatory
bodies, including the FDA and the Department of Public Health of the State of California for our San Diego and Carlsbad
facilities.

Competition

Competition in the development and marketing of in vitro diagnostic (“IVD”) products is intense, and innovation, product
development, regulatory clearance to market and commercial introduction of new IVD technologies can occur rapidly. We
believe that some of the most significant competitive factors in the rapid diagnostic market include convenience, speed to result,
specimen flexibility, product menu, clinical needs, price, reimbursement levels and product performance, as well as effective
distribution, advertising, promotion and brand recognition. The competitive factors in the central laborata ory market are also
significant and include price, product performance, reimbursement, compatibility with routine specimen procurement methods,
and manufacturingt products in testing formats that meet the workflow demands of larger volume laborata ories. We believe our
success will depend on our ability to remain abreast of technological advances, to develop, gain regulatory clearance and
introduce technologically advanced products, to effecff tively market to customers a differentiated value proposition represented
by our commercialized products, to maintain our brand strength and to attract and retain experienced personnel. The majoa rity of
diagnostic tests requested by physicians and other healthcare providers are performed by independent clinical reference
laborata ories. We expect that these laborata ories will continue to compete vigorously to maintain their dominance of the testing
market. In order to achieve market acceptance for our products, we will be required to continue to demonstrate that our products
provide physicians and central laborata ories cost-effective and time-saving alternatives to other competitive products and
technologies.

Many of our current and prospective commercial competitors, including several large pharmaceutical and diversified
healthcare companies, have substantu ially greater financial, marketing and other resources than we have. These competitors
include, among others, Abbott Laboraa tories, Beckman Coulter Primary Care Diagnostics, Thermo Fisher Scientific, Becton
Dickinson and Company, Meridian Bioscience, Inc., and Danaher Corporation. We also face competition from our distributors
since some have created, and others may decide to create, their own products to competm e with ours. Competition may also exist
with large, medium and small development companies whose portfolio and technologies are dedicated to the development of
diagnostic solutions in areas in which we currently have relevant market share.

Seasonality

Sales of our respiratory products are subjeu ct to, and significantly affected by, the seasonal demands of the cold and flu
seasons, prevalent during the fall and winter. As a result of these seasonal demands, we typically experience lower sales volume
in the second and third quarters of the calendar year, and typically have higher sales in the first and fourth quarters of the
calendar year. The COVID-19 pandemic and impact of sales of our COVID-19 products combined with a very mild flu season
diminished the seasonal effects in 2020 and 2021. Historically, sales of our influeff nza products have varied from year to year
based, in large part, on the severity, length and timing of the onset of the cold and flu season. For the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020 and 2019, sales of our influenza products accounted for 4%, 8% and 26%, respectively, of total revenue. In
addition, it is possible that the SARS-CoV-2 virus may have similar seasonal demands and impacts on our revenues in the
future.

Government Regulations

US Regulatll ionstt of Medical Devices

The testing, manufacture and commercialization of our products in the US are subject to regulation by numerous
governmental authorities, principally the FDA and corresponding state regulatory agencies. Pursuant to the US Federal Food,
Drug, and Cosmetic Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder, the FDA regulates the preclinical and clinical testing,
manufacture, labelia ng, distribution and promotion of medical devices. Noncompliance with applicablea requirements can result
in, among other matters, fines, injuncn tions, civil penalties, recall or seizure of products, total or partial suspension of
production, failure of the FDA to grant premarket clearance or premarket approval for devices, withdrawal of marketing
clearances or approvals and criminal prosecution. The FDA also has the authority to request a recall, repair, replacement or
refund of the cost of any device manufactured or distributed in the US if the device is deemed to be unsafe.
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In the US, devices are classified into one of three classes (Class I, II or III) on the basis of the controls deemed necessary
by the FDA to reasonablya ensure their safety and effecff tiveness. Class I and II devices are subjb ect to general controls, including,
but not limited to, performance standards, 510(k) clearance process and post-market surveillance. Class III devices generally
pose the highest risk to the patient and are typically subject to premarket approval to ensure their safety and effectiveness. Our
current products are all Class I or II.

The FDA can authorize the emergency use of an unapproved medical product or an unapproveda use of an approved
medical product, referred to as emergency use authorization or EUA, for certain emergency circumstances after the Health and
Human Services Secretary has made a declaration of emergency justifying authorization of emergency use. An EUA allows use
in an emergency to diagnose, treat, or prevent serious or life-threatening diseases or conditions caused by emerging infectious
disease threats when there are no adequate, approved, and availablea alternatives. The FDA may also waive otherwise-applicable
current good manufacturingt practice (“CGMP”) requirements to accommodate emergency response needs. lAlll of our current
productproducts for te istingg for hthe COVID-19 ivirus are lsoldd dunder EUA.

Prior to commercialization in the US market, manufacturers of diagnostic assays like our products are typically required
to obtain FDA clearance through a premarket notification or premarket approval process, which can be lengthy, expensive and
uncertain. The FDA has been requiring more rigorous demonstration of product performance as part of the 510(k) process,
including submission of extensive clinical data. It generally takes from three months to one year to obtain clearance, but may
take longer. A premarket approval application must be supported by valid scientific evidence to demonstrate the safety and
effectiveness of the device, typically including the results of clinical investigations, bench tests and reference laboraa tory studies.
In addition, modifications or enhancements for existing products that could significantly affecff t their safetyt or effectiveness or
constitute a majora change in the intended use of the device, will require new submissions to the FDA.

The FDA’s CLIA regulate laboraa tory testing and requires clinical laborata ories to be certified by their state, as well as the
Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (“CMS”), before diagnostic testing can be conducted. Laborata ories using our assays
must obtain a CLIA certificate. Waived testing is designated by CLIA as simple testing that carries a low risk for an incorrect
result. The CLIA-waived designation is critical for most of our products that are intended for POC settings. The FDA’s current
guidance entitled “Guidance for Industry and FDA Staff: Recommendations for Clinical Laborata ory Improvement Amendments
of 1988 CLIA Waiver Applications for Manufacturers of In Vitro Diagnostic Devices” sets forth requirements for obtaining a
CLIA waiver, which are onerous and have increased the time and cost we are required to spend to obtain a CLIA waiver.

Any devices we manufacture or distribute pursuant to FDA clearance or approvals are subject to continuing regulation by
the FDA and certain state agencies, including adherence to Quidel System Regulations relating to testing, control,
documentation and other quality assurance requirements. We must also comply with Medical Device Reporting requirements,
which mandates reporting to the FDA of any incident in which a device may have caused or contributed to a death or serious
injury, or in which a device malfunctff ioned and, if the malfunction were to recur, would be likely to cause or contribute to a
death or serious injury. Labea ling and promotional activities are also subject to scrutiny by the FDA and, in certain
circumstances, by the Federal Trade Commission (“FTC”). Current FDA enforcement policy prohibits the marketing of
approved medical devices for unapproved uses.

Regue lationstt Outsidett of the US

For marketing outside the US, we are subject to foreign regulatory requirements governing human clinical testing and
marketing approval for our products. These requirements vary by jurisdiction, differ from those in the US, and may require us
to perform additional or different preclinical or clinical testing regardless of whether we have obtained FDA clearance or
approval. The amount of time required to obtain necessary approvals varies from that required for FDA clearance or approval.
In many foreign countries, pricing and reimbursement approvals are also required.
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Our initial focus for obtaining marketing approval outside the US is typically in the European Union (“EU”), Australia,
Brazil, Canada, China, and Japan. EU regulations and directives generally classify healthcare products either as medicinal
products, medical devices or IVD. The CE Mark certification for the EU requires us to receive certification from ISO for the
manufacture of our products. This certification comes only afteff r the development of an all-inclusive quality system, which is
reviewed for compliance with ISO standards by a notified body accredited by an EU member state. After certification is
received, a technical file is developed that attests to the product’s compliance to Regulation Directive 98/79/EC for IVD
medical devices. Only after this point is the product CE Marked. In addition, the EU has recently adopted the EU Medical
Device Regulation (the "EU MDR") and the In Vitro Diagnostic Regulation (the "EU IVDR"), each of which impose stricter
requirements for the marketing and sale of medical devices than in the US, including in the area of clinical evaluation
requirements, quality systems and post-market surveillance. The compliance deadline for the EU MDR was May 2021.
Manufacturers of currently approved medical devices will have until May 2022 to meet the EU IVDR, unless an extension has
been granted. Complying with these regulations may require us to incur significant expenditures.t Failure to meet these
regulatory requirements could adversely impact our business in the EU and other regions that tie their product registrations to
the EU requirements.

Chinese regulations require registration of diagnostic products with China’s National Medical Products Administration
(“NMPA”, formerly CFDA). Additional clinical trials in China are typically required for registration purposes. ISO certification
is included in applications for registration to NMPA. Japanea se regulations require registration of IVD products with the
Japanese Ministry of Health, Labora and Welfareff . For products marketed in Canada, registration is required with Health Canada.
For products marketed in Australia, registration is required with the Therapeuta ic Goods Administration. IVD products in Brazil
are regulated by the Agencia Nacional de Vigilancia Sanitaria. For our products marketed in Canada, Japan, Brazil, Australia
and the US, the MDSAP is a single regulatory audit of our QMS that satisfies the requirements of all five of these jurisdictions.
Additionally, with Brexit in place, we are obtaining any necessary approvals directly from the U.K.’s Medicines and Healthcare
Products Regulatory Agency.

Other Healthcarll e Laws

Our products are subject to various healthcare-related laws regulating fraud and abuse, research and development, pricing,
sales and marketing practices, and the privacy and security of health information, including, among others: (i) US federal
regulations regarding quality and cost by the US Department of Health and Human Services (“HHS”), including CMS, as well
as comparam blea state and non-US agencies responsible for reimbursement and regulation of healthcare goods and services,
including laws and regulations related to kickbacks, false claims, self-referrals and healthcare fraud; (ii) the US federal Anti-
Kickback Statute; (iii) the federal Physician Self‑ff Referral Law; (iv) the False Claims Act (“FCA”); (v) the Physician Payments
Sunshine Act; and (vi) numerous state laws regulating healthcare and insurance. Among other things, these laws and others
generally (a) prohibit the provision of anything of value in exchange for the referral of patients or for the purchase, order, or
recommendation of any item or service reimbursed by a federal healthcare program, including Medicare and Medicaid; (b)
require that claims for payment submitted to federal healthcare programs be truthful; and (C) require the maintenance of certain
government licenses and permits.
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Datatt Privacy and Securitytt Laws

We are subject to data privacy and security laws and regulations in numerous jurisdictions, as well as customer-imposed
controls, as a result of having access to and processing confidential, personal and/or sensitive data in the course of our business.
US federal and state laws protect the confidentiality of certain health-related and other personal information, in particular
personally identifiable information such as medical records, and restrict the collection, use and disclosure of that protected
information. At the federal level, the HHS promulgates health information privacy and security rules under the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (“HIPAA”), which protect health information by regulating its use and disclosure.
Although we are not directly subject to HIPAA other than with respect to providing certain employee benefits, we could
potentially be subject to criminal penalties if we, our affiliates, or our agents knowingly obtain, use, or disclose personally
identifiablea health information maintained by a HIPAA-covered entity in a manner that is not authorized or permitted by
HIPAA. In addition to HIPAA, individual states also regulate data breach and security requirements and multiple governmental
bodies assert authority over aspects of the protection of personal privacy. For examplem , a broad privacy law in California, the
Californiff a Consumer Privacy Act (“CCPA”), came into effect in January 2020. The CCPA has some of the same featurest as the
GDPR (discussed below) such as certain requirements for data collection, use and sharing practices and certain rights of
consumers concerning the use, disclosure, and retention of their personal data. The CCPA has already prompted several other
states to follow with similar laws. The EU General Data Protection Regulation that became effecff tive in May 2018 (“GDPR”)
has imposedm significantly stricter requirements in how we collect, transmit, process and retain personal data, including, among
other things, in certain circumstances a requirement for almost immediate notice of data breaches to supervisory authorities and
prompt notice to data subjects with significant fines for non-compliance. Several other countries such as China and Russia have
passed, and other countries are considering passing, laws that require personal data relating to their citizens to be maintained on
local servers and impose additional data transfer restrictions.

Environi mental, Health and Safety Laws

We are subject to various environmental, health and safety laws and regulations both within and outside the US, such as
those related to safe working conditions and laborata ory practices. Like other companies in our industry, our manufacturing and
research activities involve the purchase, storage, movement, use and disposal of substances regulated under environmental,
health and safety laws, including those related to hazardous or potentially hazardous substances.

Other Lawsw and Regulatll ionstt Governingii Our Sales,ll Marketingii and Shippingii Activitiii es

We are subject to the US Foreign Corrupt Practices Act (the “FCPA”), the UK Bribery Act and various other similar anti-
corruption and anti-bribery laws. Among other things, these laws generally prohibit us and our intermediaries from offering,
promising or making payments to foreign government entities or officials for the purpose of obtaining or retaining business. We
are also subject to pertinent US and foreign laws relating to the import and export of finished goods, raw materials and suppliu es.
We also must comply with various export control and trade embargo laws, which may require licenses or other authorizations
for transactions within some countries or with some counterparties. Additionally, we are subject to laws and regulations
governing government contracts, and failure to address these laws and regulations or complym with government contracts could
harm our business by a reduction in revenue associated with these customers. We have agreements relating to the sale of our
products to government entities and, as a result, we are subject to various statutet s and regulations that apply to companies doing
business with the government. We are also subject to investigation for compliance with the regulations governing government
contracts. A failure to comply with these regulations could result in suspension of these contracts, criminal, civil and
administrative penalties or debarment.

Intellectual Property

The healthcare industry has traditionally placed considerable importance on obtaining and maintaining patent, trade secret
and trademark protection for commercially relevant technologies, devices, products and processes. We possess numerous
patents, trade secrets and trademarks, and in the aggregate, our intellectual property is of material importance in the operation of
our business. We, however, believe that no single patent, trade secret or trademark is material in relation to our business as a
whole.

We actively pursue patents for technologies that are considered novel and patentablea . However, important factors, many
of which are not within our control, can affect whether and to what extent patent protection in the US and in other important
markets worldwide is obtained. For example, the speed, accuracy and consistency in application of the law in a patent office
within any particular jurisdiction are beyond our control and can be unpredictablea . The resolution of issues such as these and
their effecff t on our long-term success are also indeterminable. We have issued patents, both in the US and internationally, and
have patent applications pending throughout the world.
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It has been our policy to file for patent protection in the US and other countries with significant markets, such as Western
European countries and Japan, if the economics are deemed to justify such filing and our patent counsel advises that relevant
patent protection may be obtained.

A large number of individuals and commercial enterprises seek patent protection for technologies, products and processes
in fields in, or related to, our areas of product development. To the extent such effortsff are successful, we may be required to
obtain licenses and pay significant royalties in order to exploit certain of our product strategies. Licenses may not be available
to us at all or, if so availablea , may not be available on acceptable terms.

We are aware of certain patents issued to various developers of diagnostic products with potential applicabila ity to our
diagnostic technology. We have licensed rights from companim es to assist with the manufacturingt of certain products. In the
future, we expect that we will require or desire additional licenses from other parties in order to refine our products further and
to allow us to develop, manufacturet and market commercially viable or superior products effectively.

We seek to protect our trade secrets and technology by entering into confidentiality agreements with employees and third
parties (such as potential licensees, customers, strategic partners and consultants). In addition, we have implemented certain
security measures in our laborata ories and offices. Also, to the extent that consultants or contracting parties apply technical or
scientific information independently developed by them to our projects, disputes may arise as to the proprietary rights to such
data.

We have registered or applied to register certain trademarks and service marks in the US and in foreign countries that are
used in our business and in conjunction with the sale of our products. Our principal trademarks and the products they cover are
discussed above in the section entitled “Products.”

Under many of our contractual agreements, we have agreed to indemnify the counterparty against costs and liabilities
arising out of any patent infringement claims and other intellectual property claims asserted by a third party relating to products
sold under those agreements.

Human Capital and ESG Strategies

Human Capitaltt Resources

As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately 1,600 employees worldwide, with approximately 1,400 employees in the
US and approximately 200 employees outside of the US, none of whom are represented by a labora union. We have experienced
no work stoppages and believe that our employee relations are good.

Workforce Healthll and Safety

We maintain health and safety programs conforming to best practices in the diagnostics industry. We are focused on
minimizing risk and protecting our employees and communities by employim ng safe technologies and operating procedures, and
in turn minimizing recordablea incidents and improving safetyt across our organization.

Diversityii and Inclusion

Our employees are one of our most important assets and set the foundation for our ability to achieve our strategic
objectives, drive operational execution, deliver strong financial performance, advance innovation, and maintain our quality and
compliance programs. The success and growth of our business depends in large part on our ability to attract, retain and develop
a diverse population of talented and high-performing employees at all levels of our organization. We strive to provide a positive
work environment for all employees, consultants, contingent workers, vendors, and customers. One of the ways we accomplish
this is by embracing a variety of diverse experiences and perspectives and being inclusive team players. We are dedicated to
providing employees with a great place to work where they can offer their diverse talents, experiences and perspectives to
innovate and create diagnostic solutions.
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We are committed to maintaining an environment of equal employment opportunities for all job applicants and members
of our team. We fulfill this commitment through a variety of measures, including internal and external posting of job openings,
hiring, training and promoting employees without regard to race, color, religion, gender identity or expression, pregnancy,
national origin, ancestry, citizenship, military or veteran status,t disabila ity, medical condition, marital or domestic partner status,t
sexual orientation, age, or any other considerations made unlawful by federal, state or local law. We prohibit discrimination
based on a perception that anyone has any of these characteristics or is associated with a person who has or is perceived as
having any of these characteristics. In addition, we look at company programs, policies, procedures and activities with diversityt
and inclusion in mind. In keeping with our core values, we are steadfast in taking action to ensure equal employment
opportunity in accordance with all applicable federal, state and local laws.

As of December 31, 2021, 48% of our US employees identified as female and 53% of our US employees identified as
having a racial and ethnic background other than white. As of December 31, 2021, our executive management team consisted of
nine members, of whom 33% identified as female. In addition, as of December 31, 2021, our Board of Directors (the “Board”)
consisted of 10 members, of whom 30% identified as female and 20% identified as having a racial and ethnic background other
than white.

Corporate Philanthropy

We listen to our internal and external stakeholders and translate their needs into innovative solutions. This stands true both
in the products we offer and in our corporate philanthropy work. Our charitablea giving programs operate under the Quidel
Community Action Review and Endowment Squad (“QCARES”) committee, which is responsible for quarterly review and
approval of proposed charitablea contributions. Our charitablea giving programs and activities consist of the following:

• Matching gifts — We match charitablea contributions by full-time, regular employees to qualifying non-profit
organizations of up to $250 per employee annually.

• Volunteer incentive program —When an employee volunteers at an organization for a minimum of 20 hours in a
calendar year, we donate $100 to that organization.

• General QCARES fund —We may donate up to $2,000 to an organization proposed by an employee.
• Community partnerships — As part of our commitment to expanding equitable access to healthcare, we have

partnered with several majora organizations to donate COVID-19 testing products to various communities across
the nation to promote increased testing within communities to help prevent the spread of COVID-19.

Emplm oyell e Benefitsii

To succeed in a competitive labora market, we have recruitment and retention strategies that we focus on as part of the
overall management of our business, including designing our compensation and benefits programs to be competitive and align
with our strategic and stockholders’ interests. Some of our key employee benefits include eligibility for health insurance,
vacation time, a retirement plan with an employer match, an employee assistance program and life and disability coverage. We
also offer a variety of voluntary benefits that allow employem es to select the options that meet their needs, including flexible
spending accounts, hospital care, accident insurance, prepaid legal benefits, backup childcare, family forming benefits,
homework support for students, studentt loan benefits, tuition reimbursement and a wellness program. These benefits are
designed to offer employees a menu of options so that each employee can select benefits most meaningful to their personal
situation. We consider our employee benefits to be an important component of total compensation for our employees.

ESG Stratt tegygg

We advance diagnostics to improvem the health and well-being of people around the globe. Through diagnostic innovation,
we strive toward our vision of a world where everyonerr has access to high-quality, easy-to-use, and affordablea tests that
ultimately lead to improved patient outcomes. To us, sustainability means using our talent and hard work to do the most good.

Our ESG strategy focuses on three pillars: fostering a culture of happy people, operating responsibly, and driving
equitable healthcare. We are committed to providing immediate and frequent access to highly accurate, affordablea testing for
our customers and maintaining the highest ethical standards for our suppliers, stockholders, collaborators, and employees.
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Available Information

This Annual Report and each of our other periodic and current reports, including any amendments thereto, are availablea ,
free of charge, on our website, www.quidel.com, as soon as reasonably practicablea after such material is electronically filed
with or furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”). The information contained on our website or on the
SEC website is not incorporated by reference into this Annual Report and should not be considered part of this Annual Report.

Information about our Executive Officff ers

The names, ages and positions of all executive officers are listed below, followed by a discussion of their business
experience. There are no family relationships among these officers, nor any arrangements or understandings between any
officer and any other person pursuant to which an officer was selected.

Douglas C. Bryant, 64, was named President, Chief Executive Officer and a member of the Board in 2009. Prior to
joining us, Mr. Bryantrr served as Executive Vice President and Chief Operating Officer at Luminex Corporation, managing its
Bioscience Group, Luminex Molecular Diagnostics (Toronto), manufacturing, R&D, technical operations, and commercial
operations. From 1983 to 2007, Mr. Bryantrr held various worldwide commercial operations positions with Abbott Laborata ories
including, among others: Vice President of Abbott Vascular for Asia/Japan, Vice President of Abbott Molecular Global
Commercial Operations and Vice President of Abbott Diagnostics Global Commercial Operations. Earlier in his career with
Abbott, Mr. Bryant was Vice President of Diagnostic Operations in Europe, the Middle East and Africff a, and Vice President of
Diagnostic Operations Asia Pacific. Mr. Bryantrr has nearly 40 years of industry experience in sales and marketing, product
development, manufacturing and service and support in both the diagnostics and life sciences markets. Mr. Bryantrr holds a B.A.
in Economics from the University of California at Davis.

Randall J. Steward, 67, became our Chief Financial Officer in October 2011. Prior to joining us, Mr. Steward served as
the Chief Financial Officer for Navilyst Medical, Inc., a medical device company based in Massachusetts. From 2008 to
January 2011, Mr. Steward served as Chief Operating Officer for SeQual Technologies, Inc., a San Diego-based medical device
company, where he was responsible for all aspects of engineering, manufacturing, finance, and information systems. Prior to
SeQual Technologies, Mr. Steward spent 11 years with Spectrum Brands as Executive Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer. Mr. Steward holds a B.B.A. in Accounting from Southern Methodist University. He is also a Certified Public
Accountant and a member of the American Institutet of Certified Public Accountants.

Robert J. Bujarsku i, J.D., 53, became our Chief Operating Officer in September 2020. Previously, Mr. Bujau rski served as
Senior Vice President, North America Commercial Operations from July 2019 to September 2020, Senior Vice President,
General Counsel from March 2007 to September 2020, Senior Vice President, Business Development from August 2009 to July
2019 and General Counsel and Vice President from July 2005 to March 2007. Mr. Bujarski was an associate attorney with the
law firm of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP in its transactions practice group from October 2001 to July 2005. Mr. Bujau rski
received his B.A. degree in 1991 and his law degree in 2001 from the University of Arizona.

William J. Ferenczyz , 66, became Senior Vice President, Cardiometabolia c Business Unit in April 2020. He joined Quidel
in 2011 as Senior Director, US Marketing and subsequently held positions as Senior Director and General Manager, Savanna
and Vice President, Strategy and Global Product Management. Mr. Ferenczy has over 30 years of experience leading product
launches and market development across a wide range of diagnostic companies including Abbott Diagnostics, Biosite
Diagnostics, Nanosphere and Inovise Medical. Early in his career, he held several manufacturingt management positions of
increasing responsibility at Abbott Hospital Products and General Medical Manufacturing.t Mr. Ferenczy holds a B.S. in Pre-
professional Studies from the University of Notre Dame.

Michelle A. Hodges, 62, became our Senior Vice President, General Counsel in December 2020. Prior to joining Quidel,
Ms. Hodges was a corporate lawyer with the law firm of Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP from December 1996 through
November 2020, most recently as a partner from 2005. Ms. Hodges received her B. Hort. Sci. degree from Massey University,t
New Zealand, and her J.D. and M.B.A. from UCLA.

Werner Kroll, Ph.D., 65, became our Senior Vice President, R&D in May 2014. Prior to joining us, Dr. Kroll was Vice
President and Global Head Research and Innovation for Novartis Molecular since 2009. Prior to holding that position, he held a
variety of senior positions from 2005 to 2009 at Novartis. Dr. Kroll has also held senior positions at Bayer from 1991 to 2005.
Dr. Kroll received his Ph.D. and a Diploma in Chemistry from the University of Marburg.
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Tamara A. Ranalli,i Ph.D., 49, became the Senior Vice President, Molecular Business Unit in August 2020. Prior to this
position at Quidel, Dr. Ranalli held several roles at Quidel most recently as Vice President of Marketing for North America and
has been with the organization since 2010. Before joining Quidel, Dr. Ranalli was the Director of Business Development at
BioHelix Corporation where she was instrumental in both the development of the novel isothermal technology used in the
Solana platform, as well as in establishing the collaboration between BioHelix and Quidel that led to our eventual acquisition of
BioHelix in 2013. Dr. Ranalli holds a B.A. degree in Biology from Cornell University, a Ph.D. in Biochemistry from University
of Rochester School of Medicine and completed a post-doctoral fellowship in Cancer Genetics at Roswell Park Cancer Institute.
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Item 1A. Risk Factors

Operational and Strategic Risks

The COVID-19II global pandemic could adverserr ly affect our businesii s operations, strategy,e financii ial performanr ce and resultsll
of operations, the extent of which is uncertainii and difficult to predict.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic and the related responses from government authorities, our business operations,
strategy, financial performance and results of operations may be adversely impacted in a number of ways, including, but not
limited to, the following:

• disruptir ons to our operations, including a shutdown of one or more of our facilities or product lines; restrictions on our
operations and sales, marketing and distribution efforts;ff and interruptions to our research and development,
manufacturing, clinical/regulatory and other important business activities;

• our ability to meet increased demand for our COVID-19 testing products and the costs of expanding our
manufacturing capaca ity to meet such demand;

• increased costs in our manufacturing, production and shipping processes;
• a slowdown or stoppage in the supply chain of the raw materials, componentm s, equipment and packaging services used
to manufacturet our products or our inabila ity to secure additional or alternate sources of supplies or services needed to
manufacture our products at optimal levels;

• our inventory might be requisitioned, diverted or allocated by government order such as under emergency, disaster and
civil defense declarations. For example, government actions in response to the COVID-19 pandemic affected and may
in the futuret affecff t our supply allocation, and those and our own allocation decisions can impact our customer
relationships;

• interruptions or delays in global shipping to transport and deliver our products to our distributors and customers;
• iinterruptiions iin normall operatiions of cert iain dend user customers hthat co lduld re lsult iin redductiions iin ddem dand for routiine,

lelec itive andd hother non-COVID-19 rellatedd hheallthhcare proc dedures dand testing;ing;
• limitations on employee resources and availability, including due to sickness or personal quarantine, government
restrictions, the desire of employees to avoid contact with large groups of people, or school closures or remote
learning;

• a COVID-19 vaccination mandate or requirement that unvaccinated employees be tested frequently could result in
employee attrition and difficulty securing futuret labora needs, including attrition of critically skilled labor,a difficulty in
obtaining services from impacted suppliers and increased costs;

• an increase in cyber-attacks given our increased public profile, particularly as a manufacturert of COVID-19 products;
• fluff ctuations in foreign currency exchange rates or interest rates resulting from market uncertainties;
• an increase in regulatory restrictions or continued market volatility, which could hinder our ability to execute strategic
business activities, including acquisitions; and

• an increase in the volatility of our stock price.

In response to increased demand brought on by COVID-19, we have rapidly and significantly expanded, and are
continuing to expand, our manufacturingt capaa city, including expanding and scaling our infrastructuret to support existing and
anticipated COVID-19 testing demand and commercial activities. This rapid expansion has placed and may continue to place
significant strain on our management, personnel, operations, systems and financial resources. Failure to successfully manage
this expansion could negatively affecff t our operating results, including due to inefficiencies in implementing such expansion or
higher costs for materials, technology, equipment and human capita al. Moreover, we may not realize the revenue growth and
profitability we anticipate for our COVID-19 and other diagnostic products, which could cause, among other results, a failure to
realize the benefits of our manufacturingt capaa city expansion and the value of those investments being written down or written
off. Similarly, the demand for our COVID-19 testing products could decrease if the COVID-19 pandemic subsides, which could
result in our having unneeded excess capaa city, which could in turn cause the value of those investments to be written down or
written off.
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The pandemic has resulted in government authorities implementing many measures to contain the spread of COVID-19,
including travel bans and restrictions, quarantines, shelter-in-place and stay-at-home orders, and business and school
shutdowns. Although many of these measures have been lifted or relaxed, they could be reinstitutet d if conditions deteriorate
and could be in place for a significant period of time, which could adversely affecff t our operations. For example, at the outset of
the pandemic, we temporarily closed our corporate offices and had personnel work remotely to the extent possible and may be
required to do so again in the future.t Further, our sales and marketing activities were, and may continue to be, adversely
affected by the inability to conduct in-person sales activities, meetings, events and conferences, which could negatively impact
the success of our sales and marketing strategies and our relationships with our customers.

The effects of COVID-19 may exacerbate our other risk factors described below. The degree to which COVID-19 impacts
our business operations, strategy, financial performance and results of operations will depend on futuret developments, which
are highly uncertain, continuously evolving and unpredictablea , including, but not limited to, the duration of the COVID-19
pandepande imi ,c the severity of continual outbreat k surges and variants, the actions to contain the virus or treat its impact, how quickly
and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume and the residual economic and other effects. Because
this situation continues to evolve globally, the ultimate impacts to us of COVID-19 are uncertain, but such impacts could have a
material adverse effecff t on our business, strategy, financial performance and financial condition.

The industrytt and market segme ent in which we operate are highly competm ittt ivtt e, and intense competm ittt iontt withii other providers
of diagnostictt products or services may reduce our salesll and margins.

Our diagnostic tests compete with similar products made by our competitors. There are a large number of multinational
and regional competitors making investments in competm ing technologies and products, including several large pharmaceutical
and diversified healthcare companies. We also face competition from our distributors as some have created, and others may
decide to create, their own products to competm e with ours. A number of our competitors have competitive advantages, such as
substantially greater financial, technical, research and other resources, and larger, more establia shed marketing, sales,
distribution and service organizations than we have. Moreover, some competitors offer broader product lines and have greater
name recognition than we have. Our operating results could be materially and adversely affecff ted if:

• our competitors’ products are more effective than ours or take market share from our products through more
effective marketing or competitive pricing;

• our competitors obtain patent protection or other intellectual property rights that prevent us from offering
competing products or services; or

• our competitors are able to obtain regulatory approvals for products or services or otherwise bring competing
products to market earlier than us.

In addition, there has been a trend toward industry consolidation in our markets over the last few years. We may not be
able to compete successfully in an increasingly consolidated industry. We expect this trend toward industry consolidation to
continue as companim es attempt to strengthen or hold their market positions in an evolving industry.

In order to remainii competitiii ve and profitablii e,ll we must expend considerablei resources to research new technologiell s and
products and develop new markets,tt and there is no assurance our effortsff to developll new technologiell s, products or markets
willii be successful or such technologiell s, products or markets willll be commerciallyll viablei .ee

We devote a significant amount of financial and other resources to researching and developing new technologies, new
products and new markets. The development, manufacturet and sale of diagnostic products and new technologies require a
significant investment of resources, such as employem es, offices, manufacturing facilities, and development of new commercial
partners and channels. Such expenditurest to develop new technologies, products or markets may not lead to commercially
viablea technology and products or successful markets.

Our operations will be adversely affected if our operating results do not correspondingly increase with our increased
expenditurest or if our technology, product and market development efforts are unsuccessful or delayed. Furthermore, our
failure to successfully introduce new technologies or products and develop new markets could have a material adverse effecff t on
our business and prospects.
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Our operatingii resultsll are heavilyll dependeee nt on sales of our COVID-19II and influenzn a diagnostic teststt and if salesll or
revenues ofo our COVID-19II or influenzn a tests declineii for any reason, our operatingii resultsll would be matertt iallyll and adverserr ly
affected.

A significant percentage of our total revenues come from a limited number of our product families. In particular, revenues
from the sale of our COVID-19 and influenza tests represent a significant portion of our total revenues and are expected to
remain so for at least the near future. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, sales of our COVID-19 products
accounted for 75%, 70% and 0% and influenza products accounted for 4%, 8%, and 26%, respectively, of total revenue. In
addition, the gross margins derived from sales of our COVID-19 and influenza tests are significantly higher than the gross
margins from many of our other core products. As a result, if sales or revenues of our COVID-19 or inflff uenza tests decline for
any reason, whether as a result of a waning of the COVID-19 pandemic, a mild flu season, market share loss or price pressure,
obsolescence, regulatory matters, such as loss of EUAs for our COVID-19 products, or any other reason, our operating results
would be materially and adversely affecff ted on a disproportionate basis.

We rely on a limitedtt number of key distributorsrr that account for a significant portiontt of our total revenue.ee The loss of any
key distributor or an unsuccessful effort by us to directlyll distriii buteii our products could lead to reduced sales.

Although we have many distributor relationships in the US, the market is dominated by a small number of these
distributors. Four of our US distributors, collectively accounted for approximately 49%, 68%, and 51% of our total revenue for
the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. In addition, we rely on a few key distributors for a majoa rity
of our international sales and expect to continue to do so for the foreseeablea future. The loss or termination of our relationship
with any of these key distributors could significantly disrupt our business unless suitablea alternatives are timely found or lost
sales to a distributor are taken up by another distributor. Finding a suitable alternative to a lost or terminated distributor may
pose challenges in our industry’s competm itive environment, and another suitable distributor may not be found on satisfactory
terms, if at all. For instance, some distributors already have exclusive arrangements with our competitors, and others do not
have the same level of penetration into our target markets as our existing distributors. If total revenue from any of our other
significant distributors were to decrease in any material amount in the futuret or we are not successful in timely transitioning
business from a lost or terminated distributor to one or more new distributors, our business, operating results and financial
condition could be materially and adversely affecff ted.

Our resultsll of operations and financial conditiontt may be adversely affected by the financial soundness of our customers and
suppliell rs.

If our customers’ or suppliers’ operating and financial performance deteriorates, our customers may not be able to pay, or
may delay payment of, accounts receivable owed to us, and our suppliers may reduce or terminate production of products they
supply to us. Any inability of customers to pay us, or a reduction or termination of products supplied to us by suppliers, may
adversely affecff t our operating results and financial condition.

We may not achieve market acceptancett of our products amongn physicians,i healthcarett providers or other customett rs, and thisii
would have a negate ivtt e effecff t on future sales.

A large part of our current business is based on the sale of rapid POC diagnostic tests. Our futuret sales depend on, among
other matters, capturea of sales from central laboraa tories by achieving market acceptance of POC testing from physicians other
healthcare providers or other customers. If we do not capta uret sales at the levels anticipated in our budget, our total revenue will
not be at the levels that we expect and the costs we incur or have incurred may be disproportionate to our sales levels. We
expect that clinical reference and hospital-based laborata ories will continue to compete vigorously against our POC diagnostic
products in order to maintain and expand their existing dominance of the overall diagnostic testing market. Moreover, even if
we can demonstrate that our products are more cost-effective, save time, or have better performance, physicians and other
healthcare providers may resist changing to POC tests. Our failure to achieve market acceptance from physicians, healthcare
providers or other customers with respect to the use of our diagnostic products would have a negative effecff t on our futuret sales.
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Our totaltt revenue could be affected by third-party reimbursement policll ies and potentialii cost constraintsii .

The end-users of our POC products are primarily physicians and other healthcare providers. In the US, healthcare
providers such as hospitals and physicians who purchase diagnostic products generally rely on third-party payers, principally
private health insurance plans, federal Medicare and state Medicaid, to reimburse all or part of the cost of the procedure. Use of
our products would be adversely impacted if physicians and other healthcare providers do not receive adequate reimbursement
for the cost of our products by their patients’ third-party payers. Our total revenue could also be adversely affecff ted by changes
or trends in reimbursement policies of these governmental or private healthcare payers. We believe that the overall escalating
cost of medical products and services has led to, and will continue to lead to, increased pressures on the healthcare industry,
both foreign and domestic, to reduce the cost of products and services. Given the effortsff to control and reduce healthcare costs
in the US in recent years, currently availablea levels of reimbursement may not continue to be available in the future for our
existing products or products under development. Third-party reimbursement and coverage may not be availablea or adequate in
either the US or foreign markets, current reimbursement amounts may be decreased in the futuret and future legislation,
regulation or reimbursement policies of third-party payers may reduce the demand for our products or adversely impact our
ability to sell our products on a profitable basis. Any reduction in payments by government sponsored or private payers, as a
result of budget deficits or reductions in expenditurest or for reimbursement reasons, may adversely affect our earnings and cash
flow.

Unexpecee ted increases in, or inabilityii to meet,tt demand for our products and services could require us to spend considerableii
resources to meet the demand or harm our reputatiee on and customer relationshitt psii if we are unable to meet demand.

Our inability to meet customer demand for our products and services, whether as a result of manufacturingt problems or
supply shortfalls, could harm our customer relationships and impair our reputation within the industry. In addition,
manufacturing of certain of our product lines is concentrated in one or more of our manufacturing facilities. Weather, naturalt
disasters, public health emergencies, fires, terrorism, political change or unrest, failure to follow specific internal protocols and
procedures, equipment malfunctff ion, environmental factors or damage to one or more of our facilities could adversely affect our
ability to manufacture our products. This, in turn, could have a material adverse effect on our business.

If we experience unexpected increases in the demand for our products or supply shortfalls, we may be required to expend
additional capita al resources to meet these demands. These capita al resources could involve the cost of new machinery or even the
cost of new manufacturingt facilities. This would increase our capita al costs, which could adversely affect our earnings and cash
resources. If we are unable to develop or obtain necessary manufacturing capabia lities in a timely manner, our total revenue
could be adversely affected. For examplem , in response to the demand brought on by COVID-19, we have and are continuing to
rapidly and significantly expand our manufacturing capaca ity, which has placed and may continue to place significant strain on
our management, personnel, operations and systems. Failure to increase production volumes in a cost-effective manner, lower
than anticipated yields or production problems could result in shipment delays, as well as increased manufacturing costs, which
could also have a material adverse effect on our business, reputation, operating results and financial condition.

Interruptionstt in the supply of raw materitt als,i componentm s,tt equipmeii nt and othertt products and services could adversely affect
our operations and financial results.ll

We depend on third-party manufacturers and suppliers for some of our materials, components, equipment, packaging and
other products and services. Some of these supplies and services are currently obtained from a sole supplier or a limited group
of suppliers. We have long-term supply agreements with many of these suppliers, but these long-term agreements involve risks
for us, such as our potential inability to obtain an adequate supply of quality raw materials, equipment or components and our
reduced control over pricing, quality and timely delivery. It is also possible that one or more of these suppliers may become
unwilling or unablea to deliver supplies or services to us as agreed. Unexpected increases in demand for our products or supply
shortfalls could require us to obtain additional supplies or services in order to manufacture products to meet the demand. Some
supplies require significff ant ordering lead time and we may not be able to timely access sufficient supplies in the event of an
unexpected increase in demand or supply shortfall, particularly those obtained from a sole supplier or a limited group of
suppliers. For example, government actions in response to the COVID-19 pandemic affecff ted our supply allocation and could in
the future result in our inventory materials being requisitioned, diverted or allocated by government order such as under
emergency, disaster and civil defense declarations. In addition, we use third party packaging companies to ship our products to
customers. An interruption or delays in the services provided by these third-party packaging companies could also result in a
delay of shipments to customers.
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Our business is also subject to risks associated with US and foreign legislation, regulations and trade agreements relating
to the materials we import, including quotas, duties, tariffs or taxes, and other charges or restrictions on imports, which could
adversely affecff t our operations and our ability to import materials used in our products at current or increased levels. We cannot
predict whether additional US and foreign customs quotas, duties (including antidumping or countervailing duties), tariffs, taxes
or other charges or restrictions, requirements as to where raw materials must be purchased, or other restrictions on our imports
will be imposed in the future or adversely modified, or what effect such actions would have on our costs of operations. Futuret
quotas, duties or tariffs may have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash
flows. Futuret trade agreements could also provide our competitors with an advantage over us, or increase our costs, either of
which could have a material adverse effecff t on our business, financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.

In addition, due to regulatory requirements relating to the qualification of suppliers, we may not be able to establia sh
additional or replacement sources on a timely basis or without excessive cost. For example, FDA regulations and labela ling
requirements may make switching critical suppliers difficult. The SEC also requires disclosure for public companies whose
products contain conflict minerals, such as tin, tantalum, tungsten and gold, that originate from the Democratic Republic of
Congo and/or adjoining countries. The implementation of these requirements has caused and will continue to cause increased
costs to comply with these disclosure requirements and may inhibit our ability to source these materials. Any shortfall in our
supply of raw materials, equipment or components, or our inabila ity to quickly and cost-effectively obtain alternative sources for
this supply, could have a material adverse effect on our business and operating results.

Failuresii in our IT and storagett systemyy s, includingn as a resultll of cyber-securityii breaches, could significantlyll disruptii our
businessii or force us to expend excessive costs.

We utilize complex IT systems to transmit and store information, including sensitive personal information and proprietary
or confidential information, and otherwise to support our business and process. In the future,t our systems may prove inadequate
to our business needs and necessary upgrades may not operate as designed, which could result in excessive costs or disruptions
in portions of our business. In particular, any disruptions, delays or deficiencies from our enterprise resource planning systems
could adversely affecff t our ability to, among other matters, process orders, procure supplies, manufacture and ship products,
track inventory, provide services and customer support, send invoices and track payments, fulfill contractual obligations or
otherwise operate our business.

Our IT and storage systems are potentially vulnerablea to physical or electronic break-ins, ransomware attacks, computer
viruses and similar disruptive problems. Sustained or repeated system failures that interrupt our ability to generate, maintain or
access data could result in a material disruption in our operations. Furthermore, a security breach could be facilitated by
ineffective protection measures, employee errors or omissions, and malfeasance. Despite our efforts to protect against cyber-
attacks and security breaches, hackers and other cyber criminals are using increasingly sophisticated and constantly evolving
techniques, and we may need to expend substantial additional resources to continue to protect against potential security
breaches or to remediate problems caused by such attacks or any breach of our safeguards. In addition, a data security breach or
ransomware attack could distract management or other key personnel from performing their primary operational duties. If such
a breach leads to disclosure of consumer, customer, supplier, partner or employee information (including personally identifiablea
information or protected health information), it could harm our reputation, compel us to comply with disparate state and foreign
breach notification laws and otherwise subject us to liability under laws that protect personal data, resulting in increased costs
or loss of revenue. The costs of maintaining adequate protection against such threats are significant and are expected to
continue to increase in the futuret and may be material to our financial statements.

Interruptionstt to our third-partyii IT service providers and/or// the inabilitll ytt of our digiti altt solutions to interoperatett withii certainii
operatingtt systemyy s couldll impairm the delivery of our cloud-basell d solutionstt and negatie vely impactm our business.ii

We rely on a small number of third-party service providers to host and deliver our cloud-based solutions, such as our
QVue Business mobile application, and any interruptions or delays in services from these service providers could impairm the
delivery of our cloud-based solutions. We do not control the hosting of these solutions, including data center facilities or our or
other parties’ access to the Internet. These facilities are vulnerable to damage or interruption from weather, naturalt disasters,
fires, power loss, telecommunications failures, global pandemics and similar events. They are also subject to break-ins,
computer viruses,rr sabotaa ge, intentional acts of vandalism and other misconduct. The occurrence of any of these unanticipated
problems could result in lengthy interruptions to our cloud-based solutions, which would have a serious adverse impacm t on our
business.

We also depend on the interoperability of our mobile applications with popular mobile operating systems that we do not
control, such as Android and iOS. Any changes in such systems that degrade the functionality of our digital solutions or give
preferential treatment to competitors could adversely affectff use of our solutions and negatively impact our business.
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We face risks relatingtt to our interntt ational sales, includingn inherent economic, politll ictt al and regulatoryr riskii skk ,s that could
impactm our financial performancr e, cause intertt ruptionstt in our current business operations and impem de our growth strategytt .yy

Our products are sold internationally, with the majoria ty of our international sales to our customers in Europe and Asia-
Pacific. We currently sell and market our products through direct sales, distributor organizations and sales agents. Sales to
foreign customers accounted for 17%, 13% and 33% of our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019, respectively. Our international operations are subjecb t to inherent economic, political and regulatory risks, which could
impact our financial performance, cause interruptions in our business operations and impede our international growth. These
foreign risks include, among others:

• compliance with multiple different registration requirements and new and changing product registration requirements,
our inabila ity to benefit from registration for our products inasmuch as registrations may be controlled by a distributor,
and the difficulty in transitioning our product registrations;

• compliance with complex foreign and US laws and regulations that apply to our international operations, including US
laws on import/ett xport limitations, the FCPA, and local laws prohibiting corrupt payments to governmental officials,
could expose us or our employees to fines and criminal sanctions and damage our reputation;

• tariffs or other barriers as we continue to expand into new countries and geographic regions;
• exposure to currency exchange fluctuatt ions against the US dollar;
• longer payment cycles, generally lower average selling prices and greater difficulty in accounts receivable collection

and enforcing agreements with foreign entities;
• reduced, or lack of, protection for, and enforcement of, intellectualt property rights;
• social, political and economic instabila ity in some of the regions where we currently sell our products or that we may

expand into in the future,t including as a result of acts of terrorism, health pandemics, natural disasters and disruptions
in global transportation;

• increased financial accounting and reporting burdens and complem xities;
• complex and potentially adverse tax consequences; and
• diversion to the US of our products sold into international markets at lower prices.

Our international operations are governed by the FCPA and similar anti-corruption laws outside the US. Global
enforcement of anti-corruption laws has increased substantu ially in recent years, with more enforcement proceedings by US and
foreign governmental agencies and the imposition of significant fines and penalties. While we have implemented policies and
procedures designed to comply with these laws, our international operations, which may involve customer relationships with
foreign governments, create the risk that there may be unauthorized payments or offers of payments made by employees,
consultants, sales agents or distributors. Any alleged or actual violations of these laws may subject us to government
investigations, significant criminal or civil sanctions and other liabilities, and negatively affecff t our reputation.

During the year ended December 31, 2021, we generated approximately $198.4 million in revenue denominated in
currencies other than the US dollar. The majora currencies to which our revenues are exposed are the Euro and the Chinese
Yuan. Fluctuatt ions in the values of the Euro, the Chinese Yuan, and other foreign currencies could have a negative impact on
our business, financial condition and results of operations.

Continuinii g worldwidell politiii cal and social uncertainty,ii including tariffs, trade wars or social tensions, maya adversely affect
our businessii and prospects,tt both domesticallyll and internattt ionalltt y.ll

Political and social uncertainty in the US and throughout the world could impair political, trade and economic relations
worldwide. Changes in policy in the US and other countries regarding international trade, including import and export
regulation and international trade agreements, could negatively impact our business. US-imposed tariffs on goods imported
from China and certain other countries have resulted in retaliatory tariffs by China and other countries. Additional tariffs or
further retaliatory trade measures taken by China or other countries in response, could affect the demand for our products and
services and could impact the supply materials we use to manufacturet our products.
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Natural disasters, public healthtt crises, politiii cal criseii s and other catastrtt ophic eventstt or other eventstt outside of our controltt
maya disrupt our facilitll iett s or the facilities of thirdii partiett s on which we dependee and adversely affect our resultsll of operations.

We have significant operations in California, near majoa r earthquake faults and exposure to wildfire, which make us
susceptible to earthquake and fire risk. An earthquake, fire or other natural disaster or power shortages or outages could disrupt
our operations or impair our critical systems, which could have an adverse effect on our results of operations. In addition, if any
of our facilities, including our manufacturing or warehouse facilities, or the facilities of our suppliers, third-party service
providers or customers is affecff ted by naturalt disasters, such as earthquakes and fires, power shortages or outages, public health
crises, such as pandemics and epidemics, political crises, such as terrorism, war, political instability or other conflict, or other
events outside of our control, such as strikes or other labora unrest, our results of operations could be adversely affecff ted.
Moreover, these types of events could negatively impact customer spending in the impacted regions or depending on the
severity, globally, which could also adversely impact our operating results.

Risks Related to Our Pending Business Combination

We are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties related to the pending Combinations, including, but not limited to,
the risks discussed below in this section of the risk factors. For additional information about the pending Combinations and the
additional risks and uncertainties related to the Combinations, see Topco’s registration statement on Form S-4, filed with the
SEC on January 31, 2022. For information about the defined terms used in this section, see “Management’s Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations—Recent Developments” in Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report.

Complm etll iontt of the Combinationii s is subject to certain conditions,tt some of which are outsidett of the partiett s’ control,tt and if
these conditions are not satisfiett d or waived,dd the CombiCC nationsii willll not be complem ted.

The closing of the Combinations is subject to certain conditions, including (i) our stockholders’ approval of the Quidel
Merger and related matters, (ii) Ortho shareholder approval of the Ortho Scheme and related matters, (iii) receipt of clearance
from competition and foreign investment authorities in certain areas where the companies operate, (iv) the absence of any law,
injunction, order or other judgment prohibiting the Combinations, (v) the effectiveness of the registration statement on Form
S-4 for the Topco Shares, (vi) receipt of Nasdaq listing approval for the Topco Shares, (vii) subjeu ct to certain materiality
exceptions, the accuracy of each of Ortho’s and our representations and warranties in the BCA and performance by each of
Ortho and us of the obligations under the BCA and (viii) the sanctioning of the Ortho Scheme by the High Court of Justice of
England and Wales (the “Court”) and the delivery of the order of the Court of sanctioning the Ortho Scheme to the Registrar of
Companies in England and Wales.

The requirement to satisfy each of the foregoing conditions could delay completion of the Combinations for a significant
period of time or prevent them from occurring at all. Any delay in completing the Combinations could cause Topco not to
realize some or all of the benefits that we expect Topco to achieve if the Combinations are successfully completed within the
expected timeframe. Further, as a condition to approving the Combinations, governmental authorities may impose conditions,
terms, obligations or restrictions on the conduct of our business afterff the completion of the Combinations. Under the terms of
the BCA, the parties are not required to proffer or negotiate, or agree or consent to, any action (including any contractual,
behavioral or conduct restriction, agreement, commitment or remedy) that would, individually or in the aggregate, reasonably
be expected to result in a Material Adverse Effect (as defined in the BCA) on Topco. Notwithstanding the provisions of the
BCA, if we were to become subject to any conditions, terms, obligations or restrictions (whether because such conditions,
terms, obligations and restrictions do not rise to the specified level of materiality or because we consent to their imposition), it
is possible that such conditions, terms, obligations or restrictions will delay completion of the Combinations or otherwise
adversely affecff t our business, financial condition, or operations. Furthermore, governmental authorities may require that we
divest assets or businesses as a condition to the closing of the Combinations. If we are required to divest assets or businesses,
there can be no assurance that we will be able to negotiate such divestiturest expeditiously or on favorable terms or that the
governmental authorities will approve the terms of such divestitures.t There can be no assurance that the conditions to the
closing of the Combinations will be satisfied or, where applicablea , waived or that the Combinations will be completed.

In addition, if Ortho has not received the necessary Court and shareholder approvals by September 22, 2022 (subject to
certain extension rights), either partyt may choose not to proceed with the Combinations. The parties may also terminate the
BCA under certain specified circumstances, including, among others, in order to enter into an agreement with respect to an all-
cash proposal (A) that is determined by our Board, in the case of a proposal to us, or (B) that is determined by the Ortho board
of directors, in the case of a proposal to Ortho, to be superior to the BCA, subject to the terms and conditions of the BCA
(including a requirement that the terminating party pay a termination fee to the other party in accordance with the BCA).
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Failure to complete the Combinations couldll negativtt elyll impacm t our stock price and future businessii and financial results.ll

If the Combinations are not completed for any reason, including as a result of our stockholders failing to adopt the BCA
or Ortho shareholders failing to approve the Ortho Scheme, our ongoing business may be adversely affecff ted and, without
realizing any of the benefits of having completed the Combinations, we would be subject to a number of risks, including the
following:

• we may be required, under certain circumstances, to pay Ortho a termination fee of approximately $208 million or
reimburse Ortho for certain fees and expenses;

• we are subjeu ct to certain restrictions on the conduct of our business prior to completing the Combinations, which
may adversely affecff t our ability to execute certain of our business strategies going forwarr rd if the Combinations
are not completed;

• we have incurred and will continue to incur significant costs and fees associated with the proposed Combinations,
such as legal, accounting, financial advisor and printing fees, regardless of whether the Combinations are
completed;

• we may experience negative reactions from the financial markets, including negative impacts on our stock price;
• we may experience negative reactions from our customers, regulators and employees; and
• matters relating to the Combinations (including integration planning) will require substantial commitments of time

and resources by our management, which would otherwise have been devoted to day-to-day operations and other
opportunities that may have been beneficial to us as an independent company.

In addition, we could be subject to litigation related to any failure to complete the Combinations or related to any
enforcement proceeding commenced against us to perform our obligations under the BCA. If the Combinations are not
completed, these risks may materialize and may adversely affecff t our business, financial condition, financial results and stock
price.

The BCACC containsii provisions that restricttt our abilityii to pursue alternattt ivtt es to the Combinationii s and, in specis fiei d
circumii stances, would require us to pay Orthott a termirr nationii fee.ee

Under the BCA, we are restricted, subject to certain exceptions, from soliciting, initiating, knowingly encouraging or
facilitating, discussing or negotiating, or furnishing non-public information with regard to, any inquiry, proposal or offer for a
competing acquisition proposal from any person or entity. If we receive a competing acquisition proposal and our Board
determines (after consultation with our financial advisors and outside legal counsel) that such proposal constitutes a Quidel All
Cash Superioru Proposal (as defined in the BCA), and our Board makes a change in recommendation in response to such
proposal to our stockholders, we would be entitled, upon complying with certain requirements, to terminate the BCA, subject to
the terms of the BCA. Under such circumstances, we may be required to pay Ortho a termination fee of approximately $208
million or may be required to reimburse Ortho for its out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the BCA. These
provisions could discourage a third party that may have an interest in acquiring all or a significant part of us from considering
or proposing such an acquisition, even if such third party was prepared to enter into a transaction that would be more favorable
to us and our stockholders than the Combinations.

We willii incur significi ant transaction and merger-relatrr edtt costs in connectiontt withii the Combinationii s.

We have incurred and expect to incur a number of non-recurring direct and indirect costs associated with the
Combinations. These costs and expenses include fees paid to financial, legal and accounting advisors, severance and other
potential employment-related costs, including payments that may be made to certain of our executives, filing fees, printing
expenses and other related charges. Some of these costs are payable by us regardless of whether the Combinations are
completed. There are also processes, policies, procedures, operations, technologies and systems that must be integrated in
connection with the Combinations and the integration of the two companies’ businesses. While we have assumed that a certain
level of expenses would be incurred in connection with the Combinations and the other transactions contemplated by the BCA
and continue to assess the magnitude of these costs, there are many factors beyond our control that could affect the total amount
or the timing of the integration and implementation expenses.

There may also be additional unanticipated significant costs in connection with the Combinations that we may not recoup.
These costs and expenses could reduce the realization of efficff iencies and strategic benefits we expect Topco to achieve from the
Combinations. Although we expect that these benefits will offset the transaction expenses and implementation costs over time,
this net benefit may not be achieved in the near term or at all.
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We may have diffici ultytt attractt ting,ii motivtt atingii and retaininii gn executives and other key emplm oyell es due to uncertaintytt
associatedtt withii the Combinatiii ons.

Topco’s success aftff er completion of the Combinations will depend in part upon the ability of Topco to retain our key
employees. Competition for qualified personnel can be intense. Our current and prospective employees may experience
uncertainty about the effect of the Combinations, which may impair our ability to attract, retain and motivate key management,
sales, marketing, manufacturing, technical and other personnel prior to and following the Combinations. Employem e retention
may be particularly challenging during the pendency of the Combinations, as our employees may experience uncertainty about
their futuret roles with Topco.

In addition, pursuant to severance provisions in our executive employment agreements, certain of our key employees are
entitled to receive severance payments upon certain qualifying terminations of their employment. Certain of our key employees
potentially could terminate their employment following specified circumstances set forth in the applicablea executive
employment agreement, including certain changes in such key employees’ title, status,t authority, duties, responsibilities or
compensation, and be entitled to receive severance. Such circumstances could occur in connection with the Combinations as a
result of changes in roles and responsibilities.

While we may employ the use of certain retention programs, there can be no guarantee that they will prove to be
successful. If our key employees depart, the integration of the companies may be more difficult and Topco’s business following
the Combinations may be harmed. Furthermore, Topco may be required to incur significant costs in identifying, hiring, training
and retaining replacements for departing employees and may lose significant expertise and talent relating to our business, which
may adversely affecff t Topco’s ability to realize the anticipated benefits of the Combinations. In addition, there could be
disruptions to or distractions for the workforce and management associated with activities of labora unions or works councils or
integrating employees into Topco. Accordingly, no assurance can be given that Topco will be able to attract or retain our key
employees to the same extent that we have been able to attract or retain our own employees in the past.

Our businessii relationshitt psii may be subject to disruptiontt due to uncertaintyii associatedtt withii the Combinationii s.

Companies with which we do business may experience uncertainty associated with the Combinations, including with
respect to current or futuret business relationships with us or Topco. Our business relationships may be subject to disruption as
customers, distributors, suppliers, vendors and others may attempt to negotiate changes in existing business relationships or
consider entering into business relationships with parties other than us. These disruptions could have an adverse effecff t on our
business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects if the Combinations are not completed, or that of Topco if the
Combinations are completed, including an adverse effecff t on Topco’s ability to realize the anticipated benefits of the
Combinations. The risk and adverse effecff t of such disruptions could be exacerbated by a delay in completion of the
Combinations.

Complm etll iontt of the Combinationii s may trigger change-in-control or other provisions in certainii agreements that we are party
to.

The completion of the Combinations may trigger change-in-control or other provisions in certain agreements that we are
party to. If we are unablea to negotiate waivers of those provisions, the respective counterparties may exercise their rights and
remedies under the applicablea agreements, including in some instances potentially terminating the agreements or seeking
monetary damages. Even if we are able to negotiate waivers, the respective counterparties may require a fee for such waivers or
seek to renegotiate the agreements on terms less favorable to the combined business.

Intellectual Property Risks

To remain competm ittt ivtt e, we must continueii to develop and obtainii proprietarytt technologyll rights; otherwise, we maya lose
market share or need to reduce prices as a resultll of competitorsii sellingll lower priced or technologicll allyll superior products or
services that compete withtt our products.

Our ability to compete successfully in the diagnostic market depends on continued development and introduction of new
proprietary technology and the improvement of existing technology. If we cannot continue to improve upon or develop, obtain
and protect proprietary technology, we may lose market share or need to reduce prices as a result of competitors selling lower
priced or technologically superior products or services that compete with our products, and our operating results could be
adversely affectff ed.
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Our competitive position is heavily dependent on obtaining and protecting our own proprietary technology or obtaining
licenses from others. Our ability to obtain patents and licenses, and their benefits, is uncertain.

• We have issued patents both in the US and internationally in various countries including, among others, Australia,
Canada, China, Japan, various European countries and South Africa. Additionally, we have patent applications
pending in the US and various foreign jurisdictions. These pending patent applications may not result in the issuance
of any patents, or if issued, may not have priority over others’ applications or may not offer meaningful protection
against competitors with similar technology or may not otherwise provide commercial value. Moreover, any patents
issued to us may be challenged, invalidated, found unenforceablea or circumvented in the future. Third parties can
make, use and sell products covered by our patents in any country in which we do not have patent protection.

• We also license the right to use our products to our customers under labea l licenses that are for research purposes only.
These licenses could be contested and, because we cannot monitor all potential unauthorized uses of our proprietary
technology around the world, we might not be aware of an unauthorized use or might not be able to enforce the license
restrictions in a cost-effective manner.

• Our current and futuret licenses may not be adequate for the operation of our business. In the future,t we expect that we
will require or desire additional licenses from other parties in order to refine our products further and to allow us to
develop, manufacturet and market commercially viable or superior products. We may not be able to obtain licenses for
technology patented by others that is required to produce our products on commercially reasonable terms, if at all.

To protect or enforce our patent rights, it may be necessary for us to initiate patent litigation proceedings against third
parties, such as infringement suits or interference proceedings. These lawsuits would be expensive, take significant time and
could divert management’s attention from other business concerns. In the event that we seek to enforce any of our patents
against an infringing party, it is likely that the party defending the claim will seek to invalidate the patents we assert, which
could put our patents at risk of being invalidated, held unenforceable, or interpreted narrowly, and our patent applications at risk
of not being issued. If we pursue any such claim, our claims could fail or the damages or other remedies awarded to us, if any,
could hold little to no economic value. Further, these lawsuits may provoke the defendants to assert claims against us, which
carries further risk, described in the risk factor below.

In addition to our patents, we rely on confidentiality agreements and other similar arrangements with our employees and
other persons who have access to our proprietary and confidential information, together with trade secrets and other common
law rights, to protect our proprietary and confidential technology. These agreements and laws may not provide meaningful
protection for our proprietary technology in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure of such information or in the event that
our competitors independently develop technologies that are substantially equivalent or superior to ours. Moreover, the laws of
some foreign jurisdictions may not protect intellectualt property rights to the same extent as those in the US. In the event of
unauthorized use or disclosure of such information, if we encounter difficulties or are otherwise unablea to effecff tively protect
our intellectualt property rights domestically or in foreign jurisdictions, our business, operating results and financial condition
could be materially and adversely affecff ted.

Inteltt lell ctual property risksii and third-partytt claill msii of infringen ment, misappropriii ation of propriff etarytt rightsi or othertt claill msii
against us couldll adversely affect our abiliii tyii to market our products, require us to redesign our products or attett mpt to seek
licenses from third parties, and materiallyll adversely affect our operatingn results.ll In additiii on, the defense of such claimsii
could resultll in significi ant costs and divert the attett ntion of our managemea nt and othertt keye emplm oyell es.

Companies in or related to our industry often aggressively protect and pursue their intellectualt property rights. In
developing and producing new products and entering new markets, we may not be able to obtain, at reasonable cost or upon
commercially reasonable terms, if at all, licenses to intellectual property of others that is alleged to be part of such new or
existing products. From time to time, we have received, and may continue to receive, notices that claim we have infringed upon,
misappropriated or misused other parties’ proprietary rights. Moreover, we are and have been subject to litigation with parties
that claim, among other matters, that we infringed their patents or other intellectualt property rights.

We have hired and will continue to hire individuals or contractors who have experience in medical diagnostics and these
individuals or contractors may have confidential trade secret or proprietary information of third parties. These individuals or
contractors may use third-party information in connection with performing services for us or otherwise reveal this third-party
information to us. For these and other reasons, we could be sued for misappropriaa tion of proprietary information and trade
secrets. Such claims are expensive to defend and could result in substantial damage awards and injunctions that could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or results of operations. In addition, to the extent that individuals or
contractors apply technical or scientific information independently developed by them to our projects, disputes may arise as to
the proprietary rights to such data and may result in litigation.
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The defense and prosecution of patent and trade secret claims are both costly and time consuming. We or our customers
may be sued by other parties that claim that our products have infringed their patents or misappropriaa ted their proprietary rights
or that may seek to invalidate one or more of our patents. An adverse determination in any of these types of disputes could
prevent us from manufacturingt or selling some of our products, limit or restrict the type of work that employees involved with
such products may perform for us, increase our costs and expose us to significant liability.

As a general matter, our involvement in litigation or in any claims to determine proprietary rights, as may arise from time
to time, could materially and adversely affecff t our business, financial condition and results of operations for reasons such as:

• it may of itself cause our distributors or end-users to reduce or terminate purchases of our products;
• the outcome of such litigation would be uncertain and a court may find any third-party patent claims valid and

infringed by our products (issuing a preliminary or permanent injunction) that would require us to procure costly
licensing arrangements from third parties or withdraw or recall such products from the market, redesign such products
offered for sale or under development or restrict employees from performing work in their areas of expertise;

• governmental agencies may commence investigations or criminal proceedings against our employees, former
employees and us relating to claims of misappropriation or misuse of another party’s proprietary rights;

• an adverse outcome could subject us to significant liability in the form of past royalty payments, penalties, special and
punitive damages, the opposing party’s attorneys’ fees, and futuret royalty payments significantly affecting our futuret
earnings; and

• failure to obtain a necessary license (upon commercially reasonable terms, if at all) upon an adverse outcome could
prevent us from selling our current products or other products we may develop.

Even if licenses to intellectual property rights are available, they can be costly. We have entered into various licensing
agreements, which largely require payments based on specified product sales and/or the achievement of specific milestones.
Royalty and license expenses under these arrangements collectively totaled $2.0 million, $2.4 million and $1.1 million for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

In addition to the foregoing, we may also be required to indemnify certain customers, distributors and strategic partners
under our agreements with such parties if a third party alleges or if a court finds that our products or activities have infringed
upon, misappropriated or misused another person’s proprietary rights. Further, our products may contain technology provided
to us by other parties such as contractors, suppliers or customers. We may have little or no ability to determine in advance
whether such technology infringes the intellectualt property rights of a third party. Our contractors, suppliers and licensors may
not be required or financially able to indemnify us in the event that a claim of infringement is asserted against us, or they may
be required to indemnify us only up to a maximum amount, above which we would be responsible for any further costs or
damages.

Government and Regulatory Risks

Our COVID-19II products were approved by the FDADD through an EUAUU and the loss of such authorizationii could have a
materialtt adverse impactm on our business,ii resultsll of operations, financial position and cash flows.

The FDA can authorize the emergency use of an unapproved medical product or an unapproved use of an approved
medical product for certain emergency circumstances after the HHS Secretary has made a declaration of emergency justifying
authorization of emergency use. An EUA allows use in an emergency to diagnose, treat, or prevent serious or life-threatening
diseases or conditions caused by emerging infectious disease threats when there are no adequate, approved, and available
alternatives. The FDA may also waive otherwise applicable CGMP requirements to accommodate emergency response needs.
All of our current COVID-19 products for testing for the COVID-19 virus were obtained under EUAs. EUAs are only effecff tive
until the emergency declaration by the HHS Secretary ends and EUAs can also be revised or revoked by the FDA at any time as
the FDA continues to evaluate the availablea data concerning the efficff acy and safety of the product, including with respect to
whether there exists superior approved products. The loss of one or more of our EUAs for our COVID-19 products could have
a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations, financial position or cash flows.
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Our businesii s and products are highlyll regulatll edtt by various governmental agencies. Our resultsll of operations wouldll be
negatively affected by failurii es or delaysyy in the receipt of regulate orytt approvals, cleall rances or authoritt zatiii ons, the loss of
previouslyll received approvals or other changes to existingtt laws and regulate ionstt that adversely impactm our abilityii to
manufactu ure and marketrr our products.

The testing, manufacture and sale of our products are subjecb t to regulation by numerous governmental authorities in the
US, principally the FDA and corresponding state and foreign regulatory agencies. For example, the FDA regulates most of our
products, which are currently all Class I or II devices. Our futuret performance depends on, among other matters, if, when and at
what cost we will receive regulatory approval, clearances or authorizations for new products in the US and internationally.
Regulatory review can be a lengthy, expensive and uncertain process, making the timing and costs of clearances and approvals
difficult to predict. Similarly, conducting clinical studiet s that may be required for regulatory approvals or clearances is a
complex, time-consuming and expensive process, requiring months or years to complete, and our studies are not guaranteed to
generate data that demonstrate safetyt and effecff tiveness or substantial equivalence of the evaluated product.

In addition, even after we obtain necessary authorizations, clearances or approvals to market our products, the FDA and
other regulatory agencies may require post-market testing and additional surveillance to monitor the performance and use of
approved products or may place conditions on any product approvals that could restrict the commercial applications of those
products. Our results of operations would be negatively affecff ted by failures or delays in the receipt of regulatory authorizations,
approvals or clearances, changes in laws and regulations, the loss of previously received authorizations, approvals or clearances
or the placement of limits on the manufacture,t marketing and use of our products. For example, prior to our acquisition of the
Triage Business, the Summers Ridge, San Diego manufacturingt facility was subject to a 2012 FDA inspection that resulted in
an FDA warning letter and recalls of certain Triage meter-based products and revised release specifications for certain Triage
meter-based products, which will not be formally closed-out with the FDA until after a future inspection. We cannot assure you
that the government will find efforts to resolve the FDA warning letter to be satisfactory. We cannot predict whether other
governments’ regulatory authorities will require additional remedial or corrective actions in the future,t and the issues arising out
of the FDA inspection may be expanded to cover other matters.

Additionally, once a medical device is permitted to be legally marketed in the US pursuant to a 510(k) clearance, a
manufacturer may be required to notify the FDA of certain modifications to the device (similar requirements apply in other
jurisdictions). Manufacturers determine in the first instance whether a change to a product requires a new 510(k) clearance or
premarket submission, but the FDA may review any manufacturer’s decision. The FDA may not agree with our decisions
regarding whether new clearances are necessary. We have made modifications to our products in the past and have determined
based on our review of the applicablea FDA regulations and guidance that in certain instances new 510(k) clearances or other
premarket submissions were not required. We may make similar modifications or add additional featurest in the futuret that we
believe do not require a new 510(k) clearance. If the FDA disagrees with our determinations and requires us to submitu new
510(k) notifications, we may be required to cease marketing or to recall the modified product until we obtain clearance, and we
may be subject to civil and criminal, monetary and non-monetary penalties and damage to our reputation.

We are also subject to the provisions of a federal law commonly known as the anti-kickback statutet , and several similar
state laws, which prohibit payments intended to induce physicians or others to arrange for or recommend the acquisition of
healthcare products or services. While the federal law applies only to products or services for which payment may be made by a
federal healthcare program, state laws often apply regardless of whether federal funds may be involved. These laws constrain
the sales, marketing and other promotional activities of manufacturerst of medical devices by limiting the kinds of financial
arrangements, including sales programs that may be used with hospitals, physicians, laborata ories and other potential purchasers
of medical devices, including our products.

The advertising, marketing, and labela ing of medical devices is highly regulated by the FDA and FTC. Our efforts to
promote our products, including via direct-to-consumer marketing or social media initiatives, could subject us to additional
scrutiny of our communication of risk information, benefits or claims, by the FDA, FTC, or both.

We must also comply with numerous other laws applicablea to billing and payment for healthcare services, including
privacy laws. Failure to comply with these requirements may result in non-payment, refunds, exclusion from government
healthcare programs and civil or criminal liabilities, any of which may have a material adverse effecff t on our revenues, earnings
and cash flows. In addition, failure by third-party payers to properly process our payment claims in a timely manner could delay
our receipt of payment for our products, which may have a material adverse effect on our cash flows.
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Our contractt ts withii government entitiii es involve future funding,n complim ancei ,e and possibleii sanctions risks.

During 2020, we significantly expanded the number and scope of contracts we entered into with government entities.
These contracts involve future funding and compliance risks. These contracts, like our NIH RADx-ATP contract, are subject to
risks such as lack of funding or termination and heightened legal compliance requirements, and we may not be able to meet key
deliverables and milestones. These contracts might not be renewed or might be terminated for convenience with little or no
prior notice. Government contracts may expose us to higher potential liability than do other types of contracts. In addition,
government contracts typically are subject to procurement laws that include socio-economic, employment practices,
environmental protection, recordkeeping and accounting and other requirements. For example, our contracts with the US
government generally require us to complym with the Federal Acquisition Regulations, FCA, Procurement Integrity Act, Buy
American Act and Trade Agreements Act. Government contracts subject us to government audits, investigations and oversight
proceedings. Government agencies routinely review and audit government contractors to determine whether they are complying
with contractualt and legal requirements. Implementing policies, procedures and controls relating to the accounting and
recordkeeping requirements is expensive and could divert management’s attention from other concerns. If we fail to comply
with these requirements, or we fail an audit, we are subject to various sanctions such as monetary damages, criminal and civil
penalties, termination of contracts and suspension or debarment from government contract work. These requirements
complicate our business and increase our complim ance burden. The failure to meet key deliverables, milestones or compliance
requirements could harm our reputation and might have a materially adverse impact on our business operations and our
financial position or results of operations.

If one or more of our products is claimll ed to be defece tive,e we could be subject to claimll s of liabiliii tyii and harm to our
reputatitt on that could adversely affect our business.ii

Our product development and production processes are complex and could expose our products to claims of
defectiveness. Alleged manufacturingt and design defects could lead to recalls (either voluntary or required by the FDA or other
government authorities) and could result in the removal of one or more of our products from the market. Similarly, our
diagnostic products could lead to a false positive or false negative result, affecting the eventualt diagnosis or treatment of a
patient and could lead to allegations that our products have caused injury or are found to be unsuitablea for their intended use.
We believe the risk of a product liability claim is heightened for at-home tests that may be purchased and administered by the
end user customer and not a medical professional and our communication of risk information, benefits or claims, which is
highly regulated by the FTC and FDA could be alleged to be misleading or erroneous. If the FTC or FDA allege or establish
that any of our communications are misleading, we could be subject to litigation and material penalties and fines. A defect or
claim of a defect in the design or manufacture of our products could also have a material adverse effect on our reputation in the
industry. Moreover, any product liability or other claim brought against us, regardless of merit, could be costly to defend.

We use hazardous materials in our businessii that may resultll in substantialtt claimll s against us relatingtt to handling,n storage or
disposal.ll

We are subject to other substantial regulation relating to environmental, health and safety matters, including occupational
health and safety, environmental protection, hazardous substance control, and waste management and disposal. Compliance
with such laws and regulations requires significant effortff and costs. For examplem , our research and development and
manufacturingt activities involve the controlled use of hazardous materials that may be subject to federal statutt es commonly
known as the Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (“CERCLA”), Resource Conservation
and Recovery Act (“RCRA”), and the Clean Water Act, among other laws and regulations. In addition, if any governmental
authorities impose new regulations with additional compliance burdens or alter their interpretation of the requirements of such
existing regulations, such regulations could impair our research, development or production efforts by imposing additional, and
possibly substau ntial, costs, restrictions or compliance procedures on our business or operations.

Given the nature of the penalties provided for in some of these regulations, we could be required to pay sizablea fines,
penalties or damages in the event of noncompliance with laws. Any violation or remediation requirement could also partially or
completely shut down our research and manufacturing facilities and operations, which would have a material adverse effect on
our business. Further, accidental contamination or injury from these hazardous materials could lead to exposure of these
materials to individuals, which could result in substantial fines, penalties or damages that are not covered by insurance.
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Complying withii various US federal, statett and foreign privacy and data securitytt lawll sw and privacyc requirementstt from our
customersrr couldll cause us to incuii r substantitt ali costs or require us to change our businesii s practices in a manner adverse to
our businesii s.

Certain of our digital solutions, such as our QVue Business mobile application, collect, use, process, and store personal or
identifying information regarding customers or other end users, and we are subjecb t to privacy and data security laws and
regulations that impose obligations in connection with the collection, use, processing and storage of such personal or
identifying information. US federal, state and foreign governments and agencies in the jurisdictions in which we operate and in
which our customers operate have adopted, are considering adopting or may adopt new privacy and data security laws and
regulations regarding the collection, use, processing and storage of information obtained from consumers and other end users,
which could impact our ability to offer certain of our digital solutions and services in certain jurisdictions. Furthermore, foreign
privacy laws impose significant obligations on US companies to protect the personal information of foreign citizens. It is
possible that these laws may be interpreted and applied in a manner that is inconsistent with our data practices, which could
have a material adverse effect on our business. Complying with these various laws could cause us to incur substantial costs or
require us to change our business practices in a manner adverse to our business. Privacy laws and regulations relating to the
collection, use, disclosure, security and other processing of individuals’ information can vary significantly from jurisdiction to
jurisdiction. Uncertainty and changes in the requirements of multiple jurisdictions may increase the cost of complim ance, delay or
reduce demand for certain of our digital solutions, restrict our ability to offer certain digital solutions in certain jurisdictions or
subject us to sanctions by US federal and state and foreign data protection regulators, all of which could negatively impact our
business.

We also may be bound by contractual obligations and other obligations relating to privacy, data protection and
information security that are more stringent than applicable privacy laws and regulations. The costs of compliance with, and
other burdens imposedm by, laws, regulations, standards and other contractual obligations relating to privacy, data protection and
information security are significant. In addition, some companies, particularly larger or global enterprises, often will not
contract with vendors that do not meet these rigorous standards and often seek contractualt terms to ensure we are financially
liable for any breach of laws or regulations.

In addition to government actions, privacy advocacy groups, the technology industry and other industries have establia shed
or may establia sh various new, additional or different self-regulatory standards that may place additional burdens on us. Our
customers may expect us to meet voluntary certifications or adhere to other standards establia shed by them or third parties, and
we may be required or otherwise find it advisable to obtain certain of these certifications or adhere to these standards. If we are
unable to maintain these certifications or meet these standards, it could reduce demand for our solutions and adversely affect
our business.

Our actualt or perceived failure to comply with these privacy and data security laws or privacy requirements may limit or
delay the use and adoption of our digital solutions, reduce overall demand for our digital solutions or lead to regulatory
investigations, breach of contract claims, litigation or significant fines, penalties or liabila ities for actualt or alleged
noncompliance, any of which could negatively impact our business.

Changes in tax law relatingtt to multinationii al corporationstt could adversely affect our taxaa position.

The US Congress, government agencies in non-US jurisdictions where we and our affiliates do business, and the
Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development (“OECD”) have focused on issues related to the taxation of
multinational corporations. One example is in the area of “base erosion and profit shifting,” for which the OECD has released
several components of its comprehensive plan that have been adopted and expanded by many taxing authorities to address
perceived tax abuse and inconsistencies between tax jurisdictions. As a result, the tax laws in the US and other countries in
which we do business could change on a prospective or retroactive basis, and any such changes could adversely affecff t our
business and financial statements.
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Risks Related to Our Acquisitions

IfII we are not able to manage our growth strategytt or if we experixx ence diffici ultiett s identifyii ngii or integrtt atingn companiesm or
technologies we may acquire,e our operatingii resultsll maya be adversely affected.

Our business strategy contemplates further growth, which we expect to result in expanding the scope of operating and
financial systems and the geographica al area of our operations, including further expansion outside the US, as new products and
technologies are developed and commercialized or new geographical markets are entered. Because we have a relatively small
executive team, acquisitions, including the pending Combinations, and other futuret growth may divert management’s attention
from other aspects of our business and place a strain on existing management and our operational, financial and management
information systems. Furthermore, we may expand into markets in which we have less experience or incur higher costs. Some
of our growth is expected to come from acquisitions of businesses and technologies. However, we cannot be certain that we will
be able to successfully identify and acquire attractive targets.

Other risks associated with acquiring other technologies or businesses, including the pending Combinations, include:
• we may not realize our anticipated benefits and cost savings within our expected time frame, or at all, or may

experience unexpected costs and expenditures;
• diffiff culties transitioning and integrating the operations of companim es or technologies that we acquire with our own

operations, including difficulties integrating personnel, information systems, and internal control systems;
• adverse effecff ts on our existing business relationships;
• potential loss of management and other key employees of the acquired businesses and inabila ity to attract new

employees;
• potential litigation arising from the acquired business’s operations;
• potential contractual, regulatory, compliance, intellectualt property or employment issues;
• increased exposure to international operations and sales, including fluctuations in foreign currency; and other

economic, political and regulatory risks;
• write-downs of goodwill, intangible assets or other assets associated with the acquisitions; and
• inability to obtain financing for acquisitions on satisfactory terms, or at all.

We can give no assurance that we will be able to successfully identify, complete and integrate strategic acquisitions.
Should we encounter difficulties in managing these tasks and risks, our growth strategy may suffer and our revenue,
profitability and financial condition could be adversely affected.

Transitiii oning the BNPNN Businessii to Beckman presentstt certainii risksii to our businessii and operations.

On October 6, 2017, we acquired the Triage and BNP Businesses from Alere. On July 24, 2021, we entered into
agreements with Beckman to transition the BNP Business to Beckman. Pursuant to these agreements, we are obligated to
supply to Beckman the antibody that Beckman uses in manufacturing its BNP tests and Beckman is obligated to pay us annual
payments (payable quarterly) based on the sales volume of Beckman’s BNP tests, which payments are subject to agreed upon
aggregate minimum and maximum amounts per year. These agreements also obligate us to pay to Alere the deferred
consideration payable for the BNP Business even if Beckman does not make the guaranteed minimum payments to us, whether
as a result of Beckman’s failure to perform under the agreements, our failure to supply the antibody needed to manufacture the
BNP tests or otherwise, which presents risks to our business and operations.
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Corporate Finance Risks

We may need to raiseii additionaltt funds to finance our future capitalii or operatingii needs,s which couldll have adverse
consequences on our operations and the intertt ests of our stockholtt derll s.rr

We may need to seek to raise funds through the issuance of public or private debt or the sale of equity to achieve our
business strategy. In addition, we may need debt or equity financing to complete acquisitions, including to fund the cash
consideration payable in connection with the Combinations. If we raise funds or acquire other technologies or businesses
through issuance of equity, this could dilute the interests of our stockholders. Such financing activities may also depress the
market price of shares of our common stock and impair our ability to raise capita al through the sale of additional equity
securities. Moreover, the availabila ity of additional capita al, whether debt or equity from private capita al sources (including banks)
or the public capia tal markets, fluctuates as our financial condition and industry or market conditions in general change. There
may be times when the private capita al markets and the public debt or equity markets lack sufficient liquidity or when we cannot
otherwise raise additional capita al or issue additional debt on acceptablea terms, if at all.

Additional indebtedness could be costly or have adverse consequences, such as:
• requiring us to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flows from operations to payments on our debt;
• limiting our ability to obtain futuret financing for working capia tal, capia tal expenditures, acquisitions, debt obligations

and other general corporate requirements;
• making us more vulnerable to adverse conditions in the general economy or our industry and to fluctuations in our

operating results, including affecff ting our ability to comply with and maintain any financial tests and ratios required
under our indebtedness;

• limiting our flexibility to engage in certain transactions or to plan for, or react to, changes in our business and the
diagnostics industry;

• putting us at a disadvantage compared to competitors that have less relative and/or less restrictive debt; and
• subjecting us to additional restrictive financial and other covenants.

If we incur substantial additional indebtedness in the future, these higher levels of indebtedness may affecff t our ability to
pay the principal of and interest on existing indebtedness and our creditworthiness generally. Our business may not continue to
generate cash flow from operations in the futuret sufficient to service or repay our debt. Our ability to refinance our
indebtedness will depend on the capita al markets and our financial condition at such time. We may not be able to engage in any
of these activities or engage in these activities on desirablea terms, which could result in a default on our debt obligations.

Our debt, deferree d and contingentt t payment obligatii ons couldll materialtt lyll adversely affect our financii ial conditiontt and resultsll
of operations.

We have a $175.0 million Revolving Credit Facility as described in Note 3 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in Part II, Item 8 of this Annual Report, and may incur other indebtedness from time to time. We currently have no
borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility, but we will continue to have the ability to borrow under the facility. In addition
to our Revolving Credit Facility, we will continue to have the ability to incur additional debt. We also have payment obligations
for the BNP Business acquisition as described in Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in Part II, Item 8 of
this Annual Report. Additionally, as discussed under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations—Recent Developments” in Part II, Item 7 of this Annual Report, if the Combinations are completed,
Ortho’s current net debt of $2.1 billion is expected to continue to be outstanding following the closing of the Combinations.

The degree to which we are leveraged and are subject to deferred and contingent payment obligations could have
important or materially adverse consequences to our business and operating results, including:

• our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for working capita al, capita al expenditures,t acquisitions and
general corporate purposes may be impaired;

• the payment of our deferredr and contingent payment obligations reduces the funds available to us for our operations
and other strategic objectives;

• our debt agreements contain, and any agreements to refinaff nce our debt likely will contain, financial and other
restrictive covenants, and our failure to comply with them may result in an event of default, which, if not cured or
waived, could have a material adverse effect on us;

• our level of indebtedness and deferred and contingent payment obligations may increase our vulnerabila ity to, and
reduce our flexibility to respond to, general economic downturnst and adverse industry and business conditions;
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• to the extent the debt we incur requires collateral to secure such indebtedness, our assets could be at risk and our
flexibility related to such assets could be limited;

• our debt service and deferred and contingent payment obligations could limit our flexibility in planning for, or reacting
to, changes in our business and industry;

• any borrowings under our Revolving Credit Facility will be at variable rates of interest, which may result in higher
interest expense in the event of market interest rates; and

• any default under our Revolving Credit Facility may result in proceedings against collateral we have used to secure
such borrowings, including substantially all of our and our guarantor subsidiaries’ assets.

General Risk Factors

Our businessii could be negate ivtt elyll affectedtt by the loss of or the inabilitll ytt to hire key personnel.

Our future success depends in part on our ability to retain our key personnel, including manufacturing, research and
development, technical, sales, marketing and executive personnel and our ability to identify and hire additional qualified
personnel. Competition for these personnel is intense, both in the industry in which we operate and where our operations are
located. Further, we expect to grow our operations, and our needs for additional management and other key personnel are
expected to increase. If we fail to retain existing key personnel, or timely identify and hire replacement or additional qualified
personnel to meet expected growth, such failure could adversely impact our business. In addition, the loss of any of our key
personnel, particularly key manufacturing, research and development and technical personnel, could harm our business and
prospects and could impede the achievement of our research and development, operations or strategic objectives.

We are subject to, and may in the future become subject to, claimll s and litigii ationtt that could resultll in significi ant expenses
and couldll ultimatii eltt yll result in an unfavorable outcome for us.

From time to time, we are involved in litigation and other proceedings, including matters related to product liability
claims, commercial disputes and intellectualt property claims, as well as regulatory, employment, and other claims related to our
business. Litigation related to our company, our business, and our operations or financial performance may also involve
customers, competm itors, suppliers, patients, shareholders, governmental authorities or other third parties. Litigation can be
lengthy, expensive and disruptive to our operations, and results cannot be predicted with certainty. An adverse decision could
result in significant settlement amounts, monetary damages, fines or injunctive relief that could affect our financial condition or
results of operations. Even if lawsuits do not result in an unfavorable outcome, the costs of defending or prosecuting such
lawsuits may be material to our business and our operations. Moreover, these lawsuits may divert management’s attention from
the operation of our business, which could adversely affect our business and results of operations.

Furthermore, in the ordinary course of business, we must frequently make subjective judgments with respect to
compliance with applicable laws and regulations. If regulators disagree with the manner in which we have sought to comply
with applicablea laws and regulations, we could be subjected to substantial civil and criminal penalties, as well as field corrective
actions, product recalls, seizures or injunctions with respect to the sale of our products. The assessment of any civil and
criminal penalties against us could severely impair our reputation within the industry and affect our operating results, and any
limitation on our ability to manufacture and market our products could also have a material adverse effect on our business.

We are exposed to business riskii which, if not covered by insurance, could have an adverse effect on our results of
operations.

We face a number of business risks, including exposure to product liability claims. Although we maintain insurance for a
number of these risks, we may face claims for types of damages, or for amounts of damages, that are not covered by our
insurance. For example, there is a risk that product liability or other claims may exceed the amount of our insurance coverage or
may be excluded from coverage under the terms of our policy. Also, our existing insurance may not be renewed at the same
cost and level of coverage as currently in effecff t or may not be renewed at all. Further, we do not currently have insurance
against many environmental risks we confront in our business. If we are held liable for a claim against which we are not insured
or for damages exceeding the limits of our insurance coverage, whether arising out of product liability matters, cybersecurity
matters, or from some other matter, that claim could have a material adverse effecff t on our results of operations.
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Changes in our taxaa ratestt or exposurexx to additiii onal income taxaa liabilii itll iett s or assessments could affecff t our profitabiii liii tyii .yy

We are subject to income taxes in the US and in various non-US jurisdictions. In addition, the amount of income taxes we
pay is subject to ongoing audits by US federal, state and local tax authorities and by non-US tax authorities. Due to the potential
for changes to tax laws (or changes to the interpretation thereof) and the ambiguity of tax laws, the subjecb tivity of factualt
interpretations, the complexity of our foreign operations and intercompany arrangements and other factors, our estimates of
income tax assets or liabilities may differ from actual payments, assessments or receipts. If these audits result in payments or
assessments different from our reserves, our future results may include unfavorablea adjustments to our tax liabilities and our
financial statements could be adversely affecff ted. If we determine to repatriate earnings from foreign jurisdictions that have been
considered permanently re-invested under existing accounting standards, it could also increase our effective tax rate. In
addition, any significant change to the tax system in the US or in other jurisdictions could adversely affecff t our financial
statements.

Some provisionsii of our chartertt documents and Delaware law may make takeover attemptstt difficult, which could depressee the
price of our common stocktt and inhibit our stockholdett rs’ abilityii to receive a premium price for their shares.

Provisions of our amended and restated certificate of incorporation could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire
control of our business, even if such change in control would be beneficial to our stockholders. Our amended and restated
certificate of incorporation allows our Board to issue up to five million shares of preferred stock and to fix the rights and
preferences of such shares without stockholder approval. Any such issuance could make it more difficult for a third party to
acquire our business and may adversely affecff t the rights of our stockholders. Our amended and restated bylaws include advance
notice requirements for stockholder proposals that require stockholders to give written notice of any proposal or director
nomination to us within a specified period of time prior to any stockholder meeting and do not permit stockholders to call a
special meeting of the stockholders, unless such stockholders hold at least 50% of our stock entitled to vote at the meeting. We
are also subject to anti-takeover provisions under Delaware law. These provisions may delay, deter or prevent a change in
control of us, adversely affecff ting the market price of our common stock.

Expectationstt of our performance related to ESG matters may impose additiii onal costs on us and exposexx us to new risks.

There is an increasing focus from certain investors, customers, vendors, employees and other stakeholders concerning
corporate responsibility, specifically related to ESG factors. Many investors may use these factors to guide their investment
strategies and, in some cases, may choose not to invest in us if they believe our ESG performance is inadequate. Third-party
providers of corporate responsibility ratings and reports have increased in number to meet growing investor demand for
measurement of ESG performance. The criteria by which our corporate responsibility practices are assessed may change,
which could result in greater expectations of us and cause us to undertake costly initiatives to satisfy such new criteria. If we
elect not to or are unablea to satisfy such new criteria, investors may conclude that our performance related to corporate
responsibility and ESG matters is inadequate. Moreover, our market capia talization has increased significff antly in the last couple
of years. Accordingly, we may be benchmarked against larger peer companies, some of which may have more resources than
us and thus may have achieved better ESG performance and/or a higher ESG rating profile. We may face reputational damage
if our ESG performance or ESG rating profile is, or is perceived as being, below those of our competitors or peer companies. In
addition, we could fail, or be perceived as failing, in our achievement of certain ESG-related initiatives or goals, or we could be
criticized for the scope of such initiatives or goals. If we fail to satisfy the expectations of investors, customers, vendors,
employees and other stakeholders related to our ESG performance or our ESG initiatives are not executed as planned, it could
adversely affectff our reputation, business, stock price, financial condition or results of operation.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.
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Item 2. Properties

At December 31, 2021, we occupied the indicated square footage in the leased and owned facff ilities described below:

Location Status Lease term
Square
Footage Primary Use

San Diego, CA
(Summers Ridge)

Leased (1) 2033 - options to extend for two
additional 5-year periods

246,000 Administrative offices, sales and marketing,
research and development and
manufacturing (principal executive offices)

Carlsbad, CA
(Rutherford)

Leased 2036 - options to extend for two
additional 5-year periods

128,000 Manufacturing

San Diego, CA
(Waplea s Ct.)

Leased 2031 - options to extend for two
additional 5-year periods

106,000 Office, light manufacturing,t storage,
packaging, assembly and distribution

San Diego, CA
(McKellar)

Owned (2) N/A 78,000 Administrative offices, research and
development and manufacturingt

San Diego, CA
(High Bluff)

Leased 2022 30,000 This office facility was vacated in 2019 and
sublet to a third party in 2020

Athens, OH Leased 2027 111,000 Administrative offices, sales and marketing,
research and development and
manufacturing

Beverly, MA Leased 2023 - option to extend for one
additional 3-year period

9,700 Administrative offices, research and
development and manufacturingt

Shanghai, China Leased 2024 - option to extend for one
additional 2-year period

8,500 Administrative offices, sales and marketing

Galway, Ireland Leased 2028 3,900 Administrative offices, sales and marketing

(1) The Summers Ridge lease is subject to certain must-take provisions related to one additional building, consisting of
approximately 71,000 square feet. See Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report.

(2) A wholly owned subsidiau ry of the Company purchased the McKellar property in August 2021. Prior to the purchase date,
the Company was leasing the property through 2030.

We believe that our facilities are adequate for our current needs, and we currently do not anticipate any material difficulty
in renewing any of our leases as they expire or securing additional or replacement facilities, in each case, on commercially
reasonable terms. However, in anticipation of our growth strategy, we may pursue additional facff ilities.

Item 3. Legal Proceedings

The information set forth in “Litigation and Other Legal Proceedings” in Note 8 to the Consolidated Financial Statements
included in this Annual Report is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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Part II

Item 5. Market forff Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity
Securities

Our common stock is traded on the Nasdaq Global Market under the symbol “QDEL.”

As of Februaryrr 11, 2022, we had approxia mately 268 common stockholders of record and we do not anticipate paying any
cash dividends in the foreseeable futff ure.t

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

The tablea below sets forth information regarding repurchases of our common stock by us duringd the three months ended
December 31, 2021:

Period

Total number
of shares

purchased (1)
Average price
paid per share

Total number of shares
purchased as part of

publicly announced plans
or programs

Approximate dollar value
of shares that may yet be
purchased under the plans

or programs (2)

October 4, 2021 - October 31, 2021.............. 5,281 $ 130.16 — $ 52,894,442
November 1, 2021 - November 28, 2021...... 2,914 140.72 — 52,894,442
November 29, 2021 - January 2, 2022.......... 274 139.79 — 52,894,442
Total .............................................................. 8,469 $ 134.11 — $ 52,894,442

(1) Includes shares surrendered, if any, to the Company to satisfy the payment of minimum tax withholding obligations and/or
option exercise price obligations in connection with stock option exercise transactions and equity award vesting.

(2) On December 18, 2018, the Company announced a stock repurchase program to repurchase up to $50.0 million of the
Company’s common stock, which was authorized by the Board on December 12, 2018. On August 28, 2020, the Board
authorized an increase of an additional $150.0 million to the Company’s existing stock repurchase program authorization,
which was announced on September 1, 2020. The Board also extended the stock repurchase program through August 28, 2022.
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STOCKHOLDER RETURN PERFORMANCE GRAPH

Set fortff h below is a line graph comparing the yearly percentage change in the cumulative total stockholder returnt on our
common stock with the cumulative total returnt of the Nasdaq Compositm e Index, Nasdaq US Benchmark Medical Supplies Index
and Nasdaq Health Care Index for the period beginning December 31, 2016 and ending December 31, 2021. The grapha assumes
(i) an initial investment of $100 on December 31, 2016 in our common stock, the Nasdaq Composite Index, the Nasdaq US
Benchmark Medical Supplies Index, and the Nasdaq Health Care Index and (ii) reinvestment of dividends. The stock price
performance of our common stock depicted in the grapha represents past performance only and is not necessarily indicative of
future performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR TOTAL CUMULATIVE RETURN
Among Quidel Corporation and the Nasdaq Composite, Nasdaq US Benchmark Medical Supplies and Nasdaq Health Care Indices

Quidel Corporation NASDAQ Composite
NASDAQ US Benchmark Medical Supplies NASDAQ Health Care (IXHC)
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Base Period
Company/Indexp y 12/31/2016 12/31/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2019 12/31/2020 12/31/2021

Quidel Corporation ................... $ 100.00 $ 202.38 $ 227.92 $ 350.28 $ 855.46 $ 630.21
Nasdaq Composite.................... $ 100.00 $ 128.24 $ 123.26 $ 166.68 $ 239.63 $ 290.63
Nasdaq US Benchmark
Medical Supplies ...................... $ 100.00 $ 130.54 $ 123.68 $ 182.74 $ 230.76 $ 275.85
Nasdaq Health Care .................. $ 100.00 $ 121.30 $ 116.25 $ 146.27 $ 191.72 $ 183.47

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations contains forward-looking statements within
the meaning of the federal securities laws that involve material risks and uncertainties. This discussion should be read in
conjunction with “A Warning About Forward-Looking Statements” on page 3 and the “Risk Factors” starting on page 22 of this
Annual Report. In addition, our discussion of the financial condition and results of operations of Quidel Corporation in this
Item 7 should be read in conjunction with our Consolidated Financial Statements and the related Notes included elsewhere in
this Annual Report. Discussion of our 2019 fiscal year specifically, as well as the year-to-year comparisons of our 2020
financial performance to 2019, that are not included in this Annual Report can be found in Part II, Item 7, “Management’s
Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” in our Annual Report for the year ended
December 31, 2020.

Overview and Executive Summary

Our primary mission is to advance diagnostics to improve human health. We have a leadership position in the
development, manufacturing and marketing of rapid diagnostic testing solutions. We separate these into our four product
categories: rapid immunoassay, cardiometabolic immunoassay, molecular diagnostic solutions and specialized diagnostic
solutions. We currently sell our products directly to end users and distributors, in each case, for professional use in physician
offices, hospitals, clinical laboraa tories, reference laboraa tories, urgent care clinics, leading universities, retail clinics, pharmacies
and wellness screening centers, as well as for individual, non-professional, OTC use. More recently, we have begun to reach
significant new markets as we introduced our QuickVue At-Home OTC COVID-19 test for reopening schools, and for health
departments, employers, entertainment centers and many other locations. We market our products through a network of
distributors and a direct sales force. We operate in one business segment that develops, manufactures and markets our products
globally.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, total revenue increased 2% to $1,698.6 million as comparem d to the year ended
December 31, 2020, and currency exchange rates had a minimal impact on the growth rate. Our revenues can be highly
concentrated over a small number of products. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, sales of our COVID-19
products accounted for 75% and 70% of total revenue, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
sales of our influenza products, as a percentage of total revenue, accounted for 4%, 8%, and 26%, respectively. Additionally, a
significant portion of our total revenue is from a relatively small number of distributors. Approximately 49%, 68% and 51% of
our total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, were related to sales through our four
largest distributors.

Recent Developments

On December 22, 2021, we entered into the BCA with Ortho, Topco, US Holdco Sub, US Merger Sub and US Holdco
Sub 2. Under the terms of the BCA, we are entering into the Combinations with Ortho under Topco, a new holding company.
The Combinations are expected to be implemented by way of (i) a scheme of arrangement to be undertaken by Ortho under Part
26 of the UK Companies Act 2006 (the “Ortho Scheme”), pursuant to which each issued and outstanding share of Ortho (the
“Ortho Shares”) will be acquired by a nominee of Topco, such that Ortho will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Topco,
and (ii) a merger (the “Quidel Merger”) of US Merger Sub with and into us immediately following consummation of the Ortho
Scheme, with us surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Topco.

At the effective time of the Ortho Scheme, each Ortho Share will be acquired by a nominee on behalf and for the benefit
of Topco in exchange for 0.1055 shares of common stock of Topco (the “Topco Shares”) and $7.14 in cash. At the effective
time of the Quidel Merger, each share of our common stock (each, a “Quidel Share”) will be converted into the right to receive
one Topco Share. Ortho will be acquired for total consideration of approximately $4.3 billion (which is based on the February
9, 2022 closing price of $97.64 per Quidel Share), including $1.75 billion of cash, funded through cash on our balance sheet
and expected incremental borrowings. Following the closing of the Combinations, Ortho’s current net debt of $2.1 billion is
expected to continue to be outstanding.

If the Combinations are completed, Ortho shareholders are expected to own approximately 38% of Topco on a fully
diluted basis and our stockholders are expected to own approximately 62% of Topco on a fully diluted basis, based on Ortho’s
capita alization and our capita alization as of the date of the BCA. The parties intend to list the Topco Shares to be issued in the
Combinations on Nasdaq. For additional information about the pending Combinations and the preliminary unaudited pro forma
financial information, see Topco’s registration statement on Form S-4, filed with the SEC on January 31, 2022.
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Impact of COVID-19 Pandemic

Events surrounding the SARS-CoV-2 virus that emerged in late 2019 and the ensuing global pandemic has had a dramatic
impact on businesses globally and our business as well. The severity and duration of the pandemic and economic repercussions
of the virus and government actions in response to the pandemic remain uncertain and will ultimately depend on many factors,
including the speed of global dissemination and effectiveness of the vaccination and containment efforts throughout the world,
the duration and spread of the virus, as well as seasonality, variants or new outbreat ks.

In the US, federal, state, and local government directives and policies have been put in place to manage public health
concerns and address the economic impacts, including reduced business activity and overall uncertainty presented by this new
healthcare challenge. Similar actions have been taken by governments around the world. While all our facilities are currently
operational globally, our facilities could be required to temporarily curtail production levels or temporarim ly cease operations
based on government mandates or as a result of the pandemic. To mitigate risks, we continue to evaluate the extent to which
COVID-19 may impact our business and operations and adjust risk mitigation planning and business continuity activities as
needed.

New SARS-CoV-2CC Diagnosti ictt Products

As a leader in POC diagnostics and with established expertise in respiratory infectious disease products, we were and
remain well-positioned to respond to the COVID-19 pandemic. We work closely with national and local governments,
agencies, and industry partners to develop, manufacture and supply critical diagnostic products to support testing initiatives to
help curb the spread of the SARS-CoV-2 virus. In particular, we developed new molecular and antigen products to diagnose the
SARS-CoV-2 virus. We have experienced exceptional demand for such products. In response, we committed significant
resources toward the expansion of our production capaa city.

We expect demand for our molecular and antigen assays and instruments to continue for the near-term, especially in the
US. At the same time, we also have observed fluctuating demand for certain of our other diagnostic products. The extent to
which COVID-19 will impact demand for our products depends on future developments, which are highly uncertain and very
difficult to predict, including new information that may emerge concerning the severity of COVID-19, regulatory changes in
any of the markets in which we serve, impact of new SARS-CoV-2 variants and actions to contain and treat their impacm t,
including the vaccination programs that have been implemented.

Operationstt and Emplm oyell e Safetytt

hiWhille ma yny ggovernments iim lplementedd llockdkdown andd hshellt ier-i ln-place dorders, irequiringring non-esse inti lal b ibusinesses to hshut
ddown operatiions, our bbusiiness iis ddee dmed “essen itiall” dand we contiinuedd to operate, manufacturet andd di idistribbute dproducts to
customers. We iim lplementedd prepa dredness lplans ddesigneignedd to hhellp protect hthe saf yetyff of our em lpl yoyees andd maiint iain opera iti lonal
conti iinui yty iwi hth an em hphasiis on manufacturing,uring,t dproduct didi istrib ibution dand dproduct dde lvelopment d iduri gng hithis crii isis. To ddate, we
hhave bbeen blable to maiint iain our opera itions i hwithout signisignifificant iinterruptiion andd hhave bbeen blable to ddevellop andd iquicklykly scalle
manufac ituri gng capaca iityy for new dproducts lrelatedd to hthe COVID-19 pa dndemiic.

To imi itiggate hthe dpande imic’s iimpact, we iim lplementedd preventa itive prot locols iint dendedd to hhellp sa gfegua drd our ion-site
employeployees dand maiintaiin b ibusiness co inti inuityy. hThese measures hhave creat ded daddiditiionall b dburdens on our iinfrastructure dand IT
ysystems andd mayy res lult iin ddecreas ded dproduc iti ivityy dand iincreasedd opera iti gng costs. However, hthe va irious responses we hhave put iin
plaplace hhave to ddate res lult ded iin lili imitedd didisruptiion to our normall b ibusiness opera itions.

Supplyll Chains

As a res lult of hthe COVID-19 dpandemiic, we hhave seen ddellayys iin recei iivi gng certaiin raw materi lials andd components for our
productproducts. Suchh d ldel yays can res lult iin didi isruption to our b ibusiness operatiions. In response, we hhave iincreasedd safetyy kstock of cert iain
icri iticall components andd fi ifini hshedd goods,goods, for hi hwhich we hhave seen ext diraordi ynary ddema dnd. We are continuouslyinuously ev laluatinging our
supplysupply hch iain to ididentifyify potentiiall ggapsa andd takke steps iint dendedd to hhellp ensure conti iinui yty. We hhave co idnside dred potentiiall lpoliitiic lal,
llegalgal or regulregulat yory ac itions hthat co lduld bbe takken as a res lult of hthe dpande imic iin jurijuri disdic itions hwhere we manufacture,t source or
didist ibribute dproducts hthat lcouldd iimpact our supplysupply of dproducts to our customers or hthe availil biabilili yty of raw materi lials andd
components from our lisuppliers. We cannot curre lntlyy dipredict hthe freque yncy, ddura ition or scope of hthese ggovernment ac itions dand
yany supplyply didi isruptions, andd hthe availil biabilili yty of va irious pr doducts iis ddepe dndent on our lisuppliers, htheiir lloca ition dand hthe extent to
hiwhi hch hth yey are iimpact ded byby hthe COVID-19 pa dndemiic, am gong hother factors. We are proac iti lvelyy kiworki gng iwi hth manufacturerst ,
i dindust yry partners dand ggovernment gagenciies to hhellp meet hthe ne deds of our customers duringduring hthe pa dndemiic.
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Our iinvent yory lle lvels m yay flfluctuate ddue to supplysupply hch iain v iari biabilili yty iin conjconjunctiion wi hith lla grger andd more frequent customer
dorders. In response, w he have ddaddedd allternate s liuppliers for certaiin criitiic lal components a dnd iinstruments, iincreased id inve yntory of

raw mate irialls ne deded id in our operatiions, iincreas ded manufacturinguringt capaa ici yty andd contiinue to ex lplore iopportuni ities for f hfurther
expa insion iin our hAthens, Ohihio andd San iDi gego, Calilif ifornia ffacililiitiies. In Ja ynuary 2021, we signiignifificantlyly ex dpandedd our capaca iity by byy
ent ieri gng iint lo a l gong-term llease forff an daddiditiionall manufacturinguringt fa icilili yty iin Ca l b drlsbad, Calilif ifornia. hThiis facililiity by b gegan opera itions iin
Oc btober 2021.

We are se kieki gng to imi ini imize hthe iimpact of df d lel yays a dnd secure lalllocatiions of ivit lal raw mate irialls to meet ddema dnd for our
productproducts. However, dde dpendent on hthe miitigaiga ition efforts, we mayy contiinue to ex iperienc ie inte irruption to our supplyply hch iains, dand
suchh a in inte irruption lcouldd materiiallllyy affect our biabilili yty to itimelyly manufacturet and dd diist ibribute our dproducts dand unfa blvorablyy
iimpact our re lsults of operatiions dde dipendi gng on hthe naturet and dd duratd iion of such ih interruptiion.

Outlook

Our financial performance and results of operations will depend on futuret developments and other factors that are highly
uncertain, continuously evolving and unpredictablea , including the duration, severity and continuation of outbreat k surges of the
COVID-19 pandemic and actions to contain the spread of the virus such as mask wearing, social distancing and vaccination
efforts globally. While demand forff COVID-19 testing can flucff tuate dramatically, as we have seen in 2021, we believe some
level of COVID-19 testing demand will be sustainable through at least 2022. We believe ongoing COVID-19 testing will be
required as communities attempt a returnt to more normal practices in schools, the workplace and entertainment venues. With
respect to our core products, we anticipate revenue growth, assuming a normalized respiratory season.

We expect to continue to invest heavily in research and development activities for our next generation immunoassay and
molecular platforms, as well as additional assays to be launched on our current platforms. Additionally, we are making
substantial investments in the expansion of our production capaa city. While initially this expansion was to address the testing
demand driven by the COVID-19 pandemic, in the long-term, we expect this expansion to provide increased flexibility to
address opportunities forff new products and new markets globally. We intend to continue our focus on prudently managing our
business and delivering improved finaff ncial results, while at the same time striving to introduce new products into the market
and maintain our emphasis on research and development investments forff longer-term growth. Finally, we expect to continue to
evaluate strategic opportunitt ies to acquire new product lines, technologies and companim es.

Results of Operations

Comparison of years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020

Our fiscal year is the 52 or 53 weeks ending the Sunday closest to December 31. Fiscal year 2021 was 52 weeks and fiscal
year 2020 was 53 weeks.

Total Revenues

The following tablea compares total revenues forff the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands, except
percentages):

For the year ended December 31, Increase (decrease)
2021 2020 $ %

Rapid Immunoassay .................................................... $ 1,197,459 $ 1,144,831 $ 52,628 5 %
Cardiometabolic Immunoassay ................................... 255,788 242,933 12,855 5 %
Molecular Diagnostic Solutions .................................. 200,487 222,964 (22,477) (10)%
Specialized Diagnostic Solutions ................................ 44,817 50,940 (6,123) (12)%
Total revenues......................................................... $ 1,698,551 $ 1,661,668 $ 36,883 2 %
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For the year ended December 31, 2021, total revenues increased 2% to $1,698.6 million. The Rapida Immunoassay
category was the largest contributor to revenue growth, driven by sales of the QuickVue SARS Antigen assay. Cardiometabolic
Immunoassay sales increased $12.9 million over the prior year as COVID-19 restrictions began to be lifted and sales of our
Triage products approaca hed pre-pandemic levels. Growth in our Triage Business was partially offset by lower revenues
recognized for the Beckman BNP products due to the transition of this business to Beckman in August 2021. The decline in
Molecular Diagnostic Solutions sales over the prior year was driven primarily by decreased pricing for the Lyra SARS Antigen
assay, partially offset by higher sales of the Solana SARS Antigen assay. The decrease in Specialized Diagnostic Solutions
sales over the prior year was driven by lower sales of our cell culture products, primarily dued to the lack of a respiratory season
in early 2021. Currency exchange rate impact for the year ended December 31, 2021 was favorable by $7.9 million, which had
a minimal impact on the growth rate. See Item 7A of this Annual Report for additional information related to our calculation
and use of constant currency revenue and the constant currency fluctuatt ion rate.

Gross Profit

Gross profit for the year ended December 31, 2021 was $1,270.9 million, or 75% of revenue, compared to $1,348.9
million, or 81% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2020. The decreased gross profit was driven by a shift in product
mix fromff Sofia SARS products to QuickVue SARS products and lower selling prices forff our SARS products in 2021. Increases
in supply chain and other indirect manufacturing costs were more than offset by increased absorption driven by higher
production volumes. Gross margin declined compared to the prior year due to the same facff tors.

Operating Expenses

The following tablea compares operating expenses for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands, except
percentages):

For the year ended December 31,
2021 2020

Operating
expenses

As a % of
total

revenues
Operating
expenses

As a % of
total

revenues
Increase (decrease)
$ %

Research and development ............................... $ 95,701 6 % $ 84,292 5 % $ 11,409 14 %
Sales and marketing .......................................... $ 175,325 10 % $ 133,957 8 % $ 41,368 31 %
General and administrative ............................... $ 84,247 5 % $ 66,586 4 % $ 17,661 27 %
Acquisition and integration costs...................... $ 9,557 1 % $ 3,694 — % $ 5,863 159 %

Research and Development Expense

Research and development expense forff the year ended December 31, 2021 increased to $95.7 million from $84.3 million
for the prior year primarily dued to increased spending on Savanna and QuickVue OTC projects, partially offset by decreased
spending on Sofia projects. We incurred higher labor, material and clinical trials spending associated with COVID-19 product
development.

Research and development expenses include direct external costs such as fees paid to third-party contractors and
consultants, and internal direct and indirect costs such as compensation and other expenses for research and development
personnel, supplies and materials, clinical trials and studit es, software licenses, facff ility costs and depreciation.

Due to the risks inherent in the product development process and given the early stage of development of certain projects,
we are unable to estimate with meaningful certainty the costs we will incur in the continued development of our product
candidates forff commercialization. We expect our research and development costs to be substantial as we move other product
candidates into preclinical and clinical trials and advance our existing product candidates into later stages of development.

Sales and Marketing Expense

Sales and marketing expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased to $175.3 million from $134.0 million for
the prior year due to increased freight expense from greater shipment volumes, higher promotional spending associated with the
launch of the QuickVue At-Home OTC COVID-19 test, higher labora costs and increased travel and meeting costs as
COVID-19 related travel restrictions eased, partially offset by reduced bad debt expense.
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General and Administrative Expense

General and administrative expense for the year ended December 31, 2021 increased to $84.2 million fromff $66.6 million
for the prior year due to higher compensation costs from increased headcount to support the growth of the business experienced
in 2021, and higher charitable contributions and stock compensation expense.

Acquisition and Integration Costs

Acquisition and integration costs of $9.6 million and $3.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020,
respectively, primarily related to the evaluation of new business development opportunitt ies, including the pending
Combinations in the year ended December 31, 2021.

Other Expense, Net

The following tablea compares Other expense, net, for the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020 (in thousands, except
percentages):

For the year ended December 31, Increase (decrease)

2021 2020 $ %
Interest and other expense, net ..................................................... $ 5,706 $ 9,623 $ (3,917) (41)%
Loss on extinguishment of debt.................................................... — 10,384 (10,384) (100)%
Total other expense, net $ 5,706 $ 20,007 $ (14,301) (71)%

Interest and other expense, net primarily relates to accretion of interest on the deferred consideration, coupon and
accretion of interest related to our 3.25% Convertible Senior Notes due 2020 (“Convertible Notes”) (in the 2020 period) and
interest and amortization of deferred finaff ncing costs associated with our Credit Agreement (as defined herein). Interest and
other expense, net for the year ended December 31, 2021 decreased to $5.7 million fromff $9.6 million forff the prior year. The
decrease in interest and other expense, net over the prior year was primarily dued to the maturity of our Convertible Notes in
December 2020, which included an unfavorablea $1.1 million change in fair value of derivative liabilities associated with a
Convertible Notes conversion in the second quarter of 2020. Additionally, interest expense decreased due to lower deferred
consideration liability outstanding during 2021.

Loss on extinguishment of debt of $10.4 million forff the year ended December 31, 2020 related to the extinguishment of
$5.9 million in aggregate principal amount of the Convertible Notes, which were converted and settled in cash during the
period.

Income Taxes

We recognized an income tax provision of $196.1 million, resulting in an effecff tive tax rate of 21.8% for the year ended
December 31, 2021. This effective tax rate is comparam blea to the effective tax rate of 22.1% for the year ended December 31,
2020. In both years, the effective tax rate differsff from the fedff eral statutory rate of 21% due to increases from the state tax
provision, slightly offset by tax benefits from the foreff ign-derived intangible income deduction, excess stock-based
compensation deductions and federal and state research credits.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, our principal sources of liquidity consisted of the folff lowing (in thousands):
December 31,

2021 2020

Cash and cash equivalents $ 802,751 $ 489,941
Marketable securities, current.............................................................................................. 25,758 —
Marketable securities, non-current ...................................................................................... 37,852 —
Total cash, cash equivalents and marketablea securities.................................................. $ 866,361 $ 489,941

Amount available to borrow under the Revolving Credit Facility ...................................... $ 175,000 $ 175,000
Working capita al including cash and cash equivalents and marketable securities, current .. $ 1,116,790 $ 805,441
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As of December 31, 2021, we had $802.8 million in cash and cash equivalents, a $312.8 million increase from the prior
year driven primarily by cash generated from operations. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2021, we invested a
portion of our excess cash balances in a portfolio of investment-grade corporate debt securities and asset-backed securities. Our
cash requirements fluctuate as a result of numerous factors, such as cash generated from operations, progress in research and
development, capita al expansion projects and acquisition and business development activities. We also intend to continue to
evaluate candidates for new product lines, company or technology acquisitions, technology licensing or other strategic
acquisitions and investments. If we decide to proceed with any such transactions, we may need to incur additional debt or issue
additional equity to successfully complete the transactions. On December 22, 2021, we entered into the BCA, pursuant to which
we will be entering into a business combination with Ortho under Topco, a new holding company. Ortho will be acquired for
total consideration of approximately $4.3 billion (which is based on the February 9, 2022 closing price of $97.64 per Quidel
Share), including $1.75 billion of cash, funded through cash on our balance sheet and expected incremental borrowings.
Following the closing of the Combinations, Ortho’s current net debt of $2.1 billion is expected to continue to be outstanding.

Our primary source of liquidity, other than our holdings of cash and cash equivalents, has been cash flows from
operations. Cash generated from operations provides us with the financial flexibility we need to meet normal operating,
investing and financing needs. We do not currently expect the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic to adversely affect our
liquidity and capita al resources or our ability to meet financial commitments. We anticipate that our current cash and cash
equivalents, together with cash provided by operating activities and incremental borrowings will be sufficient to fund our near-
term capia tal and operating needs for at least the next 12 months.

Normal operating needs include the planned costs to operate our business, including amounts required to fund working
capita al, research and development, and capia tal expenditures. Our primary short-term needs for capita al, which are subject to
change, include expenditures related to:

• acquisitions of equipment and other fixed assets in supportu of our manufacturingt facility expansion;
• the continued advancement of research and development efforts;
• support of commercialization efforts related to our current and futuret products, including support of our direct

sales force and field support resources;
• interest on and repayments of our deferred consideration, contingent consideration and lease obligations; and
• potential strategic acquisitions and investments.

Our Convertible Notes maturedt on December 15, 2020. The Amended and Restated Credit Agreement (the “Credit
Agreement”) provides us with a Revolving Credit Facility of $175.0 million and there was no balance outstanding as of
December 31, 2021 or 2020. The Revolving Credit Facility matures on August 31, 2023.

As of December 31, 2021, we have $6.1 million in fair value of contingent consideration and $78.4 million of deferred
consideration associated with acquisitions to be settled in futuret periods.

On December 12, 2018, the Board authorized a stock repurchase program, allowing the Company to repurchase up to
$50.0 million of its common stock. On August 28, 2020, the Board approved an amendment to the stock repurchase program
that authorized repurchases of an additional $150.0 million of our common stock through August 28, 2022. For the twelve
months ended December 31, 2021, 957,239 shares of outstanding common stock were repurchased under our stock repurchase
program for approximately $103.4 million and as of December 31, 2021, we had approximately $52.9 million availablea under
the stock repurchase program.

Our future capita al requirements and the adequacy of our available funds to service any long-term debt outstanding and to
fund working capia tal expenditures and business development effortsff will depend on many factors, including:

• our ability to realize revenue growth from our new technologies and create innovative products in our markets;
• outstanding debt and covenant restrictions;
• our ability to leverage our operating expenses to realize operating profits as we grow revenue;
• competing technological and market developments; and
• our entry into strategic collaborations with other companies or acquisitions of other companies or technologies to

enhance or complement our product and service offerings.
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Cash Flow Summary
Year ended December 31,

(in thousands) 2021 2020

Net cash provided by operating activities ....................................................................... $ 805,869 $ 629,763
Net cash used forff investing activities .............................................................................. (319,530) (63,322)
Net cash used for financing activities.............................................................................. (173,177) (130,277)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash......................................................................... (352) 1,002
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents....................................................................... $ 312,810 $ 437,166

Cash provided by operating activities of $805.9 million during the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 reflects net
income of $704.2 million and non-cash adjustments of $104.4 million primarily associated with depreciation, amortization,
stock-based compensatm ion, deferred taxes, and accretion of interest on deferreff d consideration. Partially offsetting these inflows
was a net working capita al use of cash of $30.7 million primarily driven by an increase in product inventory associated with the
increased demand due to the COVID-19 pandemic and a decrease in income taxes payable, partially offset by a decrease in
accounts receivablea .

Cash provided by operating activities of $629.8 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 reflects net income of
$810.3 million and non-cash adjustments of $70.5 million primarily associated with depreciation, amortization, stock-based
compensation, deferred taxes, loss on extinguishment of debt and accretion of interest on deferred consideration. Partially
offsetting these inflows was a net working capita al use of cash of $265.3 million primarily driven by increases in accounts
receivable and product inventory, partially offset by increases in income taxes payablea and accounts payablea .

Our investing activities used $319.5 million during the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 primarily related to
investments in manufacturingt equipment and building improvements, Sofia, Solana and Triage instruments availablea for lease
and purchases of scientific equipment, partially offset by government proceeds received to fund such investments. Additionally,
we purchased $67.4 million of availablea -for-sale securities and sold $3.8 million of our available-for-sale securities duringd
2021. Our investing activities used $63.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily related to investments in
manufacturing equipment, Sofia, Solana and Triage instruments available forff lease, building improvements and purchases of
scientific equipment.

We are currently planning approximately $150 million in capita al expenditurest over the next 12 months. The primary
purposes for our capia tal expenditures are to invest in manufacturingt capaa city expansion, acquire Savanna, Sofia, Solana and
Triage instruments, acquire scientific equipment, purchase or develop IT systems and implem ment facility improvements. We
have $3.4 million in firm purchase commitments with respect to planned inventory purchases as of December 31, 2021. We
plan to fundff the capital expenditures with the cash on our balance sheet.

Cash used by financing activities was $173.2 million during the twelve months ended December 31, 2021 primarily
related to repurchases of common stock of $103.4 million, payments on deferred consideration of $35.1 million, and acquisition
contingent consideration of $4.7 million, partially offset by proceeds of $7.6 million from the issuance of common stock under
our Amended and Restated 1983 Employee Stock Purchase Plan (the “ESPP”) and pursuant to stock option exercises . Cash
used by financing activities was $130.3 million during the year ended December 31, 2020 primarily related to repurchases of
common stock of $43.7 million, payment on Convertible Notes and derivative liability of $43.4 million, payments on deferred
consideration of $42.0 million and acquisition contingent consideration of $6.0 million, partially offset by proceeds of $9.6
million from the issuance of common stock under the ESPP and pursuant to stock option exercises.
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Contractual Obligations

As of December 31, 2021, our future contractual obligations were as follows (in thousands):
Payment due by period

Total
Less than
1 year

1-3
Years

3-5
Years

More than
5 years

Deferred and contingent consideration (1) ............ $ 88,000 $ 48,000 $ 40,000 $ — $ —
Finance lease obligation (2) .................................. 668 272 396 — —
Operating lease obligations (3) .............................. 195,264 15,468 31,168 31,793 116,835
Non-cancelable purchase commitment (4)............. 3,400 1,263 546 446 1,145
Total contractual obligations .................................. $ 287,332 $ 65,003 $ 72,110 $ 32,239 $ 117,980

(1) Reflects the deferred and contingent consideration payments related to the acquisition of the BNP Business.
(2) Finance lease obligations include payments through 2024.
(3) Reflects future minimum lease obligations on facilities and equipment under operating leases in place as of

December 31, 2021. The lease for the Summers Ridge facility is subject to certain must-take provisions related to one
additional building that is not included in the operating lease obligations.

(4) Reflects our $3.4 million of non-cancelable commitments for planned inventory purchases under contractual
arrangements.

We have entered into various licensing agreements, which largely require payments based on product sales, as well as the
achievement of specific milestones. Royalty and license expenses under these various royalty and licensing agreements
collectively totaled $2.0 million, $2.4 million and $1.1 million forff the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019,
respectively.

We exclude liabilities pertaining to uncertain tax positions from our tabla e of contractualt obligations as we cannot make a
reliablea estimate of the period of cash settlement with the respective taxing authorities, nor the amount of the final cash
settlement. As of December 31, 2021, we had approximately $11.6 million of liabilities associated with uncertain tax positions.
See Note 4 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report for further discussion of uncertain tax
positions.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our Consolidated Financial
Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the US (“GAAP”). The
preparation of these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets,
liabilities, revenues and expenses, and related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. On an on-going basis, we evaluate
our estimates, including those related to reserve for contractual rebates, goodwill and intangible assets and income taxes. We
base our estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that we believe are reasonable under the
circumstances, the results of which form the basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities that
are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results may differ fromff these estimates under different assumptions or
conditions.

We believe the folff lowing critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the
preparation of our Consolidated Financial Statements.

Reserve forff Contractual Rebates

We record revenues primarily from product sales. These revenues are recorded net of rebates that are estimated at the time
of sale, and are largely driven by various customer program offerings, including special pricing agreements and promotions.
Rebates are calculated based upon historical experience dand es itimated dd diist ibributor iinve yntory bballance as nd recorded as a
reduction of sales with offsets to trade accounts receivable. The allowance for contractual rebates involves estimating
adjustments to revenue based upon a high volume of data including inputs fromff third-party sources. In addition, the
determination of such adjustments includes estimating rebate percentages which are dependent on estimated end-user sales mix
and customer contractual terms, which vary across customers. At December 31, 2021, the reserve related to contract rebates
was $40.3 million, a decrease of $60.5 million fromff the prior year.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The useful lives of intangible assets with definite lives are based on the expected number of years the asset will generate
revenue or otherwise be used by us and the related amortization is based on the straight-line method. Goodwill, which has an
indefinite life, is not amortized but instead is tested at least annually for impairment, or more frequently when events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the asset might be impaired. Examples of such events or circumstances include:

• the asset’s ability to continue to generate income from operations and positive cash flow in future periods;
• any volatility or significant decline in our stock price and market capia talization compared to our net book
value;

• loss of legal ownership or title to an asset;
• significant changes in our strategic business objectives and utilization of our assets; and
• the impact of significant negative industry or economic trends.

If a change were to occur in any of the above-mentioned factors or estimates, the likelihood of a material change in our
reported results would increase.

For goodwill, the entity has the option to first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is necessary to perform the
quantitative goodwill impairment test. The quantitative impairment test comparem s the fair value of a reporting unit with the
carrying amount, including goodwill. If the fair value of a reporting unit exceeds its carrying amount, goodwill is considered
not impaired; otherwise, goodwill is impaired and the loss is recorded. We completed our annual evaluation for impairment of
goodwill as of December 31, 2021 and determined that no impairment existed.

Income Taxeaa s

Significant judgment is required in determining our provision for income taxes, current tax assets and liabilities, deferred
tax assets and liabilities, and our future taxable income, both as a whole and in various tax jurisdictions, for purposes of
assessing our ability to realize future benefit from our deferred tax assets. A valuation allowance may be establia shed to reduce
our deferred tax assets to the amount that is considered more likely than not to be realized through the generation of futuret
taxable income and other tax planning opportunitt ies. As of December 31, 2021, we had a valuation allowance of $2.3 million,
which represents the portion of our deferred tax assets that management believes is not more likely than not to be realized. We
will continue to assess the need for a valuation allowance on our deferred tax assets by evaluating both positive and negative
evidence that may exist.

We recognize liabilities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate the tax
position for recognition by determining if the weight of available evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that the
position will be sustained during an audit, including resolution of related appeals or litigation processes, if any. The second step
is to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. While we
believe that we have appropriate support for the positions taken on our tax returns, we regularly assess the potential outcome of
examinations by tax authorities in determining the adequacy of our provision for income taxes. See Note 4 to the Consolidated
Financial Statements included in this Annual Report for more information on income taxes.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

Interestt t Rate Risk

Under our currentr policies, we do not use interest rate derivative instruments to manage our exposure to changes in
interest rates.

Our current investment policy with respect to our cash and cash equivalents focuses on maintaining acceptablea levels of
interest rate risk and liquidity. lAlthoughhough we contiinuallllyy evalluate our iinvestments, our ca hsh iequi lvalents as of Dece bmber 31,
2021 consiist ded iprima ilrilyy of iprime mo yney ma krket f dfunds. hThese f dfunds idprovide d idailyly lili iquididityy dand mayy bbe subjecsubject to iinterest rate
iriskk dand ddecrease iin lvalue ifif ma krket iinterest rates iincrease. We ddo not expect our opera iti gng res lults or ca hsh flflows to bbe affecff tedd
to anyy signisignifificant degredegree byby a ddsudden hcha gnge iin ma krket iinterest rates.
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Foreigni Currency Exchange Riskii

We are exposed to foreign currency risks that arise from normal business operations. These risks include the translation of
local currency balances of foreignff subsidiaries, transaction gains and losses associated with intercompany balances with foreff ign
subsidiaries and transactions denominated in currencies other than the functional currency of the local jurisdiction.

For the year ended December 31, 2021, total revenues were $1,698.6 million, of which approximately $198.4 million
were denominated in currencies other than the US dollar. We believe constant currency revenue and the related constant
currency fluctuatt ion rate, which are non-GAAP measures, enhance the comparison of our financial results fromff period-to-
period and to that of our competitors because they present our operating performance without the effect of exchange rate
variances. Constant currency revenue excludes the impact from foreign currency flucff tuations, which was favorablea by $7.9
million for the year ended December 31, 2021, and is calculated by (i) translating current period revenues using prior period
exchange rates and (ii) excluding any hedging effect recognized in the current period. The constant currency fluctuatt ion rate
(expressed as a percentage) is calculated by determining the change in current period constant currency revenue compared to
prior period revenue.

The majora currencies to which our revenues are exposed are the Euro, the Chinese Yuan and the Canadian dollar. A 100-
basis point move in the average exchange rates (assuming a simultaneous and immediate 100-basis point change for the
relevant period) would have resulted in an increase or decrease in our reported revenue for the year ended December 31, 2021
as follows (in thousands):

Currency Year ended December 31, 2021

Chinese Yuan.................................................................................................................................... $ 4,420
Euro................................................................................................................................................... $ 4,272
Canadian Dollar ................................................................................................................................ $ 6,862

Our foreign currency management policy permits the use of derivative instruments, such as forwaff rd contracts, to reduce
volatility in our results of operations resulting from foreign exchange rate fluff ctuatt ions. We do not enter into foreiff gn currency
derivative instruments forff trading purposes or to engage in speculative activity. See Note 12 to the Consolidated Financial
Statements included in this Annual Report for additional information related to such forward contracts.

52



Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Index of Consolidated Financial Statements and Schedule

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB ID: 42) ................................................................... 54
Consolidated Balance Sheets............................................................................................................................................... 56
Consolidated Statements of Income .................................................................................................................................... 57
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income .......................................................................................................... 58
Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity .............................................................................................................. 59
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows ............................................................................................................................. 60
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements ....................................................................................................................... 62
Schedule II Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts........................................................................................... 81

53



REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Quidel Corporation

Opinion on the Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Quidel Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2021
and 2020, the related consolidated statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity and cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes and schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2)
(collectively referred to as the “consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present
fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2021 and 2020, and the results of its
operations and its cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2021, in conformity with US
generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria established in
Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission
(2013 framework), and our report dated February 17, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on
the Company’s financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable
rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement, whether due to
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such procedures included
examining, on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall
presentation of the financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit matter communicated below is a matter arising from the current period audit of the financial statements that
was communicated or required to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that
are material to the financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective or complex judgments. The
communication of the critical audit matter does not alter in any way our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken
as a whole, and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matter below, providing a separate opinion on the critical audit
matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it relates.
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Reserve for contractt tual rebatestt
Description of the
Matter

As described in Note 1 to the consolidated financial statements, the Company records revenues from
product sales net of contractualt rebates that are estimated at the time of sale. As of December 31, 2021,
the Company recognized an allowance on accounts receivable of $40.3 million in rebates.

Auditing the Company’s allowance for contractual rebates is especially challenging because the
calculation involves estimating adjustments to revenue based upon a high volume of data including
inputs from third-party sources, such as distributor inventory levels and historical distributor sales to
end users. In addition, the determination of such adjustments includes estimating rebate percentages
which are dependent on estimated end-user sales mix and customer contractualt terms, which vary
across customers.

How We Addressedd d
the Matter in Our
Audit

We obtained an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the operating effecff tiveness of key
controls over the Company’s process to calculate the reserves for contractualt rebates, including their
evaluation of third-party data inputs utilized in the reserve and accrual calculations, as well as the
accuracy of the Company’s data inputs such as contractual pricing and estimated end user sales.

Our audit procedures also included the evaluation of significant inputs through the evaluation of the
Company's retrospective analysis of rebates claimed compared to actual payments issued, evaluation of
estimates based on historical experience, and performance of analytical procedures and sensitivity
analyses over the Company’s significant inputs. We also tested the underlying data used in
management’s calculations for accuracy and completeness, which included inspection of source data
supporting the inventory levels and rebate claims paid subsequent to period end.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

We have served as the Company’s auditor since 2002.

San Diego, California

Februaryrr 17, 2022
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QUIDEL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(in thousands, except par value)
31,

2021 2020

ASSETS
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents ................................................................................................ $ 802,751 $ 489,941
Marketable securities........................................................................................................ 25,758 —
Accounts receivable, net................................................................................................... 377,969 497,688
Inventories ........................................................................................................................ 198,765 113,798
Prepaid expenses and other current assets........................................................................ 35,067 40,975

Total current assets.................................................................................................... 1,440,310 1,142,402
Property, plant and equipment, net .......................................................................................... 349,202 110,481
Marketable securities, non-current .......................................................................................... 37,852 —
Right-of-use assets................................................................................................................... 127,622 100,544
Goodwill .................................................................................................................................. 337,021 337,032
Intangible assets, net................................................................................................................ 98,655 122,431
Deferred tax asset .................................................................................................................... 20,089 44,762
Other non-current assets .......................................................................................................... 19,623 13,512
Total assets............................................................................................................................... $ 2,430,374 $ 1,871,164
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
Current liabilities:

Accounts payablea .............................................................................................................. $ 101,492 $ 86,316
Accrued payroll and related expenses .............................................................................. 40,385 34,781
Income taxes payablea ....................................................................................................... 66,945 127,788
Operating lease liabilities ................................................................................................. 10,039 7,799
Contingent consideration.................................................................................................. 5,986 5,987
Deferred consideration ..................................................................................................... 41,945 42,000
Other current liabilities..................................................................................................... 56,728 32,290

Total current liabilities .............................................................................................. 323,520 336,961
Operating lease liabilities - non-current................................................................................... 128,556 100,706
Deferred consideration - non-current....................................................................................... 36,491 73,951
Contingent consideration - non-current ................................................................................... 87 5,909
Other non-current liabilities..................................................................................................... 12,358 20,934
Commitments and contingencies (Note 8)
Stockholders’ equity:

Preferred stock, $.001 par value per share; 5,000 shares authorized; none issued or
outstanding at December 31, 2021 and 2020........................................................................... — —
Common stock, $.001 par value per share; 97,500 shares authorized; 41,686 and 42,290
shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020, respectively . 42 42
Additional paid-in capital ................................................................................................. 279,768 388,121
Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)............................................................ 355 (431)
Retained earnings ............................................................................................................. 1,649,197 944,971

Total stockholders’ equity ......................................................................................... 1,929,362 1,332,703
Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity................................................................................. $ 2,430,374 $ 1,871,164

See accompanying notes.
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QUIDEL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME

(in thousands, except per share data)
Year ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Total revenues......................................................................................... $ 1,698,551 $ 1,661,668 $ 534,890
Cost of sales............................................................................................ 427,656 312,813 214,085

Gross profit ...................................................................................... 1,270,895 1,348,855 320,805
Research and development ..................................................................... 95,701 84,292 52,553
Sales and marketing................................................................................ 175,325 133,957 111,114
General and administrative ..................................................................... 84,247 66,586 52,755
Acquisition and integration costs............................................................ 9,557 3,694 11,667

Total operating expenses ................................................................. 364,830 288,529 228,089
Operating income.................................................................................... 906,065 1,060,326 92,716
Other expense, net

Interest and other expense, net ........................................................ (5,706) (9,623) (14,790)
Loss on extinguishment of debt....................................................... — (10,384) (748)

Total other expense, net........................................................... (5,706) (20,007) (15,538)
Income beforeff income taxes ................................................................... 900,359 1,040,319 77,178
Provision for income taxes ..................................................................... 196,133 230,032 4,257
Net income.............................................................................................. $ 704,226 $ 810,287 $ 72,921
Basic earnings per share ......................................................................... $ 16.74 $ 19.24 $ 1.78
Diluted earnings per share ...................................................................... $ 16.43 $ 18.60 $ 1.73
Shares used in basic per share calculation.............................................. 42,078 42,124 40,860
Shares used in diluted per share calculation ........................................... 42,874 43,591 43,111

See accompanying notes.
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QUIDEL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(in thousands)
Year ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Net income .............................................................................................. $ 704,226 $ 810,287 $ 72,921
Changes in cumulative translation adjustment, net of tax ............... (1,588) 2,554 (322)
Changes in unrealized losses fromff investments, net of tax ............. (144) — —
Changes in unrealized gains (losses) fromff cash flow hedges:.........
Net unrealized gains (losses) on derivative instruments ............... 98 (2,993) 716
Reclassification of net realized losses (gains) on derivative
instruments included in net income............................................... 2,420 471 (718)
Total change in unrealized gains (losses) from cash flow
hedges, net of tax ...................................................................... 2,518 (2,522) (2)

Comprehensive income........................................................................... $ 705,012 $ 810,319 $ 72,597

See accompanying notes.
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QUIDEL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

(in thousands)
Common Stock

Shares Par

Additional
paid-in
capital

Accumulated
other

comprehensive
(loss) income

Retained
earnings

Total
stockholders’
equity

Balance at December 31, 2018 ...................... 39,386 $ 39 $ 363,921 $ (139) $ 61,763 $ 425,584
Issuance of common stock under equity
compensation plans........................................ 1,152 2 16,797 — — 16,799
Stock-based compensation expense............... — — 12,088 — — 12,088
Issuance of shares in exchange for
Convertible Notes .......................................... 1,497 1 86,427 — — 86,428
Tax impact fromff the conversion of
Convertible Notes .......................................... — — 568 — — 568
Reduction for equity component of
Convertible Notes exchanged ........................ — — (43,516) — — (43,516)
Tax withholdings related to vesting of stock-
based awards .................................................. (167) — (10,728) — — (10,728)
Other comprehensive loss, net of tax............. — — — (324) — (324)
Net income..................................................... — — — — 72,921 72,921
Balance at December 31, 2019 ...................... 41,868 42 425,557 (463) 134,684 559,820
Issuance of common stock under equity
compensation plans........................................ 490 — 10,380 — — 10,380
Stock-based compensation expense............... — — 18,969 — — 18,969
Issuance of shares in exchange for
Convertible Notes .......................................... 226 — 7,230 — — 7,230
Tax impact fromff the conversion of
Convertible Notes .......................................... — — 54 — — 54
Derivative liabilities - Convertible Notes
elected to settle in cash .................................. — — (26,180) — — (26,180)
Tax withholdings related to vesting of stock-
based awards .................................................. (37) (4,198) (4,198)
Repurchases of common stock....................... (257) — (43,691) — — (43,691)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax ....... — — — 32 — 32
Net income..................................................... — — — — 810,287 810,287
Balance at December 31, 2020 ...................... 42,290 42 388,121 (431) 944,971 1,332,703
Issuance of common stock under equity
compensation plans........................................ 534 1 9,551 — — 9,552
Stock-based compensation expense............... — — 22,679 — — 22,679
Tax withholdings related to vesting of stock-
based awards .................................................. (181) — (37,146) — — (37,146)
Repurchases of common stock....................... (957) (1) (103,437) — — (103,438)
Other comprehensive income, net of tax ....... — — — 786 — 786
Net income..................................................... — — — — 704,226 704,226
Balance at December 31, 2021 ...................... 41,686 $ 42 $ 279,768 $ 355 $ 1,649,197 $ 1,929,362

See accompanying notes.
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QUIDEL CORPORATION
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(in thousands)
Year ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019
OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income........................................................................................................... $ 704,226 $ 810,287 $ 72,921
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation, amortization and other .......................................................... 54,384 49,089 47,827
Stock-based compensation expense............................................................. 25,406 21,019 13,252
Impairment loss ........................................................................................... — — 1,481
Amortization of debt discount and deferred issuance costs ........................ 403 771 1,582
Change in fair value of acquisition contingencies....................................... 217 1,405 1,467
Accretion of interest on deferred consideration .......................................... 4,485 6,569 8,224
Net change in operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities ................. 3,012 434 3,964
Change in deferred tax assets and liabilities................................................ 24,673 (20,211) (1,742)
Change in fair value of derivative liabilities - Convertible Notes............... — 1,084 —
Payment of accreted interest on contingent and deferred consideration ..... (8,157) — —
Loss on extinguishment of debt................................................................... — 10,384 748

Changes in assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable..................................................................................... 118,852 (402,094) (36,059)
Inventories ................................................................................................... (85,039) (54,903) 9,143
Prepaid expenses and other current and non-current assets ........................ (13,256) (14,264) 4,314
Accounts payable......................................................................................... 10,446 52,226 2,434
Accrued payroll and related expenses ......................................................... 4,971 16,024 (1,037)
Income taxes payable................................................................................... (66,688) 137,708 4,175
Other current and non-current liabilities ..................................................... 27,934 14,235 1,791

Net cash provided by operating activities......................................................... 805,869 629,763 134,485
INVESTING ACTIVITIES

Acquisitions of property, equipment, investments and intangibles............. (292,724) (64,927) (27,229)
Proceeds from government assistance allocated to fixed assets.................. 36,881 1,605 —
Purchases of marketable securities .............................................................. (67,448) — —
Proceeds from sale of marketable securities................................................ 3,761 — —

Net cash used for investing activities ............................................................... (319,530) (63,322) (27,229)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Proceeds from issuance of common stock................................................... 7,550 9,613 14,782
Payments on finance lease obligation.......................................................... (260) (511) (371)
Payments of tax withholdings related to vesting of stock-based awards .... (37,146) (4,198) (10,728)
Payments on Revolving Credit Facility....................................................... — — (53,188)
Repurchases of common stock .................................................................... (103,438) (43,691) —
Payments on acquisition contingent consideration...................................... (4,740) (6,044) (4,044)
Payments of deferred consideration ............................................................ (35,143) (42,000) (44,000)
Payment on Convertible Note and Derivative Liability .............................. — (43,446) —
Transaction costs related to debt exchange ................................................. — — (733)

Net cash used for financing activities............................................................... (173,177) (130,277) (98,282)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash ............................................................. (352) 1,002 106
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ........................................................... 312,810 437,166 9,080
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of period.................................................. 489,941 52,775 43,695
Cash and cash equivalents, at end of period........................................................ $ 802,751 $ 489,941 $ 52,775
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Year ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURES OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid during the period for interest .............................................................. $ — $ 480 $ 2,295
Cash paid during the period for income taxes ..................................................... $ 235,551 $ 109,912 $ 2,189
Purchase of property, equipment and intangibles by incurring current
liabilities .............................................................................................................. $ 10,456 $ 7,160 $ 1,040
Accrued receivable forff capital expenditures to be reimbursed under a
government contract ............................................................................................ $ — $ 15,854 $ —
Reduction of other current liabilities upon issuance of restricted share units ..... $ 2,001 $ 767 $ 2,018
Extinguishment of Convertible Notes through issuance of stock........................ $ — $ 7,230 $ 86,428

See accompanying notes.

61



QUIDEL CORPORATION
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Note 1. Company Operations and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Quidel Corporation (the “Company”) commenced operations in 1979. The Company operates in one business segment
that develops, manufacturest and markets diagnostic testing solutions. These diagnostic tests are categorized into four product
categories: rapid immunoassay, cardiometabolic immunoassay, molecular diagnostic solutions and specialized diagnostic
solutions. The Company currently sells its products directly to end users and distributors, in each case, for professional use in
physician offices, hospitals, clinical laboraa tories, reference laboraa tories, urgent care clinics, leading universities, retail clinics,
pharmacies and wellness screening centers, as well as for individual, non-professional, OTC use. The Company markets its
products through a network of distributors and a direct sales force.

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements of the Company and its subsidiaries have been prepared in
accordance with GAAP.

Consolidatdd ion—The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly owned
subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated.

Cash and Cash Equivalents—The Company considers cash equivalents to be highly liquid investments with a maturity at
the date of purchase of three months or less. Cash equivalents include money market funds and debt securities of high quality
institutions.

Marketable Securities—The Company invests excess cash balances in investment-grade corporate debt securities, asset-
backed securities and US Treasury securities. The Company seeks to diversify investments and limits the amount of investment
concentrations for individual institutit ons, maturitt ies and investment types. These marketable securities are classified as
available-for-sale and, accordingly, such securities are recorded at fair value. Unrealized gains and losses that are deemed
temporary are included in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss) as a separate component of stockholders’ equity. If
any adjustmd ent to fair value reflects a significant decline in the value of the security, the Company evaluates the extent to which
the decline is determined to be other-than-temporary and would mark the security to market through a charge to its
Consolidated Statements of Income. Marketable securities are classified as non-current when maturities are one year or more.

Accountstt Receivable—The Company sells its products directly to hospitals, reference laborata ories, retail clinics,
pharmacies, as well as to distributors in the US and internationally (see Note 9). The Company periodically assesses the
financial strength of these customers and establishes reserves for anticipated losses when necessary, which historically have not
been material. The balance of accounts receivablea is net of reserves of $52.4 million and $103.4 million at December 31, 2021
and 2020, respectively, of which the reserve related to contract rebates was $40.3 million and $100.8 million, respectively.

Concentration of Credit Risk—ii Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to significant concentrations of
credit risk consist principally of cash equivalents, marketablea securities and trade accounts receivablea .

Credit losses are identified when cash flows received are not expected to be sufficient to recover the amortized cost basis
of a security. In the event of a credit loss, only the amount associated with the credit loss is recognized in operating results, with
the amount of loss relating to other factors recorded in accumulated other comprehensive income (loss).

The Company performs credit evaluations of its customers’ financial condition and limits the amount of credit extended
when deemed necessary, but generally requires no collateral. Credit quality is monitored regularly by reviewing credit history.
The Company believes that the concentration of credit risk in its trade accounts receivablea s is moderated by its credit evaluation
process, relatively short collection terms, the high level of credit worthiness of its customers, and letters of credit issued on the
Company’s behalf. Potential credit losses are limited to the gross value of accounts receivable.

Inventories—Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (first-in, first-out) or net realizablea value. The Company reviews
the components of its inventory periodically for excess, obsolete and impaired inventory and records a reduction to the carrying
value when identified.

Property,yy Plantl and Equipment—tt Property, plant and equipment are recorded at cost and depreciated over the estimated
useful lives of the assets (three to fifteen years) using the straight-line method. Amortization of leasehold improvements is
computed on the straight-line method over the shorter of the lease term or the estimated useful lives of the related assets.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets—Intangible assets are recorded at cost and amortized on a straight-line basis over their
estimated useful lives, except for indefinite-lived intangibles such as goodwill. Software development costs associated with
software to be leased or otherwise marketed are expensed as incurred until technological feasibility has been establia shed. After
technological feasibility is establia shed, software development costs are capia talized and amortized on a straight-line basis over
the estimated product life.

Convertible Debt—tt The Company accounts for convertible debt instruments that may be settled in cash upon conversion
(including combination settlement of cash equal to the “principal portion” and delivery of the “share amount” in excess of the
conversion value over the principal portion in shares of common stock and/or cash) by separating the liability and equity
components of the instruments in a manner that reflects the Company’s nonconvertible debt borrowing rate. The Company
determines the carrying amount of the liability component by measuring the fair value of similar debt instruments that do not
have the conversion feature. If no similar debt instrument exists, the Company estimates fair value by using assumptions that
market participants would use in pricing a debt instrument, including market interest rates, credit standing, yield curves and
volatilities. Determining the fair value of the debt component requires the use of accounting estimates and assumptions. These
estimates and assumptions are judgmental in naturet and could have a significant impact on the determination of the debt
component, and the associated non-cash interest expense. See Note 3 for additional discussion of the Convertible Notes issued
in December 2014.

Revenue Recognition—The Company records revenues primarily from product sales. These revenues are recorded net of
rebates and other discounts. These rebates and discounts are estimated at the time of sale, and are largely driven by various
customer program offerings, including special pricing agreements, promotions and other volume-based incentives. Rebates and
discounts are calculated based upon historical experience, estimated discounting levels and estimated distributor inventory
balances and recorded as a reduction of sales with offsets to accounts receivablea and other current liabilities, respectively.

Transaction price for a contract represents the amount to which we are entitled in exchange for providing goods and
services to the customer. Transaction price does not include amounts subject to uncertainties unless it is probable that there will
be no significant reversal of revenue when the uncertainty is resolved. Revenue is recognized when control of the products is
transferred to the customers in an amount that reflects the consideration the Company expects to receive from the customers in
exchange for those products and services. This process involves identifying the contract with a customer, determining the
performance obligations in the contract and the contract price, allocating the contract price to the distinct performance
obligations in the contract and recognizing revenue when the performance obligations have been satisfied. A performance
obligation is considered distinct from other obligations in a contract when it provides a benefit to the customer either on its own
or together with other resources that are readily availablea to the customer and is separately identififiedd iin hthe contract. A
pperformance blobligaiga ition iis co idnside dred to bbe isatisfi diedff once hthe co lntrol of a dproduct iis transfe drred to hthe customer or hthe ser ivice iis
provideprovidedd to hthe customer, meaninging hthe customer hhas hthe biabilili yty to use dand bobt iain hthe bbenefifit of hthe goodsgoods or se irvice.

iDuri gng 2021, hthe Com ypany ggeneratedd a portiion of iits revenue from lsales of hthe QuickVue At-Home OTC COVID-19 tests
to retailil customers. hThe Com ypany es itimates hthe transactiion iprice for revenue from salles to retailil customers bbasedd on hi ihistoricall
expe irience dand current tre dnds to ev laluate hwhen uncert iai inties lrelat ded to rightright of returnt i iprovisions are res lolvedd. As of
December 31, 2021, due to a lack of history on which to base an estimate of products to be returned from the retailers, the
Company establia shed a reserve based upon an estimate of total inventory remaining at our retailers which was subject to return.t

A portion of product sales includes revenues for diagnostic kits, which are utilized on leased instrument systems under the
Company’s “reagent rental” program. The reagent rental program provides customers the right to use the instruments at no
separate cost to the customer in consideration for a multi-year agreement to purchase annual minimum amounts of consumables
(“reagents” or “diagnostic kits”). When an instrument is placed with a customer under a reagent rental agreement, the Company
retains title to the equipment and it remains capita alized on the Company’s Consolidated Balance Sheets as property, plant and
equipment, net. The instrument is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the lesser of the lease term or life of the instrument.
Depreciation expense is recorded in cost of sales included in the Consolidated Statements of Income. Instrument and
consumablea s under the reagent rental agreements are deemed two distinct performance obligations. Though the instrument and
consumablea s do not have any use to customers without one another, they are not highly interdependent because they do not
significantly affect each other. The Company would be able to fulfill its promise to transfer the instrument even if its customers
did not purchase any consumables and the Company would be able to fulfill its promise to provide the consumables even if
customers acquired instruments separately. The contract price is allocated between these two performance obligations based on
the relative standalone selling prices. The instrument is considered an operating lease and revenue allocated to the instrument
was not material in the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019.
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Government Assistance—During the year ended December 31, 2020, the Company entered into a contract with the NIH,
through its newly launched Rapida Acceleration of Diagnostics - Advanced Technology Platforms initiative, to support the
Company’s expansion of its manufacturing capaca ity for its diagnostic assays that test for the SARS-CoV-2 antigen. The
contract originally provided for consideration to the Company of up to $65.0 million and had a performance period of one year,
which began in July 2020. During 2021, the Company entered into several amendments to the contract, which added additional
deliverables and milestones, as well as extended the performance period. The contract and amendments include key
deliverables and milestones that directly support the upgrade and addition of new manufacturing lines, as well as the outfitting
of the new distribution center. The Company will also provide instruments and assays to NIH. There are no refund provisions
under the contract.

Consideration from the contract is allocated to each deliverablea identified within the contract using a relative fair value
allocation method and recognized when there is reasonable assurance the Company will meet the milestones and receive the
consideration. Consideration allocated to the delivery of instruments and assays is recognized in accordance with the
Company’s existing revenue recognition policy described above. Consideration that relates to capita al expenditurest is recorded
as a reduction to the carrying value of such assets and amortized over the useful life of the assets. Consideration allocated to the
remainder of the contract is recorded as reductions to the related expense. Amounts billed but not collected as of December 31,
2020 were included in other receivables within prepaid expenses and other current assets. As of December 31, 2021, the
Company had achieved and collected payments for all milestones under the NIH contract.

Research and Development Costs—tt Research and development costs are charged to operations as incurred. In conjunction
with certain third-party service agreements, the Company is required to make periodic payments based on achievement of
certain milestones. The costs related to these research and development services are also charged to operations as incurred.

Product Shipment Costs—tt Product shipment costs are included in sales and marketing expense in the accompanying
Consolidated Statements of Income. Shipping and handling costs were $29.3 million, $14.2 million and $9.5 million for the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Advertising Costs—Adverti— sing costs are expensed as incurred. Advertising costs were $13.7 million, $1.1 million and
$1.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Income Taxes—Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporarym differeff nces between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes, using enacted tax rates in
effecff t for the year in which the differences are expected to reverse. Valuation allowances are establia shed, when necessary, to
reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized. The Company’s policy is to recognize the interest expense and
penalties related to income tax matters as a component of the income tax provision.

FairFF ValVV ue of Financial Instruments— The Company uses the fair value hierarchy established in Accounting Standards
Codififf cation (“ASC”) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures, which requires that the valuation of assets and
liabilities subjeu ct to fair value measurements be classified and disclosed by the Company in one of the following three
categories:

Level 1: Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestricted
assets or liabila ities;

Level 2: Quoted prices for similar assets and liabilities in active markets, quoted prices in markets that are not active, or
inputs which are observablea , either directly or indirectly, for substantially the full term of the asset or liability; and

Level 3: Prices or valuation techniques that require inputs that are both significant to the fair value measurement and
unobservablea (i.e., supported by little or no market activity).

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivablea s, accounts payablea and accruedr liabilities
approximaa te their fair values due to their short-term nature.
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Stock-Based ComCC pensm ation—Compensation expense related to stock options granted is recognized ratablya over the
service vesting period for the entire option. For stock options with graded vesting, the Company ensures that the cumulative
amount of compensation expense recognized at the end of any reporting period at least equals the portion of the stock option
that has vested at that date. The total number of stock options expected to vest is adjusted by estimated forfeituret rates. The
Company determined the estimated faiff r value of each stock option on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option valuation
model. The faiff r value of restricted stock units is determined based on the closing market price of the Company’s common stock
on the grant date. Compensation expense for time-based restricted stock units (“RSUs”) is measured at the grant date and
recognized ratablya over the vesting period. A portion of the restricted stock units granted are performance-based and vesting is
tied to achievement of specific Company goals over a three-year time period, subject to early vesting upon achievement of the
performance goals. For purposes of measuring compensatm ion expense for performance-based restricted stock units (“PSUs”),
the number of shares ultimately expected to vest is estimated at each reporting date based on management’s expectations
regarding the relevant performance criteria. The grant date of the PSUs takes place when the grant is authorized and the specific
achievement goals are communicated.

Leases—Lease liabilities represent the obligation to make lease payments and right-of-use (“ROU”) assets represent the
right to use the underlying asset durid ng the lease term. Lease liabilities and ROU assets are recognized at the commencement
date of the lease based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term at the commencement date. When the implicit
rate is unknown, an incremental borrowing rate based on the information availablea at the commencement date is used in
determining the present value of the lease payments. Options to extend or terminate the lease are included in the determination
of the lease term when it is reasonably certain that the Company will exercise such options.

For certain classes of assets, the Company accounts forff lease and non-lease componentm s as a single lease component.
Variablea lease payments, including those related to changes in the consumer price index, are recognized in the period in which
the obligation for those payments is incurred and are not included in the measurement of the ROU assets or lease liabilities.
Short-term leases are excluded from the calculation of the ROU assets and lease liabia lities.

Operating leases are included in ROU assets, operating lease liabilities and operating lease liabilities non-current in the
Consolidated Balance Sheets. Finance leases are included in property, plant and equipment, net, other current liabilities and
other non-current liabilities.

Comprehensive IncII ome—Comprehensive income includes unrealized gains and losses that are related to the cumulative
translation adjustments, unrealized gains and losses on marketablea securities, and derivative instruments excluded fromff the
Company’s Consolidated Statements of Income.

Use of Estimates—The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could diffeff r fromff those estimates.

Accounting Periods—Each of the Company’s fiscal quarters ends on the Sunday closest to the end of the calendar quarter.
The Company’s fiscal year ended January 2, 2022 was 52 weeks and the Company’s fiscal years ended January 3, 2021 and
December 29, 2019 were 53 and 52 weeks, respectively. For ease of reference, the calendar year end dates are used herein.

Note 2. Balance Sheet Account Details

Marketable securities

The following is a summary of marketablea securities (in thousands):

December 31, 2021
Amortized Cost Gross Unrealized Losses Fair Value

Corporate bonds................................................................. $ 22,344 $ (28) $ 22,316
Asset-backed securities...................................................... 3,443 (1) 3,442
Total marketable securities, current................................... 25,787 (29) 25,758
Corporate bonds, non-current ............................................ 26,761 (83) 26,678
Asset-backed securities, non-current ................................. 11,197 (23) 11,174
Total marketable securities ................................................ $ 63,745 $ (135) $ 63,610
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Prepaid expex nses and other current assetstt

The following is a summary of prepaid expenses and other current assets (in thousands):
December 31,

2021 2020

Unbilled receivablea s......................................................................................................... $ — $ 16,041
Other receivables ............................................................................................................. 15,879 15,442
Prepaid expenses.............................................................................................................. 14,598 7,335
Other ................................................................................................................................ 4,590 2,157
Total prepaid expenses and other current assets .............................................................. $ 35,067 $ 40,975

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost (firstff -in, first-out) or net realizabla e value. The following is a summary of
inventories (in thousands):

December 31,
2021 2020

Raw materials .................................................................................................................. $ 103,159 $ 58,264
Work-in-process (materials, labora and overhead) ........................................................... 36,091 31,359
Finished goods (materials, labora and overhead).............................................................. 59,515 24,175
Total inventories.............................................................................................................. $ 198,765 $ 113,798

Property, Pyy lant and Equipment, net

The following is a summary of property, plant and equipment (in thousands):
December 31,

2021 2020

Equipment, furniture and fixtures ................................................................................... $ 159,008 $ 91,838
Building and improvements ............................................................................................ 146,784 49,014
Leased instruments .......................................................................................................... 68,062 60,722
Land................................................................................................................................. 10,179 1,080
Construction in Progress ................................................................................................. 105,247 32,595
Total property, plant and equipment, gross..................................................................... 489,280 235,249
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization........................................................... (140,078) (124,768)
Total property, plant and equipment, net ........................................................................ $ 349,202 $ 110,481

Construc ition iin gprogress flreflects amount is inc durred for construc ition or iimprovements of p yroperty, lplant, or e iquipment hthat
hhave not bbeen madde iin se irvice. In daddiditiion, construc ition iin gprogress i lincl dudes iinstruments hthat hhave not bbeen lplac ded at a
customer dunde lr a lease gagreement hthat wilill bl be recllassifiifi ded to lleased id instruments once pllacedd at a customer isite. hThe tot lal
xpee nse for depreciation of fixed assets and amortization of leasehold improvements was $24.3 million, $20.8 million and
$19.4 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Maintenance and minor repairs are charged
to operations as incurred.
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets

The Company had goodwill of $337.0 million as of December 31, 2021, which remains consistent with December 31,
2020. Finite-lived intangible assets consisted of the following (dollar amounts in thousands):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Descriptionp

Weighted-
average
useful life
(years)

Gross
assets

Accumulated
amortization Net

Gross
assets

Accumulated
amortization Net

Purchased technology............... 9.1 $ 112,725 $ (78,204) $ 34,521 $ 112,100 $ (71,426) $ 40,674
Customer relationships............. 7.0 122,690 (77,281) 45,409 122,584 (60,688) 61,896
License agreements .................. 9.9 6,511 (5,658) 853 6,518 (5,312) 1,206
Patent and trademark costs ....... 10.8 28,740 (15,736) 13,004 28,740 (13,038) 15,702
Software development costs..... 4.6 11,705 (6,837) 4,868 8,743 (5,790) 2,953
Total finite-lived intangible
assets......................................... $ 282,371 $ (183,716) $ 98,655 $ 278,685 $ (156,254) $ 122,431

Amortization expense related to the capita alized softff ware costs was $1.0 million, $0.9 million and $0.8 million forff the
years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. Amortization expense (including capita alized softff ware costs) was
$27.4 million, $27.3 million and $27.5 million forff the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

The expected futuret annual amortization expense of the Company’s finite-lived intangible assets held as of December 31,
2021 is as follows (in thousands):

For the years ending December 31, Amortization expense

2022 ................................................................................................................................................................. $ 27,897
2023 ................................................................................................................................................................. 27,186
2024 ................................................................................................................................................................. 22,550
2025 ................................................................................................................................................................. 8,230
2026 ................................................................................................................................................................. 8,667
Thereafter ........................................................................................................................................................ 4,125
Total................................................................................................................................................................. $ 98,655

Othertt current liabilities

The following is a summary of other current liabilities (in thousands):
December 31,

2021 2020

Customer incentives and rebates ..................................................................................... $ 15,916 $ 15,663
Accrued other taxes payablea ............................................................................................ 10,218 2,157
Deferred revenue ............................................................................................................. 1,922 3,733
Derivative liabilities ........................................................................................................ 269 3,061
Payablea s under transition services agreements 10,927 —
Other................................................................................................................................ 17,476 7,676
Total other current liabilities ........................................................................................... $ 56,728 $ 32,290

Note 3. Debt

Convertibleii Notes

In December 2014, the Company issued $172.5 million aggregate principal amount of Convertible Notes. iDuri gng 2020,
hthe rem iainingning gagg ggregate iprinciipall amount of $$13.1 imilllliion was set l dtled or maturedd a dnd as of Dece bmber 31, 2020 no amounts
were outstanding.nding.
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The folff lowing table summarizes the interest expense related to the Convertible Notes forff the following periods (in
thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2020 2019

Amortization of debt discount and deferred issuance costs ............................................ $ 368 $ 1,179
Coupon interest ............................................................................................................... 195 1,103

Total Interest Expense.............................................................................................. $ 563 $ 2,282

The following tablea summarizes information about the settlement of the Convertible Notes duringd the year ended
December 31, 2020 (dollars in thousands):

Year ended December 31, 2020

Principal amount settled...................................................................................................................... $ 13,131
Number of shares of common stock issued ........................................................................................ 225,955
Payment on Convertible Note and Derivative Liability...................................................................... $ 43,446

Revolvill ngii Credit Facilitll ytt

On August 31, 2018, the Company entered into the Credit Agreement, which provides the Company with a $175.0 million
Revolving Credit Facility. No balance was outstanding as of December 31, 2021 or 2020. The Credit Agreement has a term of
five years and matures on August 31, 2023.

Loans will bear interest at a rate equal to (i) the London Interbank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) plus the “applia cablea rate” or
(ii) the “base rate” (defined as the highest of (a) the Bank of America prime rate, (b) the Federal Funds rate plus one-half of one
percent and (c) LIBOR plus one percent) plus the “applia cablea rate.” The applicable rate is determined in accordance with a
pricing grid based on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) ranging from 1.75% to
2.50% per annum for LIBOR rate loans and from 0.75% to 1.50% per annum for base rate loans. In addition, the Company pays
a commitment fee on the unused portion of the Credit Agreement based on the Company’s Consolidated Leverage Ratio
ranging from 0.15% to 0.30% per annum.

The Revolving Credit Facility is guaranteed by certain material domestic subsidiaries of the Company (the “Guarantors”)
and is secured by liens on substantially all of the assets of the Company and the Guarantors, excluding real property and certain
other types of excluded assets, and contains affirmative and negative covenants that are customary for credit agreements of this
nature.t The negative covenants include, among other things, limitations on asset sales, mergers, indebtedness, liens, dividends
and other distributions, investments and transactions with affilff iates. The Credit Agreement contains two finaff ncial covenants:
(i) maximum Consolidated Leverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) as of the last day of each fisff cal quarter of 3.50
to 1.00, which ratio may be increased to 4.50 to 1.00 in case of certain qualifying acquisitions; and (ii) a minimum Consolidated
Fixed Charge Coverage Ratio (as defined in the Credit Agreement) of 1.25 to 1.00 as of the end of any fiscaff l quarter forff the
most recently completed fourff fiscal quarters. The Company was in compliance with all financial covenants as of December 31,
2021.

Interest expense recognized on the Credit Agreement, including amortization of deferred issuance cost, was $0.7 million,
$0.7 million, and $1.7 million for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Note 4. Income Taxes

Significant components of the provision for income taxes were as follows (in thousands):
December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Current:
Federal .................................................................................... $ 148,827 $ 198,498 $ 1,559
State ........................................................................................ 42,377 34,608 746
Foreign.................................................................................... 2,291 1,136 2,007
Total current provision ........................................................... 193,495 234,242 4,312

Deferred:
Federal .................................................................................... 7,168 (2,855) 1,234
State ........................................................................................ (2,540) (1,104) (1,186)
Foreign.................................................................................... (1,990) (251) (103)
Total deferred provision (benefit) .......................................... 2,638 (4,210) (55)

Provision for income taxes ............................................................ $ 196,133 $ 230,032 $ 4,257

The Company’s income before income taxes was subject to taxes in the following jurisdictions forff the following periods
(in thousands):

December 31,
2021 2020 2019

United States.................................................................................. $ 891,261 $ 1,035,752 $ 70,606
Foreign........................................................................................... 9,098 4,567 6,572
Income beforeff income taxes .......................................................... $ 900,359 $ 1,040,319 $ 77,178

Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabila ities as of December 31, 2021 and
2020 are shown below (in thousands):

December 31,
2021 2020

Deferred tax assets:
Lease liabila ity.............................................................................................................. $ 32,692 $ 24,790
Intangible assets.......................................................................................................... 2,226 2,747
Allowance for returnst and discounts .......................................................................... 25,661 27,277
Stock-based compensation.......................................................................................... 9,171 8,367
Tax credit carryforwards............................................................................................. 10,697 11,770
Other, net .................................................................................................................... 15,486 10,426

Total deferred tax assets .................................................................................................. 95,933 85,377
Valuation allowance for deferred tax assets ............................................................... (2,327) (2,281)

Total deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowance...................................................... 93,606 83,096
Deferred tax liabilities:
Right-of-use assets...................................................................................................... (30,114) (22,969)
Intangible assets.......................................................................................................... (946) (1,133)
Property, plant and equipment .................................................................................... (42,457) (14,232)

Total deferred tax liabila ities ............................................................................................ (73,517) (38,334)
Net deferred tax assets..................................................................................................... $ 20,089 $ 44,762

Management assesses the available positive and negative evidence to estimate if suffiff cient future taxablea income will be
generated to use the existing deferred tax assets. For the three years ended December 31, 2021, the Company has demonstrated
positive cumulative pre-tax book income. Such objective positive evidence allowed the Company to consider other subjective
evidence, such as the Company’s projections for future profitability, to determine the realizabila ity of its deferred tax assets. On
the basis of this evaluation, during the year ended December 31, 2021, the valuation allowance did not materially change from
the prior year.
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The valuation allowance of $$2.3 imilllliion sa of December 31, 2021 represents the portion of the deferreff d tax asset that
management could not conclude was more likely than not to be realized. The amount of the deferred tax assets considered
realizablea could be adjusted in the future based on changes in availablea positive and negative evidence.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company had no fedeff ral net operating loss (“NOL”) carryforwards. The Company had
state NOLs of approximately $$5.9 imilllliion, which h will begin to expire in 2030 unless previously utilized. The Company has no
federal research credit carryforwards. The Company has fedff eral foreff ign tax credits of $2.3 million, which will begin to expire
on December 31, 2028 unless previously utilized. The Company has state research credits of $$11.8 imillllion,ion of which none
expire.

Pursuant to Internal Revenue Code Sections 382 and 383, the Company’s use of its NOL and tax credit carryforwards
may be limited as a result of cumulative changes in ownership of more than 50% over a three-year period. As of December 31,
2021, the Company does not believe any historical ownership change has limited the use of its NOLs or tax credit
carryforwards.

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the fedff eral statutory rate to the provision forff income taxes from continuing
operations was as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Tax expense at statutory tax rate .................................................... $ 189,081 $ 218,467 $ 16,207
State tax expense, net of federal tax ............................................... 30,147 30,289 1,061
Permanent differences .................................................................... 1,834 3,843 611
Federal and state research credits—current year ............................ (7,717) (5,037) (4,269)
Stock-based compensation ............................................................. (9,235) (13,867) (10,408)
Change in valuation allowance....................................................... (103) (72) 523
Foreign Derived Intangible Income Deduction (FDII)................... (8,419) (8,589) (159)
Other ............................................................................................... 545 4,998 691
Provision for income taxes ............................................................. $ 196,133 $ 230,032 $ 4,257

The Company recognizes liabia lities for uncertain tax positions based on a two-step process. The first step is to evaluate
the tax position for recognition by determining if the weight of availablea evidence indicates that it is more likely than not that
the position will be sustained on audit, including resolution of related appea als or litigation processes, if any. The second step is
to measure the tax benefit as the largest amount that is more than 50% likely of being realized upon settlement. While the
Company believes that it has appropriate support for the positions taken on its tax returns, the Company regularly assesses the
potential outcome of examinations by tax authorities in determining the adequacy of its provision for income taxes.

The following tablea summarizes the activity related to the Company’s unrecognized tax benefits (in thousands):
Year ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Beginning balance ......................................................................... $ 22,557 $ 17,236 $ 15,245
Increases (decreases) related to prior year tax positions................ 478 (2,351) 287
Increases related to current year tax positions 968 7,726 2,209
Decreases from voluntary disclosure agreements.......................... (6,338) — —
Expiration of statutet of limitations for assessment of taxes — (54) (505)
Ending balance............................................................................... $ 17,665 $ 22,557 $ 17,236
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As of December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits of $$17.7 imilllliion, $$22.6 imillllion,ion
and $17.2 million, respectively, of whiichh $$11.3 imilllliion, $$15.0 imilllliion dand $$11.1 imilllliion, respec iti lvelyy, lwouldd dreduce hthe
Com ypany’s annuall effecff itive tax rate, ifif recognicognizedd. It iis reasonablybla possible that the amount of unrecognized tax benefits in
various jurisdictions may decrease in the next 12 months due to settlements with tax authorities. However, due to the
uncertainty surrounding the timing of these events, an estimate of the change within the next 12 months cannot be made at this
time. The Company’s policy is to recognize the interest expense and penalties related to income tax matters as a component of
the income tax expense. The Company had accruedr interest and penalties associated with uncertain tax positions of $$1.2 imilllliion
as of December 31, 2021, $0.5 million as of December 31, 2020 and $0.4 million as of December 31, 2019. Interest expense,
net of accrued interest (reversed) for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 was approximately $$0.7 imillllion,ion $0.1
million and $0.1 million, respec iti lvelyy.

The Company is subject to periodic audits by domestic and foreign tax authorities.

As of December 31, 2021, the Company no longer has any federal NOL or credit carryforwards. However, because of
utilization of tax attributes generated in tax years 2012 and later on its tax returns still open by statutt e, the Company’s federal
tax years from 2012 and forward are still subjeu ct to examination by tax authorities. Due to the carryforward of unutilized
Californiff a NOLs and credits, the Company’s California tax returns for years 2001 and forward are subject to examination by
tax authorities. The Company believes that it has appropriate support for the income tax positions taken on its tax returns and
that its accruals for tax liabilities are adequate for all open years based on an assessment of many factors, including past
experience and interpretations of tax law applied to the facts of each matter.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act (“CARES Act”) was enacted on March 27, 2020. The CARES
Act provides for, among other things, refundable payroll tax credits, deferment of employer side social security payments and
technical amendments regarding the income tax depreciation of qualified improvement property placed in service afteff r
December 31, 2017. The Company is planning to request refunds for payroll taxes paid during 2020 as allowed under the
Employee Retention Tax Credit program and has benefited from the technical amendments regarding retroactive accelerated
income tax depreciation on certain of its leasehold improvement assets.

Note 5. Stockholders’ Equity

Preferreff d Stock. The Company’s certificate of incorporation, as amended, authorizes the issuance of up to 5.0 million
shares of preferred stock. The Board is authorized to fix the number of shares of any series of preferred stock and to determine
the designation of such shares. However, the amended certificate of incorporation specifies the initial series and the rights of
that series. No shares of preferred stock were outstanding as of December 31, 2021, 2020 or 2019.

Equity Incentive Plan.l The Company grants stock options, RSUs andd UsPS to employees and non-employee directors
under its 2018 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2018 Plan”). The Company previously granted stock options under its 2016 Equity
Incentive Plan (the “2016 Plan”), Amended and Restated 2010 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2010 Plan”) and the Amended and
Restated 2001 Equity Incentive Plan (the “2001 Plan”). The 2016 Plan, 2010 Plan and 2001 Plan were terminated at the time of
adoption of the 2018 Plan, but the terminated plans continue to govern outstanding options granted thereunder. The Company
has stock options, RSUs and PSUs outstanding, which were issued under each of these equity incentive plans to certain
employees and non-employee directors. Stock options granted under these plans have terms ranging up to ten years, have
exercise prices ranging from $15.40 to $254.00 per share, and generally vest over four years. As of December 31, 2021,
approximately 1.9 million shares of common stock remained availablea for grant and 3.2 million shares of common stock were
reserved for future issuance under the 2018 Plan.

Restricted Stock Units. The Company grants b hoth RS sU and PSUs to certain officers and directors. Until the restrictions
lapsea , ownership of the affected RSUs granted to the Company’s officers and directors is conditional upon continuous
employment with the Company.

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company granted approximately 0.1 million, 0.2 million and
0.3 million shares of common stock, respectively, of RSUs to certain officers and directors, which either have a time-based,
four-year vesting provision or performance-based vesting provision.

During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, RSUs were granted to certain members of the Board in lieu
of cash compensation as a part of the Company’s non-employee director’s deferred compensation program. The compensation
expense associated with these RSU grants was $0.6 million, $0.5 million and $0.5 million for the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.
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Employeeo Deferrff ed Bonus Compensm ation Program. For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, certain
employees of the Company were eligible to participate in the Company’s deferred bonus compensation program with respect to
any payments received under the Company’s cash incentive plan. Participating employees could elect to receive 50% or 100%
of the cash value of their cash bonus in the form of fully vested RSUs plus a premium as additional RSUs, issued under the
2018 Plan. The premium RSUs are subject to a one-year vesting requirement from the date of issuance. The additional premium
will be determined based on the length of the deferraff l period selected by the participating employee as followff s: (i) if one year
from the date of grant, a premium of 10% on the amount deferred, (ii) if two years from the date of grant, a premium of 20% on
the amount deferred, or (iii) if four years from the date of grant, a premium of 30% on the amount deferred.

Employee Stock Purchase Plan. Under the ESPP, full-time employees were allowed to purchase common stock through
payroll deductd ions (which could not exceed 10% of the employee’s compensatm ion) at the lower of 85% of fair market value at
the beginning or end of each six-month purchase period. As of December 31, 2021, 56,623 shares of common stock remained
available forff futuret issuance.

Share Repurchasee Program. On December 12, 2018, the Board authorized a stock repurchase program, allowing the
Company to repurchase up to $50.0 million of its common stock. On August 28, 2020, the Board approved an amendment to
the stock repurchase program that authorized repurchases of an additional $150.0 million of the Company’s common stock
through August 28, 2022. During the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, 957,239 and 257,329 shares of outstanding
common stock were repurchased under the Company’s stock repurchase program. As of December 31, 2021, the Company had
approximately $52.9 million available under the stock repurchase program.

Note 6. Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensatm ion expense was as follff ows (in thousands):
Year ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Cost of sales................................................................................... $ 2,665 $ 2,012 $ 1,162
Research and development ............................................................ 4,434 3,372 2,332
Sales and marketing....................................................................... 6,438 6,009 3,497
General and administrative ............................................................ 11,869 9,626 6,261
Total stock-based compensation expense...................................... $ 25,406 $ 21,019 $ 13,252

For the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, the Company recorded $3.0 million, $2.2 million and $1.4
million in stock-based compensation expense, respectively, associated with the deferreff d bonus compensation program,
described in Note 5. During the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, $2.8 million, $2.1 million and $0.8 million,
respectively, were initially recorded as a componentm of accrued payroll and related expenses associated with the deferreff d bonus
compensation program.

Stock Options

Compensation expense related to stock options granted is recognized ratably over the service vesting period for the entire
option award. The estimated fair value of each stock option was determined on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option
valuation model with the folff lowing weighted-average assumptim ons:

Year ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Risk-free interest rate..................................................................... 0.48 % 1.18 % 2.51 %
Expected option life (in years)....................................................... 4.99 5.12 5.68
Volatility rate ................................................................................. 54 % 41 % 39 %
Dividend rate ................................................................................. 0 % 0 % 0 %

The computation of the expected option life is based on a weighted-average calculation combining the average life of
options that have already been exercised and post-vest cancellations with the estimated life off f the remaining vested and
unexercised options. The expected volatility is based on the historical volatility of the Company’s common stock. The risk-free
interest rate is based on the US Treasury yield curve over the expected term of the option. The Company has never paid any
cash dividends on its common stock, and does not anticipate paying any cash dividends in the foreff seeablea future. Consequently,
the Company uses an expected dividend yield of zero in the Black-Scholes option valuation model. The Company’s estimated
forfeiture rate is based on its historical experience and futuret expectations.
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The Company’s determination of fair value is affecff ted by the Company’s stock price, as well as a number of assumptions
that require judgment. The weighted-average fair value per share was $106.55, $36.84 and $23.67 for options granted duringd
the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The total intrinsic value was $9.9 million, $51.8 million and
$49.8 million for options exercised duringd the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively. As of
December 31, 2021, total unrecognized compensation expense related to stock options was approximately $8.7 million and the
related weighted-average period over which it is expected to be recognized is approximately 1.8 years. The maximum
contractual term of the Company’s stock options is ten years.

A summary of stock option activity for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 is as follows (dollars in
thousands, except price data):

Number
of Shares

Weighted-average
exercise price
per share

Weighted-
average remaining
contractual
term (in years)

Aggregate
intrinsic
value

Outstanding at December 31, 2018............................... 1,877 $ 21.53
Granted.......................................................................... 169 59.18
Exercised....................................................................... (1,091) 19.22
Forfeited........................................................................ (11) 49.71
Outstanding at December 31, 2019............................... 944 30.63
Granted.......................................................................... 145 96.34
Exercised....................................................................... (317) 21.03
Forfeited........................................................................ (12) 43.34
Outstanding at December 31, 2020............................... 760 46.95
Granted.......................................................................... 58 232.75
Exercised....................................................................... (90) 38.28
Forfeited........................................................................ (6) 94.44
Outstanding at December 31, 2021............................... 722 $ 62.71 6.02 $ 59,339
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 2021...... 709 $ 61.35 5.98 $ 58,881
Exercisablea at December 31, 2021................................ 448 $ 34.51 4.91 $ 45,376

Restricted StocSS k UnitsUU

A summary of RSU activity for the years ended December 31, 2019, 2020 and 2021 is as follows (in thousands, except
price data):

Shares
Weighted-average
grant date fairff value

Non-vested at December 31, 2018 .................................................................................. 676 30.75
Granted ............................................................................................................................ 279 59.75
Vested.............................................................................................................................. (148) 24.26
Forfeited .......................................................................................................................... (21) 43.90
Non-vested at December 31, 2019 .................................................................................. 786 41.88
Granted ............................................................................................................................ 235 101.20
Vested.............................................................................................................................. (123) 26.58
Forfeited .......................................................................................................................... (20) 58.32
Non-vested at December 31, 2020 .................................................................................. 878 $ 59.60
Granted ............................................................................................................................ 137 $ 188.06
Vested.............................................................................................................................. (414) $ 49.00
Forfeited .......................................................................................................................... (14) $ 106.11
Non-vested at December 31, 2021 .................................................................................. 587 $ 95.81

The total amount of unrecognized compensation expense related to non-vested RSUs as of December 31, 2021 was
approximately $30.8 million, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 1.6 years.
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Note 7. Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share (“EPS”) is computed by dividing net income by the weighted-average number of common shares
outstanding. Diluted EPS is computed based on the sum of the weighted-average number of common shares and potentially
dilutive common shares outstanding during the period. Potentially dilutive common shares consist of shares issuablea from stock
options, unvested RSUs and the Convertible Notes. Potentially dilutive common shares from outstanding stock options and
unvested RSUs are determined using the average share price forff each period under the treasury stock method.

Potentially dilutive common shares from the Convertible Notes are determined using the if-converted method. Under the
provisions of the if-converted method, the Convertible Notes are assumed to be converted and the resulting common shares are
included in the denominator of the EPS calculation and the interest expense, net of tax, recorded in connection with the
Convertible Notes is added back to net income. The Convertible Notes have a dilutive impact when the average market price of
the Company’s common stock exceeds the applicable conversion price of the notes. The Convertible Notes became convertible
on March 31, 2018 and maturet d on December 15, 2020.

The following tablea reconciles net income and the weighted-average shares used in computing basic and diluted EPS in
the respective periods (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2021 2020 2019

Numerator: ...................................................................................................................
Net income used for basic earnings per share .............................................................. $ 704,226 $ 810,287 $ 72,921
Interest expense on Convertible Notes, net of tax........................................................ — 445 1,848
Net income used forff diluted earnings per share, if-conveff rted method......................... $ 704,226 $ 810,732 $ 74,769

Basic weighted-average common shares outstanding .................................................. 42,078 42,124 40,860
Dilutive potential shares issuablea from Convertible Notes .......................................... — 295 1,062
Dilutive potential shares issuablea from stock options and unvested RSUs.................. 796 1,172 1,189
Diluted weighted-average common shares outstanding, if-conveff rted ......................... 42,874 43,591 43,111
Potentially dilutive shares excluded fromff calculation due to anti-dilutive effecff t ........ 153 10 199

Potentially dilutive common shares excluded fromff the calculation above represent stock options when the combined
exercise price and unrecognized stock-based compensation are greater than the average market price forff the Company’s
common stock because their effect is anti-dilutive.

Note 8. Commitments and Contingencies

Leases

The Company leases administrative, research and development, sales and marketing and manufacturing facilities and
certain equipment under various non-cancelablea lease agreements. Facility leases generally provide for periodic rent increases,
and may contain clauses for rent escalation, renewal options or early termination.
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The components of lease expense and supplemental cash flowff information related to leases duringd the respective periods
were as follows (in thousands):

Year ended December 31,
2021 2020

Finance lease ROU asset amortization ............................................................................ $ 282 $ 303
Finance lease interest expense......................................................................................... 657 877
Total finance lease costs.............................................................................................. 939 1,180

Operating lease costs ....................................................................................................... 15,361 11,236
Total lease costs..................................................................................................... $ 16,300 $ 12,416

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabila ities
Operating cash flows fromff operating leases ............................................................... $ 12,347 $ 10,801
Operating cash flows from finance leases................................................................... $ 657 $ 877

ROU assets obtained in exchange for new lease liabilities
Operating leases .......................................................................................................... $ 37,349 $ 15,271
Finance leases.............................................................................................................. $ — $ —

The Company leases its facilities and certain equipment. Commitments for minimum rentals under non-cancelable leases
at the end of 2021 were as follows (dollars in thousands):
Years ending December 31, Operating Finance

2022................................................................................................................................. $ 15,468 $ 272
2023................................................................................................................................. 15,529 297
2024................................................................................................................................. 15,639 99
2025................................................................................................................................. 15,736 —
2026................................................................................................................................. 16,057 —
Thereafter ........................................................................................................................ 116,835 —
Total lease payments ....................................................................................................... 195,264 668
Less: imputed interest..................................................................................................... (38,366) (32)
Less: tenant improvement allowance (receipt anticipated in 2022) ............................... (18,303) —

Total....................................................................................................................... 636
Less: current portion........................................................................................................ (10,039) (275)
Non-current portion......................................................................................................... $ 128,556 $ 361

Weighted average remaining lease term ......................................................................... 11.7 years 3.3 years
Weighted average discount rate ...................................................................................... 4 % 4 %

Summers Ridge Lease— The Company leases three of the four buildings that are located on the Summers Ridge property
in San Diego, California with an initial term through January 2033 with options to extend the lease for two additional fivff e-year
terms upon satisfaction of certain conditions, which have not been included in the determination of the lease term. The lease is
subject to must-take provisions related to one additional building, which will have the same lease term as the three buildings
originally leased. The remaining building is subject to the expiration of the lease with its current tenant in October 2022, subject
to an option to renew for a two-year period.

McKelKK lar Court Lease—During 1999, the Company completed a sale and leaseback transaction of its San Diego facility
at McKellar Court to 10165 McKellar Court, L.P. (“McKellar LP” or the “partnership”) for which the Company was the limited
partner. McKellar LP owned the real property and improvements located at 10165 McKellar Court (the “McKellar Property”).t
The partnership was deemed to be a variablea interest entity (“VIE”). The Company was not, however, the primary beneficiary
of the VIE as it did not have the power to direct the activities of the partnership and did not have the obligation to absorb losses
or receive benefits of the partnership that could potentially be significant to the partnership. The Company’s primary use of the
McKellar Property it s forff manufacturing and administrative offices.
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On August 17, 2021, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company purchased the general partner’s interest (the “GP
interest”) in McKellar LP for a net purchase price of $28.9 million, which was acquired using cash on hand. As a result of the
purchase of the GP interest, the partnership is now a wholly owned subsidiary of the Company. The partnership continues to be
a VIE for which the Company is now the primary beneficiary. The Company accounted for the GP interest as an asset
acquisition and recorded building and land with a total value of $28.9 million. Prior to the purchase date, the Company was
leasing the McKellar Property through 2030, with options to extend for two additional five‑year periods. As a result of the
Company’s purchase of the GP interest in McKellar LP, the Company no longer makes lease payments for the McKellar
Property. Prior to the acquisition, thhe Compa yny madde llease ypayments to hthe partne hirship of iapproximatelyly $$0.6 imilllliion, $$1.0
imilllliion dand $$1.0 imilllliion for hthe yyears end dded Dece bmber 31, 2021, 2020 dand 2019, respec iti lvelyy.

Ruthertt fordr Lease—During January 2021, the Company entered into a lease agreement for a manufacturingt facility in
Carlsbad, California and recorded a ROU asset and a corresponding lease liability of approximately $39.4 million. The initial
lease term is 15 years with options to extend the lease for two additional five-year periods.

Purchase Commitmett nts

The Company has $3.4 million in firm inventory purchase commitments as of December 31, 2021, the majoria ty of which
is expected to be purchased in the next one to three years.

Litiii gatii on and Othertt Legale Proceedingsii

In Beckman Coulter, Inc. v. Quidel Corporation, which was filed in the Superior Court for the County of San Diego,
Californiff a, on November 27, 2017, Beckman alleged that a provision of an agreement between the Company and Beckman
violated state antitrust laws. The Company’s acquisition of the BNP Business in October 2017 consisted of assets and liabilities
relating to a contractualt arrangement with Beckman (the “BNP Supply Agreement”) for the supply of antibodies and other
inputs related to, and distribution of, the Triage BNP test for the Beckman Coulter Access Family of Immunoassay Systems. In
the lawsuit, Beckman asserted that an exclusivity provision violated certain state antitrust laws and was unenforceable. From
the inception of the lawsuit, the lawsuit was subject to numerous motions, rulings, appellate reviews and opinions. The matter
was scheduled for trial starting April 15, 2022.

On July 24, 2021, the Company and Beckman entered into a Master Agreement (the “Master Agreement”) pursuant to
which, among other matters, the Company’s business of selling and distributing the BNP test for the BNP Business will be
transitioned to Beckman. Concurrent with entering into the Master Agreement, the Company and Beckman entered into a
Settlement Agreement to resolve all disputes relating to the existing BNP Supply Agreement, among other matters. On August
3, 2021, the lawsuit was dismissed with prejudie ce.

As consideration for the arrangements during each of calendar years 2022 through and including 2029, the Company will
receive a minimum payment of $70.0 million and a maximum payment of $75.0 million. Such maximum payments were pro-
rated for 2021, based on the period commencing on the date of the initial commercial transition to Beckman, through December
31, 2021. In addition, the parties entered into other related agreements under the Master Agreement, including a Transition
Services Agreement, pursuant to which the parties will provide various transitional services, a Supply Agreement for the supply
by the Company of its antibody and other components used in the manufacturet of the BNP test, and a Distribution Agreement,
granting Beckman the right to sell and distribute the BNP test as described above.

From time to time, the Company is involved in other litigation and legal proceedings, including matters related to product
liability claims, commercial disputes and intellectual property claims, as well as regulatory, employment, and other claims
related to its business. The Company accrues for legal claims when, and to the extent that, amounts associated with the claims
become probable and are reasonably estimable. The actual costs of resolving legal claims may be substantially higher or lower
than the amounts accrued for those claims. For those matters as to which the Company is not able to estimate a possible loss or
range of loss, the Company is not able to determine whether the loss will have a material adverse effect on its business,
financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. No accrual has been recorded as of December 31, 2021 and December 31,
2020 related to such matters as they are not probablea and/or reasonably estimablea .

Management believes that all such current legal actions, in the aggregate, will not have a material adverse effect on the
Company. However, the resolution of, or increase in any accrualsr for, one or more matters may have a material adverse effect
on the Company’s results of operations and cash flows. The Company also maintains insurance, including coverage for product
liability claims, in amounts that management believes are appropriate given the nature of its business.
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Licensingii Arrangementstt

The Company has entered into various licensing and royalty agreements, which largely require payments by the Company
based on specifiedff product sales, as well as the achievement of specified milestones. The Company had royalty and license
expenses relating to those agreements of approxima ately $2.0 million, $2.4 million and $1.1 million forff the years ended
December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Note 9. Segment, Revenue and Geographic Information

The Company operates in one reportablea segment. Sales to customers outside the US represented 17%, 13% and 33% of
total revenue for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and 2019, respectively, of which sales to customers in China
comprised 3%, 4% and 13%, respectively. As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, net accounts receivable dued from foreign
customers were $53.5 million and $18.6 million, respectively. For the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020, sales of the
Company’s COVID-19 products accounted for 75% and 70%, respectively, of total revenue. For the years ended December 31,
2021, 2020 and 2019, sales of the Company’s influenza products accounted forff 4%, 8% and 26%, respectively, of total revenue.

The Company had sales to individual customers in excess of 10% of total revenue, as follff ows:
Year ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Customer:
A ..................................................................................................... 24 % 29 % 13 %
B...................................................................................................... 9 % 16 % 18 %
C...................................................................................................... 9 % 13 % 5 %
D ..................................................................................................... 7 % 10 % 15 %

49 % 68 % 51 %

As of December 31, 2021 and 2020, net accounts receivablea from individual customers with balances dued in excess of
10% of total accounts receivable totaled $267.3 million and $411.7 million, respectively.

The following presents long-lived assets (excluding intangible assets) and total net revenue by geographica territory (in
thousands):

Long-lived assets as of
December 31,

Total revenue
for the years ended December 31,

2021 2020 2021 2020 2019

Domestic........................................................................ $ 347,132 $ 108,375 $ 1,415,413 $ 1,452,329 $ 358,381
Foreign........................................................................... 2,070 2,106 283,138 209,339 176,509
Total............................................................................... $ 349,202 $ 110,481 $ 1,698,551 $ 1,661,668 $ 534,890

Consolidated total revenues by product category were as follows (in thousands):
Year ended December 31,

2021 2020 2019

Rapida Immunoassay....................................................................... $ 1,197,459 $ 1,144,831 $ 191,736
Cardiometabolic Immunoassay ..................................................... 255,788 242,933 266,505
Molecular Diagnostic Solutions .................................................... 200,487 222,964 21,716
Specialized Diagnostic Solutions .................................................. 44,817 50,940 54,933
Total revenues................................................................................ $ 1,698,551 $ 1,661,668 $ 534,890
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Note 10. Fair Value Measurement

The following tablea presents the Company’s hierarchy for its assets and liabia lities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis as of the following periods (in thousands):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Assets: ........................................
Cash equivalents ................. $204,672 $ 6,649 $ — $211,321 $200,003 $ — $ — $200,003
Marketable securities .......... — 63,610 — 63,610 — — — —
Derivative assets ................. — 84 — 84 — 24 — 24

Total assets measured at fair
value ........................................... $204,672 $ 70,343 $ — $275,015 $200,003 $ 24 $ — $200,027
Liabilities: ..................................

Derivative liabilities............ $ — $ 269 $ — $ 269 $ — $ 3,061 $ — $ 3,061
Contingent consideration .... — — 6,073 6,073 — — 11,896 11,896
Deferred consideration........ — 78,436 — 78,436 — 115,951 — 115,951

Total liabilities measured at fair
value ........................................... $ — $ 78,705 $ 6,073 $ 84,778 $ — $ 119,012 $ 11,896 $130,908

There were no transfers of assets or liabilities between Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 categories of the fair value hierarchy
during the years ended December 31, 2021 and 2020.

Cash equivalents consist of fundsff held in money market accounts that are valued using quoted prices in active markets forff
identical instruments and highly liquid corporate debt securities with maturit ties within three months from purchase. Marketablea
securities consist of investment-grade corporate debt securities, asset-backed securities and US Treasury securities. Derivative
financial instruments are based on observable inputs that are corroborated by market data. Observable inputs include broker
quotes, daily market foreign currency rates and forward pricing curves.

In connection with the acquisition of the BNP Business, the Company will pay annual installments of up to $$48.0 imilllliion
each through April 2023. The faiff r value of the deferred consideration is calculated based on the net present value of cash
payments using an estimated borrowing rate based on a quoted price for a similar liability. The fair value of the contingent
consideration is calculated using a discounted probability weighted valuation model. Discount rates used in such calculation are
a significant assumptim on that are not observed in the market and, therefore, the resulting fair value represents a Level 3
measurement.

The Company assesses the fair value of contingent consideration to be settled in cash related to prior acquisitions using a
discounted revenue model. Significant assumptim ons used in the measurement include revenue projections and discount rates.
This fairff value measurement of contingent consideration is based on significant inputs not observed in the market and thus
represents a Level 3 measurement. The changes in faiff r value of the contingent consideration during the years ended December
31, 2021, 2020 and 2019 were due to changes in the estimated payments and discounting periods.
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Changes in estimated faiff r value of contingent consideration liabilities fromff December 31, 2018 through December 31,
2021 were as follows (in thousands):

Contingent consideration
liability

(Level 3 measurement)

Balance at December 31, 2018 ............................................................................................................... $ 19,112
Cash payments ........................................................................................................................................ (4,044)
Change in estimated faiff r value, recorded in general and administrative expenses................................. 1,467
Balance at December 31, 2019 ............................................................................................................... 16,535
Cash payments ........................................................................................................................................ (6,044)
Change in estimated fair value, recorded in general and administrative expenses 1,405
Balance at December 31, 2020 ............................................................................................................... 11,896
Cash payments ........................................................................................................................................ (6,040)
Change in estimated fair value, recorded in general and administrative expenses................................. 217
Balance at December 31, 2021 ............................................................................................................... $ 6,073

Note 11. Employee Benefit Plan

The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) plan (the “401(k) Plan”) covering all employees who are eligible to join
the 401(k) Plan uponu employment. Employee contributions are subjb ect to a maximum limit by fedeff ral law. The 401(k) Plan
includes an employer match of 50% on the first 6% of pay contributed by the employee. The Company contributed
approximately $3.8 million, $3.1 million and $2.5 million to the 401(k) Plan during the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020
and 2019, respectively.

Note 12. Foreign Currency Hedges

In the normal course of business, the Company is exposed to gains and losses resulting from fluctuatt ions in foreign
currency exchange rates. As part of its strategy to manage the level of exposure to the risk of fluctuations in foreign currency
exchange rates, the Company uses designated cash flow hedges in the form of foreign currency forwardff contracts to mitigate
the impact of foreff ign currency translation on transactions that are denominated primarily in the Euro and the Chinese Yuan. The
Company also uses non-designated forward contracts to hedge non-functional currency denominated balance sheet assets.
Hedging relationships for all derivative hedges and the underlying hedged items, as well as the risk management objectives and
strategies for undertaking the hedge transactions, are formally documented. The Company does not use any derivative financial
instruments forff trading or other speculative purposes.

Such foreign currency forward contracts are carried at fair value in prepaid expenses and other current assets or other
current liabilities depending on the unrealized gain or loss position of the hedged contract as of the balance sheet date. Changes
in the value of the derivatives are recorded to other comprehensive income (loss) until the underlying hedged item is recognized
in earnings, or the derivative no longer qualifies as a highly effective hedge. The cash flows from derivatives treated as hedges
are classified in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows in the same category as the item being hedged.

The notional principal amounts forff outstanding derivative instruments provide one measure of the transaction volume
outstanding and do not represent the amount of the Company’s exposure to credit or market loss. Credit risk represents the
Company’s gross exposure to potential accounting loss on derivative instruments that are outstanding or unsettled if all
counterparties failed to perform according to the terms of the contract, based on then-current currency exchange rates at each
respective date. The Company generally enters into master netting arrangements that reduce credit risk by permitting net
settlement of transactions with the same counterparty. The Company presents its derivative assets and derivative liabilities at
their net faiff r values. The Company does not have any derivative instruments with credit-risk related contingent features that
would require it to post collateral.
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The folff lowing table summarizes the fair value and notional amounts of the foreff ign currency forwaff rd contracts as of
December 31, 2021 and December 31, 2020 (in thousands):

December 31, 2021 December 31, 2020

Notional Amount Fair Value, Net Notional Amount Fair Value, Net

Designated cash flowff hedges: .....................................
Prepaid expenses and other current assets................... $ — $ 84 $ — $ —
Other current liabilities................................................ $ 17,629 $ 139 $ 38,435 $ 2,819

Non-designated forwaff rd contracts:..............................
Prepaid expenses and other current assets................... $ — $ — $ 18,160 $ 24
Other current liabilities................................................ $ 15,809 $ 130 $ 23,120 $ 242

Note 13. Pending Business Combination

On December 22, 2021, the Company entered into the BCA with Ortho, Topco, US Holdco Sub, US Merger Sub and US
Holdco Sub 2u . Under the terms of the BCA, the Company is entering into the Combinations with Ortho under Topco, a new
holding company. The Combinations are expected to be implemented by way of (i) the Ortho Scheme, pursuant to which each
issued and outstanding Ortho Share will be acquired by a nominee of Topco, such that Ortho will become a wholly owned
subsidiary of Topco, and (ii) the Quidel Merger immediately following consummation of the Ortho Scheme, with the Company
surviving the merger as a wholly owned subsidiary of Topco.

At the effective time of the Ortho Scheme, each Ortho Share will be acquired by a nominee on behalf and for the benefit
of Topco in exchange for 0.1055 Topco Shares and $7.14 in cash. At the effective time of the Quidel Merger, each Quidel
Share will be converted into the right to receive one Topco Share. Ortho will be acquired for total consideration of
approximately $4.3 billion (which is based on the February 9, 2022 closing price of $97.64 per Quidel Share), including $1.75
billion of cash, funded through cash on the Company’s balance sheet and expected incremental borrowings. Following the
closing of the Combinations, Ortho’s current net debt of $2.1 billion is expected to continue to be outstanding.

If the Combinations are completed, Ortho shareholders are expected to own approximately 38% of Topco on a fulff ly
diluted basis and the Company’s stockholders are expected to own approximately 62% of Topco on a fulff ly diluted basis, based
on the respective capia talizations of Ortho and the Company as of the date of the BCA. The parties intend to list the Topco
Shares to be issued in the Combinations on Nasdaq.
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SCHEDULE II

QUIDEL CORPORATION

CONSOLIDATED VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS

Description

Balance at
beginning of
period

Additions charged
to expense or as
reductions to
revenue (1) Deductions (2)

Balance at end of
period

(in thousands)

Year ended December 31, 2021:
Accounts receivable allowance ......................... $ 103,435 $ 456,237 $ (507,249) $ 52,423

Year ended December 31, 2020:
Accounts receivable allowance ......................... $ 15,960 $ 276,988 $ (189,513) $ 103,435

Year ended December 31, 2019:
Accounts receivable allowance ......................... $ 11,979 $ 65,649 $ (61,668) $ 15,960

(1) Primarily represents charges forff contract rebate allowances recorded as reductions to revenue. Additions to allowance
for doubtful accounts are recorded to sales and marketing expense.

(2) The deductions represent actual charges against the accrual described above.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of disclosure controlsll and procedures:We have performed an evaluation under the supervision and with the
participation of our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), of the
effectiveness of our disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act. Based on that
evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effecff tive as of December 31, 2021 at
a reasonable assurance level to ensure that information required to be disclosed by us in the reports filed or submitted by us
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, summarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules
and forms.

Changes in internal controltt over financial reporting: There was no change in our internal control over financial reporting
during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 that materially affecff ted, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal
control over financial reporting.

Management’s reporte on internal control over financial reporting: Our management is responsible for establia shing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as such term is defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(f). Our
internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of our financial statements for external purposes in accordance with GAAP. Because of
its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Therefore, even those
systems determined to be effecff tive can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial statement preparation and
presentation. Also, projections of any evaluation of effecff tiveness to future periods are subjeu ct to the risk that controls may
become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate. Under the supervision and with the participation of our management, including our CEO and CFO, we conducted
an evaluation of the effecff tiveness of our internal control over financial reporting based on the framework in Internal Control—
Integratede Framework (2013), issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission. Based on
our evaluation under the framework in Internal Control—Inte— gratede Framework, our management concluded that our internal
control over financial reporting was effective as of December 31, 2021.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021 has been audited by Ernst &
Young LLP, our independent registered public accounting firm, as stated in their report, which is included in this Item 9A.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of Quidel Corporation

Opinion on Internal Control over Financial Reporting

We have audited Quidel Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on criteria
establia shed in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway
Commission (2013 framework), (the COSO criteria). In our opinion, Quidel Corporation (the Company) maintained, in all
material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2021, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States)
(PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2021 and 2020, the related consolidated
statements of income, comprehensive income, stockholders’ equity, and cash flows, for each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2021, and the related notes and schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a)(2) and our report dated
February 17, 2022 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effecff tive internal control over financial reporting and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report
on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting based on our audit. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be
independent with respect to the Company in accordance with the U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all
material respects.

Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material
weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the
reliabila ity of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures
that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and
dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and
expenditurest of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effectff on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also,
projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate
because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP

San Diego, California
February 17, 2022
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Item 9B. Other Informationff

None.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

Not applicablea .
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Part III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this item will be filed by amendment to this Annual Report or incorporated by reference to
our 2022 proxy statement no later than April 30, 2022. Information with respect to the Company’s executive officers is
included under Part 1 of this Annual Report.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this item will be filed by amendment to this Annual Report or incorporated by reference to
our 2022 proxy statement no later than April 30, 2022.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this item will be filed by amendment to this Annual Report or incorporated by reference to
our 2022 proxy statement no later than April 30, 2022.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this item will be filed by amendment to this Annual Report or incorporated by reference to
our 2022 proxy statement no later than April 30, 2022.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this item will be filed by amendment to this Annual Report or incorporated by reference to
our 2022 proxy statement no later than April 30, 2022.
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Part IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules

The following documents are filed as part of this Form 10-K:

(a) (1) Financial Statements

The Consolidated Financial Statements required by this Item are submitted in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K.

(2) Financial Statement Schedules

The following Financial Statement Schedule of Quidel Corporation for the years ended December 31, 2021, 2020 and
2019 is submitted in Part II, Item 8 of this Form 10-K and should be read in conjunction with the Consolidated Financial
Statements of Quidel Corporation:

Schedule II. Consolidated Valuation and Qualifyiff ng Accounts

Financial Statement Schedules not listed above have been omitted because of the absence of conditions under which they
are required or because the required information is included in the Consolidated Financial Statements or the Notes thereto.

(3) Exhibits. See Paragraph 15(b) below.

(b) Exhibits

The Exhibit Index immediately following this Item 15 is filed as part of, and incorporated by reference into, this Annual
Report on Form 10-K.

(c) Financial Statements required by Regulation S-X which are excluded from this Annual Report on Form 10-K by
Rule 14(a)-3(b).

Not applicable.
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EXHIBIT INDEX

2.1+ Business Combination Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2021, by and among Quidel Corporation, Ortho
Clinical Diagnostics Holdings plc, Coronado Topco, Inc., Laguna Merger Sub, Inc., Orca Holdco, Inc. and
Orca Holdco 2, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on December
23, 2021.)

3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Quidel Corporation. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the
Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2010.)

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to the Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Quidel Corporation, effective as of
May 5, 2015. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on May 6, 2015.)

3.3 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Quidel Corporation, as of November 9, 2020. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on November 13, 2020.)

4.1 Certificate of Designations of Series C Junior Participating Preferred Stock. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2010.)

4.2 Specimen Stock Certification. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant’s Registration
Statement on Form S-3 filed on August 31, 2010.)

4.3 Description of Quidel Corporation’s Securities Registered Pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act of
1934. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December, 31 2019.)

10.1(1) Registrant’s Amended and Restated 1983 Employee Stock Purchase Plan. (Incorporated by reference to
Appendix B to the Registrant’s Proxy Statement filed on April 14, 2016.)

10.2(1) Registrant’s Amended and Restated 2018 Equity Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to
the Registrant’s Proxy Statement filed on April 12, 2018.)

10.3(1) Form of Notice of Grant of Award and Award Agreement for Registrant’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.6 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on May
14, 2010.)

10.4(1) Form of Restricted Stock Award Agreement for Registrant’s 2010 Equity Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.7 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on May 14, 2010.)

10.5(1) Registrant's 2016 Equity Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to the Registrant’s Proxy
Statement filed on April 14, 2016.)

10.6(1) Form of Notice of Grant of Stock Options and Option Award Agreement for Registrant’s 2016 Equity
Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2016.)

10.7(1) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice for Registrant's 2016 Equity Incentive Plan. (Incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2016.)

10.8(1) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice (Deferred Compensation) for Registrant’s 2016 Equity
Incentive Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2016.)

10.9(1) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Terms and Conditions for Registrant’s 2016 Equity Incentive Plan.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year
ended December 31, 2016.)

10.10(1) Form of Indemnification Agreement – Corporate Officer and/or Director (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on November 13, 2020.)

10.11(1) Employment Agreement, dated as of January 16, 2009, between the Registrant and Douglas C. Bryant.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on January 20, 2009.)

10.12(1) Employment Offer Letter, dated as of June 5, 2008, between the Registrant and Robert J. Bujarski.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on June 6, 2008.)

Exhibit
Number Description
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10.13(1) Randall Steward Employment Offer Letter, dated as of September 12, 2011. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on October 21, 2011.)

10.14(1) Employment Offer Letter, dated April 24, 2014, between the Registrant and Werner Kroll. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2014.)

10.15 Amended and Restated Triage Purchase Agreement, dated September 15, 2017. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2017.)

10.16 Amended and Restated BNP Purchase Agreement, dated September 15, 2017. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on October 6, 2017.)

10.17 Summers Ridge Lease. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on
January 9, 2018.)

10.18 Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, by and among Quidel Corporation, as Borrower, Bank of America,
N.A., as Administrative Agent, Swing Line Lender and L/C Issuer, JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as
Syndication Agent, and Bank of America Merrill Lynch and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Joint Lead
Arrangers and Joint Lead Bookrunners, dated as of August 31, 2018. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit
10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2018.)

10.19(1) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.36 to the
Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.)

10.20(1) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice. (Performance Based) (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.37 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.)

10.21(1) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice. (Time Based) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.38
to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.)

10.22(1) Form of Notice of Grant of Nonqualified Stock Options and Option Agreement. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.39 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.)

10.23(1) Form of Restricted Stock Unit Award Grant Notice. (Deferred) (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.40 to
the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2018.)

10.24(1) Individual Retirement Program for Randall Steward. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the
Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on November 22, 2019.)

10.25(1) Individual Retirement Program for Werner Kroll. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s
Form 8-K filed on February 4, 2020.)

10.26 Amendment No. 1 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated September 11, 2020. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September
30, 2020.)

10.27 Lease Agreement by and between ARE-SD Region No. 71, LLC, as Landlord, and Quidel Corporation, as
Tenant, dated as of January 14, 2021. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.43 to the Registrant's Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020.)

10.28(1) 2021 Cash Incentive Compensation Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form
8-K filed on February 5, 2021.)

10.29(1) 2021 Annual Equity Incentive Plan Grants to the Registrant’s Executive Officers. (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on February 5, 2021.)

10.30 Amendment No. 2 to Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated May 7, 2021. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on May 12, 2021.)

10.31+ Master Agreement, dated as of July 24, 2021, by and among Quidel Corporation, Quidel Cardiovascular, Inc.,
and Beckman Coulter, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on
July 26, 2021.)

10.32(1)* Transition Agreement between the Registrant and Karen Gibson.

10.33 Principal Stockholders Agreement, dated as of December 22, 2021, by and among Coronado Topco, Inc.,
Quidel Corporation, Ortho Clinical Diagnostics Holdings plc and the Initial Carlyle Stockholder (as defined
therein). (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on December 23, 2021.)

Exhibit
Number Description
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10.34(1)* Form of Change in Control Agreement.

10.35(1) 2022 Cash Incentive Compensation Plan. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Form
8-K filed on February 4, 2022.)

10.36(1) 2022 Annual Equity Incentive Plan Grants to the Registrant’s Executive Officers. (Incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on February 4, 2022.)

10.37(1) Form of Success Fee Letter. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Form 8-K filed on
February 4, 2022.)

10.38(1) Form of Integration and Retention Bonus Letter. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s
Form 8-K filed on February 4, 2022.)

10.39(1)* Amendment to Individual Retirement Program for Randall Steward, dated February 1, 2022.

21.1* Subsidiaries of the Registrant.

23.1* Consent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm.

31.1* Certification by Principal Executive Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and 15d-14, as adopted
pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

31.2* Certification by Principal Financial and Accounting Officer of the Registrant pursuant to Rules 13a-14 and
15d-14, as adopted pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1* Certifications by Principal Executive Officer and Principal Financial and Accounting Officer of the Registrant
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101 The following financial statements fromff the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K forff the year ended
December 31, 2021, formatted in Inline XBRL: (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Consolidated Statements
of Income, (iii) Consolidated Statements of Comprehem nsive Income, (iv) Consolidated Statements of
Stockholders’ Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial
Statements, tagged as blocks of text and including detailed tags.

104 The cover page from the Registrant's Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2021,
formatted in Inline XBRL (included as Exhibit 101).

Exhibit
Number Description

* Filed / furff nished herewith
(1) Indicates a management plan or compensatory plan or arrangement.
+ The schedules and similar attachments to this exhibit have been omitted pursuant to Item 601(a)(5) of Regulation S-K. The
Registrant agrees to furnish copies of any such schedules or similar attachments to the SEC upon request. In addition, certain
provisions of this exhibit have been redacted because the Registrant customarily treats the redacted information as private or
confidential and the omitted information is not material. The Registrant agrees to promptlm y provide to the SEC on a
supplemental basis an unredacted copy of the exhibit.

89



Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

Not applicablea .
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto dulyd authorized.

QUIDEL CORPORATIONR

By /s/ DOUGLAS C. BRYANT
Date: February 17, 2022 Douglas C. Bryantrr

President, Chief Ee xeEE cutive OffO icff er
(Principal Executive Officer)

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant and in the capaca ities and on the dates indicated.

Signatureg Title Date

/s/ DOUGLAS C. BRYANT Director, President, Chief Executive
Officer (Principal Executive Officer)

February 17, 2022
Douglas C. Bryantrr

/s/ RANDALRR L J. STEWARD Chief Financial Officer, (Principal
Financial and Accounting Officer)

February 17, 2022
Randall J. Steward

/s/ KENNETH F. BUECHLER Chairman of the Board February 17, 2022
Kenneth F. Buechler

/s/ EDWARD L. MICHAEL Director February 17, 2022
Edward L. Michael

/s/ KATHY P. ORDOÑEZ Director February 17, 2022
Kathy P. Ordoñez

/s/ MARY LAKE POLANAA Director February 17, 2022
Mary Lake Polan

/s/ ANN D. RHOADS Director February 17, 2022
Ann D. Rhoads

/s/ CHARLES P. SLACIK Director February 17, 2022
Charles P. Slacik

/s/ MATTHEW W. STROBECK Director Februaryrr 17, 2022
Matthew W. Strobeck

/s/ KENNETH J. WIDDER Director Februaryrr 17, 2022
Kenneth J. Widder

/s/ JOSEPH D. WILKINS JR. Director Februaryrr 17, 2022
Joseph D. Wilkins Jr.
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